

American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania

2024-2033



American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania

Prepared by:

Thomas J. Keller, Wildlife Biologist, M.Sc.

Furbearer Program Game Mammals Section Bureau of Wildlife Management Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17110

© 2023 Pennsylvania Game Commission

Citation

Keller, T. J. 2023. American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, USA.

Cover Art

Redemption. 2023. Generously painted for this project by professional Wildlife Biologist, Erika L. Coover with the Pennsylvania Game Commission. For this work, Erika has received The Wildlife Society's 2023 Jay N. "Ding" Darling Memorial Award for Wildlife Stewardship through Art.

Content Art

Contributed by young Pennsylvania artists as part of a statewide art contest to encourage wildlife art and appreciation by future conservationists in Pennsylvania.



THIS PROJECT HAS BEEN SUPPORTED by Wildlife Restoration funds, through grants administered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Division of Wildlife and Sport Fish Restoration: *Partnering to fund conservation and connect people with nature*.

Executive Summary

Once a common native species, the American marten (Martes americana) was extirpated from Pennsylvania in the early 1900's due to habitat loss and unregulated harvest. Reforestation and harvest regulations have resulted in many other species that shared the marten's fate being reintroduced. Although past considerations of marten reintroduction were not given serious attention, with available resources and interest in feasibility, assessing reintroduction was added to the Pennsylvania Game Commission's strategic plan for 2020-2023. Subsequently, managers developed a Feasibility Assessment for the Reintroduction of American Marten to Pennsylvania in 2022. This assessment determined through habitat suitability analyses that the state has suitable habitat in quantity, quality, and connectivity. It also predicts minimal impacts would occur to species of concern and from other predators within Pennsylvania. Past efforts throughout North America to reintroduce marten in other regions are numerous (N=40) with the majority ending in success. Justification provided within the assessment included ecological restoration, arguments for increasing biodiversity, and cultural considerations for Indigenous peoples. Other points centered on the positive effect on the outdoor recreation economy, as demonstrated by other reintroductions, and Pennsylvania's long-standing legacy of working to restore wildlife species and habitat through the generations. The assessment recommended the reintroduction of the marten to Pennsylvania.

Following Board of Commissioner direction, staff developed the *American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania: 2024-2033* (this document). Designed to provide a 10-year road map for reintroduction, this plan describes a variety of considerations for a successful restoration effort. Following basic ecology for this species, the plan assesses historic and current forest conditions prior to providing habitat suitability analyses. Public opinion survey work is discussed as well as considerations for success before evaluating past marten reintroductions in North America and keys to success. The translocation portion covers source populations, multi-agency coordination, capture techniques, transportation, holding requirements, and release methodology. The importance of research and monitoring is highlighted with a variety of techniques to be executed post-release. A communication and education strategy is outlined in detail followed by partner coordination and resource availability. Costs for this project have been estimated over the next decade, including translocation, research, monitoring, and management. Finally, a timeline is provided to help guide managers for the duration of the project.

Table of Contents

Executive Summaryiii
List of Tables7
List of Figures7
Project Mission
Management Goals, Objectives, Strategies, and Actions
Goal 1 – Translocation8
Goal 2 – Research and Monitoring9
Goal 3 – Information and Education10
Goal 4 – Cooperative Partnerships13
Goal 5 – Population Management13
Introduction15
Historic Background of Martens in
Pennsylvania
Ecology and Habitat17
Taxonomy17
General Characteristics
Distribution18
Reproduction19
Dispersal, Home Range and Minimum Population Viability 19
Diet 20
Mortality 22
Survival 22
Habitat 23
Importance of Snow 26
Habitat in Pennsylvania 26
Historic Forest Composition 26
Current Forest Composition
Snowfall in Donngylyania
Showian in Fennsylvania28

Predictive Climate and Forest Composit	ion
Models	. 28
Habitat Modeling	. 29
Field Assessment	.33
Public Opinion	.35
Pennsylvania State University Surveys	.35
2022 Results	. 35
2023 Results	. 35
Responsive Management	.36
PGC Hunter Survey	.36
Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction	.37
Impacts to Other Species	. 37
Climate Impacts	.40
Interspecific Competition	.41
Other Concerns	.42
Incidental Capture	.42
Population Persistence	.43
Domestic Animal Predation	.43
Litigation	.43
Reintroduction	.44
Objectives of Reintroduction	.44
A History of Reintroduction in	45
Pennsylvania	.45
Marten Reintroduction Efforts	.46
	.47
Requirements for a Self-Sustaining Population	.47
Number of Individuals	.47
Sex Ratio	. 47
Translocation Dispersal	. 47
Project Scale	. 47
Release Location Selection	. 48
Hammersley Wild Area	.49

State Game Lands Complex 25, 293, 14	1
	.50
Wolf Run Wild Area Complex	.50
Allegheny National Forest (ANF)	.50
Loyalsock State Forest	.51
Other Release Locations for Future Consideration	.52
Source	52
Wild vs. Captive Reared Source	.52
Source Population Selection	53
Conservation Genetics	.53
Trapping Effort Coordination	55
Coordinating a Multi-Agency	
Reintroduction	55
Questions for Source Partners when Planning for Capture	.56
A Guide for Capture	.56
The Montana and Washington Models	56
Capture Seasonality	.57
Equipment	.57
Trapping Procedure	.57
Capture and Transfer Procedure	.57
Holding at the Source	.58
Health Evaluations, Pre-Release Treatme	ent 58
Pre-capture Population Evaluations	58
Post-Canture Evaluation Process	59
Chemical Immobilization	59
Biologic Data	59
Pre-release Treatments	60
Sampling and Marking	60
Exportation and Importation Health	00
Requirements and Certifications	.61
Transportation	.61
International Transport	.61

Air vs. Ground62Air Shipping62Holding63Release63Release Type63Release Type63Release Coordination and Access64Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for EncouragingEstablishmentEstablishment65Augmentation65Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.71Resource Development71	Domestic Transport
Air Shipping62Holding63Release63Release Type63Release Coordination and Access64Release Timing64Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for Encouraging65Establishment65Augmentation65Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Air vs. Ground62
Holding63Release63Release Type63Release Coordination and Access64Release Timing64Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for Encouraging65Establishment65Augmentation65Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations. 7071Resource Development71	Air Shipping62
Release63Release Type.63Release Coordination and Access64Release Timing64Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for EncouragingEstablishmentEstablishment65Augmentation65Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.71Resource Development71	Holding63
Release Type63Release Coordination and Access64Release Timing64Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for Encouraging65Establishment65Augmentation65Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys.69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.71Resource Development71	Release 63
Release Coordination and Access 64 Release Timing 64 Release Structure 65 Public Release Opportunities 65 Techniques for Encouraging 55 Establishment 65 Augmentation 65 Research and Monitoring 66 Survival and Mortality 67 Movement 67 Habitat Selection 67 Diet 68 Other Species Monitoring 68 Genomics 68 Capture and Marking 69 Camera Surveys 69 Observational and Incidental Surveys 69 Measuring Success 69 Communications, Education, and 70 Target Audience 70 Stakeholder and Partner Organizations, 70 50 Education Needs 71	Release Type63
Release Timing64Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for Encouraging5Establishment65Augmentation65Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.71Resource Development71	Release Coordination and Access64
Release Structure65Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for Encouraging53Establishment65Augmentation65Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Release Timing64
Public Release Opportunities65Techniques for EncouragingEstablishment65Augmentation65Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.71Resource Development71	Release Structure65
Techniques for Encouraging Establishment 65 Augmentation 65 Research and Monitoring 66 Survival and Mortality 67 Movement 67 Habitat Selection 67 Diet 68 Other Species Monitoring 68 Monitoring Tools and Techniques 68 Genomics 68 Genomics 69 Observational and Incidental Surveys 69 Measuring Success 69 Measuring Success 69 Stakeholder and Partner Organizations. 70 Resource Development 71	Public Release Opportunities65
Establishment 65 Augmentation 65 Research and Monitoring 66 Survival and Mortality 67 Movement 67 Habitat Selection 67 Habitat Selection 67 Diet 68 Other Species Monitoring 68 Monitoring Tools and Techniques 68 Genomics 68 Genomics 68 Capture and Marking 69 Camera Surveys 69 Observational and Incidental Surveys 69 Measuring Success 69 Communications, Education, and 70 Target Audience 70 Stakeholder and Partner Organizations 70 Resource Development 71	Techniques for Encouraging
Augmentation 65 Research and Monitoring 66 Survival and Mortality 67 Movement 67 Habitat Selection 67 Diet 68 Other Species Monitoring 68 Monitoring Tools and Techniques 68 Genomics 68 Genomics 68 Capture and Marking 69 Observational and Incidental Surveys 69 Measuring Success 69 Communications, Education, and 70 Target Audience 70 Stakeholder and Partner Organizations	Establishment 65
Research and Monitoring66Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Habitat Selection67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Genomics68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations71Resource Development71	Augmentation 65
Survival and Mortality67Movement67Habitat Selection67Reproduction67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations.70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Research and Monitoring
Movement67Habitat Selection67Reproduction67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Survival and Mortality67
Habitat Selection67Reproduction67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Movement
Reproduction67Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Habitat Selection67
Diet68Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Reproduction67
Other Species Monitoring68Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Diet 68
Monitoring Tools and Techniques68Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Other Species Monitoring68
Telemetry68Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Monitoring Tools and Techniques68
Genomics68Capture and Marking69Camera Surveys69Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, and70Information70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Telemetry68
Capture and Marking	Genomics68
Camera Surveys	Capture and Marking69
Observational and Incidental Surveys69Track Surveys	Camera Surveys69
Track Surveys69Measuring Success69Communications, Education, andInformation70Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Observational and Incidental Surveys .69
Measuring Success	Track Surveys 69
Communications, Education, and Information	Measuring Success
Target Audience70Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70Education Needs71Resource Development71	Communications, Education, and Information70
Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70 Education Needs71 Resource Development71	Target Audience70
Education Needs	Stakeholder and Partner Organizations70
Resource Development	Education Needs71
	Resource Development71

Focus Group7	2
Statewide Information and Education Campaign	72
Public Land Management Partners7	/3
Source Partners7	74
Research Partners7	7 5
Stakeholder Partners7	' 5
Plan Management7	<i>'</i> 6
Adaptive Management7	<i>'</i> 6
Long-term Management7	<i>'</i> 6
Harvest7	<i>'</i> 6
Conflict Management7	7
Resources and Support7	7
Resources7	7
Staffing	7
Wildlife Health7	/8
Research7	/8
External Partnerships7	78
Funding	78
Support7	/8
Budget	78
Timeline7	<i>'</i> 9
Why Consider Reintroduction7	<i>'</i> 9
Conclusion	31
Acknowledgments	33

Literature Cited	
Appendix 1. A comparison of 13 Amer marten diet studies showing percent frequency of occurrence	ican 107
Appendix 2. Penn State public opinion results for 2022 & 2023 and related qu	survey estions.
Appendix 3. Holding box attachment f commercial cage trap.	or 109
Appendix 4. Handling box for America marten.	an 110
Appendix 5. American Marten Health Evaluation Form	111
Appendix 6. Letters of support from plandowner agencies	ublic 112
Appendix 7. Letters of support from post source agencies.	otential 114
Appendix 8. Letters of support from stakeholders	118
Appendix 9. Organizations reached the statewide information and education	rough
Appendix 10. Proposed annual budget American marten translocation to	134 for
Pennsylvania.	135 Errori
Bookmark not defined.	LII UI !
Appendix 12. Summary of public com	nent. 136



Alma Swartzentruber, Grade 12, Knox, PA

List of Tables

Table 1. Proposed 10-year budget for American marten reintroduction to Pennsylvania. (Pg. 79)

List of Figures

- Figure 1. Estimated historic range by late 1800's with historical record locations. (Pg. 16)
- **Figure 2.** Historic and current distribution of American and Pacific martens in North America with historic translocations shown. (Pg. 18)
- **Figure 3.** Core forest area within Pennsylvania. (Pg. 27)
- Figure 4. Public land ownership in Pennsylvania. (Pg. 27)
- Figure 5. Average annual snowfall in Pennsylvania. (Pg. 28)
- Figure 6. Categories used to develop an American marten habitat suitability model. (Pg. 31)
- Figure 7. American marten habitat suitability across study area. (Pg. 31)
- Figure 8. Locations of known marten and habitat suitability used to test model. (Pg. 32)
- Figure 9. American marten habitat suitability results for Pennsylvania. (Pg. 33)
- Figure 10. Suitable American marten habitat within Pennsylvania public lands. (Pg. 32)
- Figure 11. The habitat assessment team stops for a photograph at State Game Lands 57. (Pg. 34)
- Figure 12. Public opinion survey results from 2022 and 2023. (Pg. 36)
- Figure 13. Hunter opinion survey results from 2023 PGC survey (Pg. 37)
- Figure 14. An average of 13 American marten diet studies throughout the marten range by % frequency of occurrence and species. (Pg. 40)
- Figure 15. Resilience, flow, and recognized biodiversity of Pennsylvania. (Pg. 41)
- Figure 16. Primary and optional release locations with contiguous suitable habitat. (Pg. 49)
- Figure 17. Hammersley Wild Area. (Pg. 49)
- Figure 18. State Game Lands complex of 25, 293, and 14. (Pg. 50)
- Figure 19. Wolf Run Wild Area and surrounding public land holdings. (Pg. 50)
- Figure 20. The North ANF (Tracey Ridge RA) potential release area. (Pg. 51)
- Figure 21. The South ANF (Hearts Content RA) potential release area. (Pg. 51)
- Figure 22. Loyalsock State Forest and SGL locations of interest for release. (Pg. 51)
- Figure 23. State Game Lands 13 & 57 complex. (Pg. 52)
- Figure 24. Square Timber Wild Area. (Pg. 52)
- **Figure 25.** A QR code developed to direct the public towards the PA marten Story Map for more information. (Pg. 72)
- Figure 26. Information & Education Campaign stops throughout Pennsylvania in 2022 & 2023. (Pg. 73)

Project Mission: Reintroduce the American marten to suitable habitat within Pennsylvania and manage populations for the benefit of all Pennsylvanians in perpetuity.

To realize this mission, the following goals and associated objectives, strategies, and actions are presented.

Management Goals, Objectives, Strategies, and Actions

Goal 1 – Translocation: Translocate wild American marten into multiple release locations within Pennsylvania.

Objective 1.1 Establish source locations, partner agencies, and logistics for translocation efforts.

Strategy 1.1.1 Send formal requests to source states and provinces for confirmation.

Strategy 1.1.2 Develop resource requirements and responsibility assessments for cooperating source states and provinces.

Strategy 1.1.3 Establish formal translocation agreements with cooperating source states and provinces.

Objective 1.2 Complete final translocation planning.

Strategy 1.2.1 Identify trapping resources and personnel for individual cooperating source states and provinces.

Strategy 1.2.2 Develop detailed plans for each trapping location and communicate with source trapping coordinator.

Strategy 1.2.3 Develop detailed transportation plan for shipping and receiving for each state and province.

Objective 1.3 Conduct translocation following plan and guidelines.

Strategy 1.3.1 Coordinate trapping efforts across all locations with cooperating agencies.

Strategy 1.3.2 Coordinate transportation including holding, shipment, and receiving of translocated martens.

Strategy 1.3.3 Coordinate holding and care of captured marten after arrival in Pennsylvania with local partners.

Strategy 1.3.4 Coordinate health screening, testing, and treatment with approved staff and partners.

Strategy 1.3.5 Complete data collection, genetic sampling, and marking of each individual to prepare for release.

Strategy 1.3.6 Coordinate release in designated release locations in partnership with public landholder agencies and managers.

Goal 2 – Research and Monitoring: Evaluate marten population dynamics including establishment, survival, and reproduction.

Objective 2.1 Conduct research and monitoring to estimate survival and source of mortality.

Strategy 2.1.1 Measure survival using GPS-collared founder individuals annually.

Strategy 2.1.2 Measure survival of future generations of individuals through capture and GPS collaring.

Strategy 2.1.3 Locate and collect individuals post-mortem and conduct necropsies to identify causes of mortality.

Objective 2.2 Conduct research and monitoring on movement.

Strategy 2.2.1 Monitor movements of martens prior to home-range establishment.

Strategy 2.2.2 Quantify home range establishment.

Strategy 2.2.3 Monitor transitory behavior of founding population.

Strategy 2.2.4 Use capture-and-mark or genetic analyses to monitor dispersal of young.

Objective 2.3 Quantify habitat selection within home ranges.

Strategy 2.3.1 Analyze habitat within home ranges at multiple scales.

Strategy 2.3.2 Assess differential habitat use within home ranges by sex.

Strategy 2.3.3 Revise habitat suitability model based on results of habitat selection findings.

Objective 2.4 Evaluate fecundity in reintroduced populations.

Strategy 2.4.1 Document natural reproduction using appropriate techniques.

Strategy 2.4.2 Gather additional data on reproduction including sex ratio, litter size, and kit health through capture or intensive camera monitoring.

Objective 2.5 Evaluate diet of released individuals and future generations.

Strategy 2.5.1 Evaluate marten diet through analyses of scat or stomach contents from mortalities on founder population.

Strategy 2.5.2 Conduct diet research through scat collection or stomach contents from mortalities on successive generation populations.

Objective 2.6 Estimate population size and occupancy.

Strategy 2.6.1 Conduct passive genetic sampling paired with PIT tag readers with established methods.

Strategy 2.6.2 Conduct camera surveys to determine detection probabilities and occupancy.

Strategy 2.6.3 Document incidental observations through survey work utilizing staff and external partners.

Strategy 2.6.4 Conduct snow-track transect or track-plate surveys to measure relative abundance of marten.

Objective 2.7 Monitor other species populations in relation to marten reintroduction

Strategy 2.7.1 In coordination with species experts, monitor species of interest in relation to marten reintroduction efforts if warranted.

Goal 3 – Information and Education: Assess and improve the public's knowledge, awareness, and understanding of American marten restoration and management in Pennsylvania and promote marten conservation efforts to a diverse audience.

Objective 3.1 Increase knowledge and awareness to all audiences in consideration of the American marten, its background, and its reintroduction to Pennsylvania.

Strategy 3.1.1- Develop print and electronic materials with key messaging for distribution.

Action 3.1.1.1 – Develop a short summaries of the American Marten Reintroduction Feasibility Assessment for Pennsylvania

Action 3.1.1.2 – Develop a printable Wildlife Note for American marten.

Action 3.1.1.3 – Develop a single or series for Facebook Live, YouTube Live, or webinar(s) on American marten and reintroduction.

Action 3.1.1.4 – Develop a story map for American marten.

Action 3.1.1.5 – Produce a feature length documentary of the reintroduction process.

Action 3.1.1.6 – Develop articles for Game News and other suitable outlets.

Action 3.1.1.7 – Develop talking points for Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC) staff who work directly with the public (Board of Commissioners, Information and Education Supervisors (IESs), Dispatch, Administrative Assistants, etc.)

Action 3.1.1.8 – Use PGC email 'blasts' to provide important information and point towards additional upcoming or established resources.

Action 3.1.1.9 – Produce a podcast with PGC Call of the Outdoors on marten and the results of the assessment, plan development, and forthcoming activities.

Action 3.1.1.10 – Develop a 'Questions and Answers' document focusing on the most-asked questions and most common misperceptions about marten.

Action 3.1.1.11 – Develop a brochure with relevant information from the feasibility assessment.

Action 3.1.1.12 – Develop a short summary of the American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania: 2024-2033.

Strategy 3.1.2 – Develop social media materials and release on a regular schedule.

Action 3.1.2.1 – Develop Facebook posts to be released bi-monthly including a photo and fact about marten.

Action 3.1.2.2 – Develop Instagram posts to be released monthly with highquality photographs and links to additional information.

Action 3.1.2.3 – Develop Twitter posts to bring attention to other communication opportunities or marten-related information (i.e., presentations, webinars, or live events).

Action 3.1.2.4 – Respond to misinformation posted on Game Commission social media platforms with facts.

Strategy 3.1.3 – Develop and update agency website with relevant information for American marten.

Action 3.1.3.1 – Develop links that point towards other research, reintroduction benefits, etc.

Action 3.1.3.2 – Update American marten webpage with information relevant to Pennsylvania's efforts.

Action 3.1.3.3 – Use marten webpage as landing for blog posts, recorded events, articles, etc.

Strategy 3.1.4 – Provide presentations to audiences throughout the state.

Action 3.1.4.1 – Provide an open house within each region in coordination with region IES.

Action 3.1.4.2 – Solicit partners for time within annual meetings to provide an update on the marten project (U.S. Forest Service [USFS], Pennsylvania Trappers Association [PTA], Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural

Resources [DCNR], National Wild Turkey Federation [NWTF], Ruffed Grouse Society [RGS], Audubon, etc.).

Action 3.1.4.3 – Provide targeted meetings/presentations within potential area of focus for release.

Strategy 3.1.5 – Develop a separate email resource account for American Marten that can be used to field questions, comments, concerns, as well as disseminate information.

Action 3.1.5.1 – Develop monthly internal emails for staff highlighting marten ecology, assessment results, and reintroduction planning.

Strategy 3.1.6 – Solicit internal, external, and partner organizations to present information on podcasts.

Strategy 3.1.7 – Provide information to a dedicated cooperator base.

Action 3.1.7.1 – Solicit interest in becoming a furbearer management cooperator and develop a list for information dissemination.

Action 3.1.7.2 – Publish an annual Furbearer Management newsletter (electronic) that can be distributed to cooperators and provides up to date information on the marten project.

Objective 3.2: Increase support for American marten reintroduction within Pennsylvania across diverse constituencies.

Strategy 3.2.1 – Establish and maintain collaborations within the PGC critical to the project.

Action 3.2.1.1 – Provide regular updates to Senior staff, Executive staff, and Board of Commissioners on project progress through meetings or reports.

Action 3.2.1.2 – Provide regular updates and close coordination with region staff (Region Directors [RDs], Wildlife Management Supervisors [WMSs], Region Foresters [RFs]) through meetings or reports.

Action 3.2.1.3 – Provide regular updates and content to Bureau of Marketing and Strategic Communications and Bureau of Information and Education staff through meetings or email updates.

Strategy 3.2.2 – Establish and maintain collaborations with Non-governmental Organizations (NGOs) that have a vested interest in reintroduction.

Action 3.2.2.1 – Provide regular updates and solicit feedback throughout the project.

Action 3.2.2.2 – Provide education and information materials to NGOs for distribution to members and other stakeholders.

Strategy 3.2.3 - Establish and maintain collaborations with other state and federal agencies and recognized Indigenous groups that have a vested interest in reintroduction.

Action 3.2.3.1 – Provide regular updates and solicit feedback throughout the project.

Strategy 3.2.4 – Provide factual and transparent information to the public.

Action 3.2.4.1 – Provide prompt responses to written comments or concerns directed to the PGC by the public.

Action 3.2.4.2 – Provide prompt responses to emails, telephone calls, and inperson interactions.

Goal 4 – Cooperative Partnerships: Establish, maintain, and enhance partnerships to support American marten restoration efforts within Pennsylvania.

Objective 4.1 Establish, maintain, and enhance new and existing partnerships across a diversity of organizations.

Strategy 4.1.1 Establish, maintain, and enhance partnerships with public land managers.

Strategy 4.1.2 Establish, maintain, and enhance partnerships with source state and provincial government agencies.

Strategy 4.1.3 Establish, maintain, and enhance partnerships with research partners.

Strategy 4.1.4 Establish, maintain, and enhance partnerships with stakeholder partners.

Strategy 4.1.5 Develop a Marten Reintroduction Team to include a variety of partners to assist in adaptive management decision making.

Strategy 4.1.6 Provide monthly or bimonthly project updates to all partners.

Goal 5 – Population Management: Maintain marten populations in perpetuity.

Objective 5.1 Develop long-term strategies for monitoring population trends and occupancy.

Strategy 5.1.1 Develop and conduct annual population abundance surveys based on research and results on effective long-term monitoring strategies.

Strategy 5.1.2 Develop and conduct annual population occupancy surveys using established methodology.

Strategy 5.1.3 Monitor populations through annual staff surveys, an index to relative abundance, within release districts and expansion areas.

Objective 5.2 Use regulated harvest as a tool for management if populations reach sustainable levels within the future.

Strategy 5.2.1 Analyze habitat availability, carrying capacity, population trends, and occupancy to develop a season and regulations for harvest.

Strategy 5.2.2 Begin harvest with a conservative season length and required permit with targets based on population sustainability.

Strategy 5.2.3 Require mandatory harvest reporting and carcass collection (not including pelt) for important data collection needed for additional management.

Objective 5.3 Manage human – wildlife conflict as it pertains to martens.

Strategy 5.3.1 – If marten nuisance complaints arise, develop a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) to define reporting and classification procedures. When a conflict is reported to provide support to dispatchers and region staff as needed.



Alexavier Biordi, Grade 7, Cranberry Township, PA

Introduction

When a species has been absent for over 120 years from a place, it tends to be forgotten. Several generations of humans have come and gone during that absence, and those memories of the American marten have drifted away on the winds of time, out of the conscience collective of today's Pennsylvanians. Not only has the species been lost over time, but the important services that it provides within a complex ecological system have been lost. This is a system which humans often separate themselves from through wood, metal, glass, and plastic. The reality, however, is that humans remain an important aspect of this community and benefit greatly when the system functions to its potential. Although humans in Pennsylvania drastically altered the system during the settlement of the Commonwealth, Pennsylvanians have placed significant value on their natural resources and over the last 100 years have diligently worked to restore wildlife communities and their habitat.

Historic wildlife translocations began soon after the turn into the 20th century with white-tailed deer and elk reintroductions. Wild turkey and beaver followed soon after with turkeys translocated in state and beaver coming in from a variety of states and provinces as well as local in-state translocations. River otter, peregrine falcon, osprey, and bald eagle were brought in nation's following bicentennial. the Managers will soon be preparing to trap and transfer the first wild bobwhite quail back Three generations of into the state. Pennsylvanians have been working tirelessly to restore the natural association and processes of the state. Their work has benefited the successive generations, and those benefits have been multiplied to each one in turn.

As Pennsylvania contemplates the reintroduction of yet another lost member of wildlife community, the the careful consideration of what this might entail is of utmost importance. The Pennsylvania Game Commission, in partnership with many other agencies and organizations, developed a multi-year process to evaluate marten reintroduction. Initially elevated to a goal within the agency's 2020-2023 Strategic Plan (Pennsylvania Game Commission [PGC] 2020), the American Marten Reintroduction Feasibility Assessment (Keller 2022a) was completed in July of 2022. Following direction from the Board of developed Commissioners, staff this document to provide a comprehensive, longmanagement plan guide term to reintroduction efforts. Public review and comment are integral parts of wildlife management because wildlife indeed belongs to all Pennsylvanians (Commonwealth of Pennsylvania [COP] 1971). Following this process to completion, over two years of careful research and review will have taken place to assist the decision-making process. Wildlife management is challenging, but thorough examination of historic and current research along with social science and analysis provide decision makers with requisite information.

Historic Background of Martens in Pennsylvania

The American marten was known to exist throughout much of the northwest, northcentral and northeast regions of the state (Rhoads 1895, Williams 1928, Luttringer 1931, Richmond and Roslund 1949, Roslund 1951. Grimm and Whitebread 1952, Cunningham 1985, Williams et al. 1985, Merritt 1987, Heppenstall and Doutt et al. 1998, Whitaker and Hamilton 1998). Surprisingly, however, only one prehistoric record exists from a location in Bedford County, near the town of New Paris, titled the Number 4 Sinkhole (Guilday et al 1964). Skeletal remains from a single individual were found here during excavation dating to 11,300 Before Present. Williams et al. (1985) hypothesized that this may be due to the martens 'arboreal nature', or climbing ability, that would have prevented it from being trapped within similar sites. This site was studied extensively, whereas other locations within the state have not received the same attention, therefore possibly explaining the lack of other prehistoric evidence. Others postulated that native Americans may have considered the marten sacred and not utilized its pelt or meat. Although it's not clear if native tribes in Pennsylvania held the marten in a place of protection, we know other tribes from the Upper Mid-west and Northwest coast, such as the Mi'kmaq, Ottawa. Wabanaki. Kootenai. Oiibwe. Tlingit. Menominee, Innu, and Abenaki all developed legends or stories about the marten or used the marten as a representative clan animal (Native Languages of the Americas [NLA] 2020).

Although marten range was thought to extend as far south as Tennessee and North Carolina (Krohn 2012), historical accounts in Pennsylvania documented by Rhodes (1903) and Williams et al. (1985) focus primarily within the counties of Clinton, Potter, Cameron, and McKean (Fig. 1). There are also records from Crawford, Elk, Forest, Luzerne, Tioga, Wayne, Wyoming, Pike,

Monroe, Columbia, and Sullivan counties. The earliest record comes from McKean and Warren counties in 1821 and they continue throughout the marten's range within the state until the early 1900s. Although it's largely believed that extirpation occurred by the turn of the 20th century, several records have occurred in later years, three from the 1950s-60s in Potter and Wayne counties as well as a skull collected in Mercer County in 1970. More recently, some publications (Merritt 1987) list marten as having uncertain occurrence. hinting at natural reestablishment, but no other reports have been collected since 1970.

This extirpation follows the progressive European settlement of Pennsylvania, beginning in the mid-1600s and continuing through the late 1800s (Florin 1977). This is not unlike other documented extirpation for martens within North America (Krohn 2012). By the beginning of the 20^{th} century, very few uncut forested areas remained in the state (Rhodes 1903), and only a handful of small patches clung to the



Figure 1. Estimated historic range (North of line) by late 1800's with historical record locations. Solid black dots represent historical records of marten captured or killed. Open dots represent museum collection specimens without associated written historical records. Half dots represent specimens with written records. The cross represents record from archeological site, while the (?) represents sight records without the animal being acquired (Williams et al. 1985).

landscape in the northern tier, holding out in the steeper and more inaccessible hollows and mountain folds (Smith 1989). This same period was prior to regulated harvest within the state. Although we don't know whether unregulated take contributed to decline and eventual extirpation, it is likely, coupled with the extreme loss of habitat, to have played some part (Allen 1942), and it is clear overall within the harvest U.S. decreased dramatically coming into the early 1900s (Obbard et al. 1987). Although it is very difficult to know the exact timing of extirpation, it can be assumed that by the early 1900s most martens were absent from their historic range in Pennsylvania. The later sightings may have occurred from transient individuals dispersing from populations in New York.

American is currently marten within classified as а furbearer the Pennsylvania Game and Wildlife Code (Pennsylvania General Assembly [PGA] 1986a) even though extirpated. There is no open season for martens, and they are not Species of considered а Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN; Pennsylvania Game Commission and Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission [PGC-PFBC] 2015), threatened or endangered (Pa. Code 58 § 133.41). Dr. Thomas Serfass completed a reintroduction feasibility assessment in 2002 that was funded by the Pennsylvania Wild Resource Conservation Fund (Serfass et al. 2002). This assessment determined there was justification for a reintroduction, providing specific locations for release and citing likely habitat suitability but cautioned against expecting results like those experienced with fisher and otter reintroductions. At the time (2003). Pennsylvania Game Commission staff did not feel that this assessment addressed habitat suitability within the state

adequately, and thus chose not to move forward with reintroduction efforts until further habitat evaluations occurred.



Olivia Graham, Grade 12, Waynesburg, PA

Ecology and Habitat

Taxonomy

The American marten is known by many names including the American pine marten, American sable, and Apistanewj by the Mi'kmag tribe. Martens are considered similar in size to the American mink (Neovison vison) and smaller than the fisher (Pekania pennanti). Martens are derived from Order Carnivora. the Family Mustelidae, and genus Martes. Of the eight 'true' marten species, not including fisher, wolverine (Gulo gulo), and tayra (Eira barbara), Martes americana falls within a sub-group called the 'boreal forest martens,' which are found across the circumboreal zone (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994; Buskirk 1992) and largely do not overlap amongst species east to west. Fourteen subspecies were at one time recognized throughout the Old and New worlds (Hall and Kelson 1959)

but more recently only eight have been widely accepted (Clark et al. 1987), and of those eight, only five are considered 'true' boreal forest martens, to include the American marten.

General Characteristics

American martens measure between 500 and 680 mm (19.7 - 26.8 in.) from nose to tip of tail with adults weighing between 500 g and 1400 g (1.1 - 3.1 lb.; Buskirk and Ruggiero)1994). Sexual dimorphism within this species is evident with males being up to 65% heavier and 15% longer than females (Clark et al. 1987). The coat is made up of dense fur with long soft guard hair and coloration varies among individuals. Light brown to black hair covers the top of the head, running down the back, continuing onto the tail and stretching down each leg. In winter, a pale, whitish gray color stretches from the ears down under the chin whereas in summer this area is chocolate brown. A yellowish orange bib covers the throat and can stretch down to the chest. Like most furbearing animals, the coat thins substantially throughout spring and summer (Clark et al. 1987, Soutiere and Steventon 1981).

Having digitigrade, five-toed feet with semi-retractable claws, these animals can move vertically through the canopy as quickly as horizontally on the ground surface. Their thickly furred, large feet allow for efficient weight disbursement on snow (Krohn et al. 2005, Jensen and Humphries 2019). Martens have a typical weasel body shape, which is long and thin with relatively short legs. These attributes allow them to use burrows and subnivean spaces efficiently. Combined with other attributes including a pointy snout with long whiskers for optimal hunting in tight, narrow locations such as tree cavities, dense understory, or within subnivean (under snow) abscesses.

Distribution

Current range (Fig. 2) of the American marten extends from the far northeast of North America in Newfoundland, across the northern forest boundary in Canada, stretching up into Alaska. The western edge of the range encompasses British Columbia down through parts of the Pacific northwest and into northern California following the Cascades and the Sierra Nevada ranges. It should be noted that these western martens are often considered Pacific marten (Martes *caurina*), although there's still question as to where the transition zone is between Pacific and American marten. Populations stretch down through the Rocky Mountains as far south as New Mexico. Following the forested landscape, the range retreats up into mid-Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba before again coming south into Minnesota and the upper peninsula of Michigan. Within New England, some populations exist as far south as the Adirondacks of New York and further north into Vermont (Moruzzi et al. 2003),



Figure 2. Historic and current distribution of American and Pacific martens in North America with historic translocations shown. E. Clees, 2022 (Data from Williams et al. 2007, Powell et al. 2012 and Pauli et al. 2022).

Maine and then back into Canada as far northeast as Prince Edward Island (Clark et al. 1987; Hall 1981; Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994).

Historic southern range within the mid-West and East would have encompassed northeastern North Dakota, down through the entirety of Wisconsin, Michigan, continuing as far south as southeastern Ohio, northern West Virginia, and the northern two thirds of Pennsylvania, finally running north through all of New England. Fossil records to the east indicate *Martes americana* as far south as Tennessee as well as in Virginia, West Virginia, and Pennsylvania. To the west, fossils have been found in sites in the Yukon Territory, Idaho, Wyoming, and Colorado (Clark et al. 1987).

Multiple reintroduction projects have been conducted throughout the current and historic range (Fig. 2) to include Maine, Vermont (Moruzzi et al., 2003), Wisconsin (Williams et al., 2007), the Upper and Lower peninsulas of Michigan (Hiller et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2007), South Dakota (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994), Montana (MFWP 2020), Idaho, New Hampshire, Wyoming, several Alaskan islands, and throughout Canada (Burris and McKnight- 1973). Further details on previous reintroductions are provided in *Marten Reintroduction Efforts* section under *Reintroduction and Translocation*.

Reproduction

Both male and female martens are polygamous (Proulx and Aubry 2017). Breeding season averages 35 days and generally occurs within the months of July and August but can begin as early as late June in Alaska and end as late as early September in more southern locales (Clark et al. 1987;

Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Following fertilization, delayed implantation of the blastocysts occurs for anywhere between 190-250 days (Clark et al. 1987; Hamilton 1943). After implantation, gestation lasts 27 days prior to birth. Between 1-5 kits (avg. 2.85; Strickland and Douglas 1987) are born altricial between March through May weighing an average of 28 g (Strickland et al. 1982, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Young are weaned by day 42 (Mead 1994, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994) and are actively moving out of the maternal den by day 46 (Clark et al. 1987). At 15 months, marten reach sexual maturity, with some females producing first time litters at 24 months (Strickland et al. 1982, Buskirk and Zielinski 1997). Fecundity and recruitment can vary widely (Clark et al. 1987) and is thought to potentially be driven by food availability or environmental stress (Thompson and Colgan 1987, Buskirk and Zielinski 1997).

Dispersal, Home Range and Minimum Population Viability

After accompanying the adult female outside of the den during late spring through summer, young martens disperse from late summer through early winter (Buskirk and Zielinski 1997, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Clark et al. 1987). Dispersal distances vary between location and are likely a result of habitat quality and pre-existing territories. The average dispersal distance reported included 33.3 km in Oregon (Bull and Heater 2001) and 5.13 km in Ontario (Broquet et al. 2006) while unpublished data from Minnesota (M. Joyce, University of Minnesota, J. unpublished data) was 4.3 km for males and 6.4 km for females. Pauli et al. (2012) found a range of 15-40 km from research that looked at both American and Pacific marten in southeastern Alaska and northern British

Columbia. Although not typical, martens can disperse long distances and have been reported traveling over 200 km in several instances (Johnson et al. 2009, Moruzzi et al. 2003).

Martens, like most mustelids, exhibit what is called intrasexual territories where territories are closely defended within the same sex, but where overlap occurs between sexes (Powell 1979, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Home range size for males is larger than for females in most cases, although some research has shown comparable sized ranges between sexes (Smith and Schaefer 2002). This study compiled historical data and showed the wide variation between 15 study sites with female marten home ranges from 2-27.6 km² and males from 2.6-45 km². In northern Wisconsin, Dumyahn et al. (2007), found an average winter home range size of 3.29 km² (males=4.25)km². females=2.32 km²). Another Wisconsin project, centered on translocation of martens from Minnesota (Woodford et al. 2013), compared not only sex but age, with adult males=16.19 km², adult females=4.81 km², juvenile males=11.57 km² and juvenile females=10.27 km². This research showed martens traveling an average of 4.6 km over an 18-day period before establishing territory as these were translocated individuals. Kujawa (2018), when researching home range of martens in a reintroduced population in the northern Lower Peninsula of Michigan, found a mean of 12.4 km². Home range variability seems to be driven by a variety of factors, to include habitat quality, typing, connectivity, and availability as well as prey abundance (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Thompson and Colgan 1987, Soutiere 1979). Variability amongst documented home ranges can also depend on monitoring and relocation methodology. It must be

understood that making comparisons between reported results that may be measuring home range during differing seasons or using a variety of methods can be difficult.

Minimum Viable Population (MVP) can be an important aspect of a species longterm survival and management. Genetics become a critical part of this estimation, particularly within populations that are isolated or experience little to no gene flow. Slough (1994) recommended that MVP for American marten is 50 breeding individuals for short-term genetic success, while longterm goals may reach upwards of 500 individuals. At 50 individuals, however, genetic fitness can be maintained. He recommended, based on research from Strickland et al. (1982), a stable population of 50 individuals would require an area ranging from 42-125 km² of contiguous habitat. Population viability modeling work on populations in Michigan found that when habitat carrying capacity of marten exceeded 100 individuals, loss of marten genetic heterozygosity was minimal over a 100-year period, whereas below that threshold, it decreased substantially (Hillman 2014, Hillman et al. 2017). Research within Wisconsin (Grauer et al. 2019) explored two separate reintroduced populations and how immigration proved critical to preventing extinction This research over time. demonstrated the critical importance of maintaining genetic diversity in an isolated, reintroduced population.

Diet

Martens are considered a facultative generalist, feeding on a large variety of available food types by season (Zhou et al. 2011). Martens are both active predators as well as opportunistic scavengers. Martens have been documented to feed on animals both larger than and smaller than themselves, including small mammals, reptiles and amphibians, birds and bird eggs, insects, both hard and soft mast, earthworms, and carrion (Clark et al. 1987, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). As is seen in other mustelids such as fisher (McNeil et al. 2017), martens also intraspecific exhibit consumption (Thompson and Colgan 1990, Carlson et al. 2014, Zielinski et al. 1983). Marten have even been observed feeding at sap wells of maple trees (Acer spp.) created by yellowbellied sapsuckers (Sphyrapicus varius) as reported by Kitching and Tozer (2010).

Prior diet study comparisons (Buskirk and Ruggerio 1994) as well as a comparison of 13 historic diet studies (Appx. 1) compiled in this assessment, paints a very clear picture of not only the diversity of food items but also preference. Small mammals (voles, mice, and shrews) make up the bulk of the marten diet (>68% frequency of occurrence [FO]). Within this group, and as most literature states, the red-backed vole (Myodes gapperi) is the most common prey item (26.1% FO) throughout the marten range (Martin 1994, Clark et al. 1987, Bull 2000, Thompson and Colgan 1987 and 1990, Cumberland et al. 2001, Hales et al. 2008). The *Microtus* genus makes up another large portion (24.2% FO) followed by the Peromyscus genus (13.5% FO), Blarina genus (11.9% FO), and Sorex genus (10.7% FO).

The percent frequency equals the number of occurrences of a prey item divided by total number of stomachs, intestines, and/or fecal samples multiplied by 100. Note that percent frequency of occurrence is the most common measurement of diet composition and sums to more than 100% in most cases.

Plant materials make up the next largest FO at 21.7%, with a major percentage coming from soft mast (e.g., berries) and the rest from a variety of grasses, leaves, lichen, etc. The bird class has a FO of 12.3%, with ruffed grouse (Bonasa umbellus) at 4.6% FO and 'Other Birds' at 7.4% FO. The Sciurids (squirrel grouping) have a FO of 11.5% with members ranging from 1.5% (Glaucomys spp.) to 6.7% (Tamiasciurus hudsonicus). Lagomorphs (rabbits and hares) follow with a FO of 9.3%, the majority reflected solely by snowshoe hare (Lepus americanus). The mustelid grouping had a FO of 2.7%, with American martens comprising 1.62 %. Within the 'Other' category (23.3% FO), insects led with 17.8% followed by cervid carrion at 6.9 % FO. This category also included fish, amphibians, reptiles, and a western woodrat species (Neotoma cinerea).

Diet can be dictated by seasonality, prey abundance, or prey access (Zielinski et al. 1983, Weckwerth and Hawley 1962, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Use of items such as soft mast or insects peak in late summer through early fall while winter sees marten diet heavily skewed towards mammals (Thompson and Colgan 1990, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Raine 1981). Thompson and Colgan (1990) found that marten in Ontario expanded their diet niche during years when common prey species were less abundant. With the effect of mast production on prey abundance, several researchers have found important ties to marten harvest in relation to mast availability (Jensen et al. 2012, Jakubas et al. 2004). Martens have also been considered an

important species for seed dispersal given their penchant for a large variety of fruits and their large home range sizes or dispersal distances (Willson 1993). It should be noted that although most diet research is reported as percentage frequency of occurrence, Cumberland et al. (2001) suggested that assessment of prey availability should rather focus on the importance of those species (i.e., hare, grouse, and squirrel) with the highest caloric value, measured instead in overall biomass. This doesn't negate the fact that small mammals still make up most of the marten's diet or that martens can persist on small mammals, only that in some areas of their range, larger prey makes up a larger portion of their caloric intake depending on time of year.

Mortality

Sources of mortality for martens varies between natural predation, human-caused (harvest or roadkill), as well as disease and parasites. As with other species, exposure (Bull and Heater 2001) and starvation (Hearn 2007) occur within marten populations and has been documented as causes of mortality for this species. Toxoplasmosis, Aleutian disease, and plague (western populations) have all been detected in marten at various rates, although were not found to have population-level impacts (Strickland et al. 1982, Zielinski 1984, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). Fredrickson (1990) found that canine distemper can cause high mortality as it spreads throughout an area. Martens host a large variety of ectoparasites and several endoparasites (Clark et al. 1987, Strickland and Douglas 1987); however, none have been shown to cause negative impacts on populations. A detailed study on serosurvey, hematology and causes of mortality relating

to a reintroduced population of marten in Michigan (Spriggs et al. 2018) found that although martens contained antibodies for several viruses and even a high percentage with verminous or granulomatous pneumonia, the primary natural cause of mortality was predation followed closely by trapping, where legal.

Reported mammalian species predating marten include bobcat (Lynx rufus; Bull and Heater 2001), fisher (Payer and Harrison 1999, McCann et al. 2010), coyote (Canis latrans; Woodford et al. 2013), red fox (Vulpes vulpes; Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Hearn 2007), and other martens (Bull Heater 2001. Thompson and 1986. Thompson and Colgan 1990, Carlson et al. 2014, Zielinski et al. 1983). The most common raptor species to take martens are the great-horned owl (Bubo virginianus; Baker 1992, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994), eagles (Accipitridae spp.) and the northern goshawk (Accipiter gentilis; Bull and Heater 2001, Squires 2000). Clark et al. (1987) reported that none of these species poses a significant threat to marten populations. More recent research (Jensen et al. 2019, Pauli et al. 2022) points to the increased of predation potential from larger mammalian predators in the absence of suitable habitat and abiotic conditions. Most mammalian predation occurred during winter, while raptors, although infrequent, took marten during the summer kit-rearing period (McCann et al. 2010, Woodford et al. 2013)

Survival

In captivity, martens can live 15 years and even some wild-caught martens were aged to 14.5 years (Strickland and Douglas 1987, Buskirk and Zielinski 1997), however, average age is likely much less, although there is surprisingly little information available. Harvest records from research within the Upper Peninsula of Michigan found that within a trapped population, the majority of the harvest was yearlings while 1.5-year-olds followed closely behind, and very few individuals lived past 5.5 years (Skalski et al. 2011). Woodford et al. (2013) compared survival of two release methods for translocation in northern Wisconsin: quick release after transport (Survival = 0.80) and a 14-day conditioning period slow-release (Survival = 0.67). This study also estimated survival after the slow-release reintroduction with variation among sex (F=0.71, M=0.79) and age (J=0.66, A=0.84). Another northern Wisconsin project (McCann et al. 2010) found overall adult annual survival to be 0.81 with adult females at 0.77 and adult males at 0.85. There was no estimate of juvenile survival. Hodgman et al.'s (1994) survival results from northcentral Maine show a wide gap between sexes regardless of age with males (JM=0.64, AM=0.56) significantly less than females (JF=0.73, AF=0.76), likely a result of a larger home range and increased opportunity to encounter a trap set. Bull and Heater (2001) conducting research in northeast Oregon found a relatively low annual survival of 0.63, while Slough (1989) found some of the highest recorded, within the Yukon Territory, at 0.88 and 0.91 for females and males, respectively.

Martens are susceptible to humancaused mortality (i.e., harvest or roadkill), which can reduce overall density, skew sex ratio towards females, and change age structure (Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Powell 1994, Strickland and Douglas 1987, Hodgman et al. 1994). Payer and Harrison

(1999) found in Maine comparing adult marten survival within an untrapped forest reserve (F=0.62, M=0.95), a trapped industrial forest (F=0.66, M=0.59), and an untrapped industrial forest (F=0.82, M=0.84). It should be noted, however, that density and age structure can fluctuate dramatically within unharvested populations (Thompson and Colgan 1987, Wekwerth and Hawley 1962, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). and regulated harvest provides a tool to decrease these swings in density helping to stabilize populations for ease of management (Powell 1994).

Habitat

The subject of marten habitat has been researched extensively throughout their range and there is a wide variety of literature available. What was historically generally agreed upon was that martens are a species of mature forest, with strong ties to conifers, favoring a diverse and complex structure from forest floor to canopy crown (Strickland and Douglas 1987, Clark et al. 1987, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Buskirk and Powell 1994, Buskirk and Zielinski 1997, Gilbert et al. 2017). Originally thought of as a species specifically inhabiting 'old-growth' coniferous forests, much research has shown that the marten can inhabit a large variety of forested habitat types if abundant prey and cover are available.

Historical records describing habitat within Pennsylvania (Rhodes 1903) reflect a difference in habitat preference from northern populations. Rhodes says, "My correspondents agree in saying that deciduous, hardwood timber is preferred by this species in PA. This seems at variance with its preferred resorts in Canada." Martens prefer mesic over xeric forests as is reported by Buskirk and Powell (1994). Several habitat-based models have been developed (Bowman and Robitaille 2005) but none are referenced more than the model Arthur Allen developed in 1984 (Allen 1984). Allen described the two most limiting factors for suitability of winter habitat were percent tree closure canopy (>30%) and stand successional stage (pole size or larger). The two additional factors that Allen (1984) stressed were having conifers, primarily fir or spruce, as a portion of the overstory (>25%)as well as the importance of downed woody debris and stumps covering the forest floor. This complex structure at ground level provides important prey habitat and access to the subnivean spaces for both hunting and thermal regulation as well as protection from predators (Buskirk and Powell 1994, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, Corn and Raphael 1992). Basal area of partially cut stands also plays an important role in use and Fuller and Harrison (2005) recommend retention of $>18m^{2}/ha$ which provides for both cover and food abundance needs.

It is well documented that martens avoid large open areas such as new clear cuts, burns or fields that lack canopy cover (Hawley and Newby 1957, Koehler and Hornocker 1977, Soutiere 1979, Allen 1984, Buskirk and Powell 1994); however, if alternate suitable cover is available (e.g., thick early successional growth, rock or talus fields, heavy slash, or an open subnivean environment) martens have been shown to utilize non-high canopied areas (Streeter and Braun 1968, Soutiere 1979, Allen 1984, Buskirk and Powell 1994). Seasonal differences in relation to young forest openings are evident, where marten avoid openings during the winter, purportedly due to predator avoidance, while their use of these areas may expand during the summertime if early succession provides a low, dense canopy (Koehler and Hornocker 1977, Soutiere 1979, Buskirk and Powell 1994). These authors also point out that research results vary on marten use of edges, although it appears that the edge composition itself dictates use.

Research from Maine found that many of the historical pillars of marten habitat including mature coniferous forests with a high percentage of canopy closure may not be accurate after all (Chapin et al. 1997). Within study areas, marten preferred the structural complexity resulting from insect mortality and thus <30% canopy closure, utilizing the 10-20 year early successional growth on the forest floor as well as available snags and coarse woody debris. Results pointed towards the importance of vertical and horizontal structure rather than stand age or species composition within the overstory, a well-documented thesis (Buskirk and Powell 1994, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994, 1992). Chapin et al. (1997) Katnik recommend focusing on creating the structural habitat needs within both managed and unmanaged regardless stands of overstory canopy, stand age, or stand composition.

Another research project from Maine found that marten selected for primarily deciduous habitat with strong structural complexity at ground level shying away from mature coniferous stands, while they readily used early successional stands <20 years having dense vegetative growth and ample course woody debris (Potvin et al. 2000). These combinations not only provide the necessary protective cover from terrestrial and avian predation, but also increased prey abundance.

Of all aspects of habitat, structural complexity is likely the most important for the American marten, according to the literature review. Denning and resting sites are an important part of this complexity and having a mixture of tree cavities, exposed branches, ground-based sites such as holes, dens, rock outcrops, downed woody debris, and of course access to all of these during periods of prolonged snow is critical (Buskirk and Powell 1994, Joyce et al. 2017, Sanders and Cornman 2017). The overall volume and percent cover of coarse woody debris provides greater access to subnivean spaces during winter (Corn and Raphael 1992) and speaks to the importance of this complex horizontal structure. Joyce et al. (2017) found several key observations when conducting a literature review focusing on resting microsite use. Their findings showed that a.) during winter, marten utilized sites within the subnivean layer more often than outside of it, b.) severe winter climates saw an increase in ground microsite use by martens and c.) marten used ground microsites more often than fishers. Sanders and Cornman's (2017) research, within the Lower Peninsula of Michigan, found different results with most winter (97.4%) resting sites within larger diameter at breast height (DBH), elevated cavities (64.9%), branches (12.9%), or nests (19.6%), while summer sites (97%) focused on these same three characteristics (39.3%, 41.8%, 15.9%, respectively), with oak being the predominant tree species selected. This likely falls in line with Joyce et al.'s (2017) conclusion that within areas experiencing mild winters, marten may not require subnivean rest sites as frequently. Current

research in Michigan has shown that martens using cavities within these areas are not showing a significantly higher energetic cost (M. J. Joyce, University of Minnesota, unpublished data). Denning sites from research in Michigan were found most often in live trees with large basal area (Nichols 2016).

The study of habitat fragmentation and its effects on marten populations, especially relating to connectivity between populations is evolving. Understanding what habitat fragmentation means is often interpreted differently by researchers and managers worldwide. Henrik Andren (1994) breaks fragmentation down into three primary parts, those being forfeiture of original habitat, decrease of habitat patch size, and the further seclusion of patch size. Fragmentation can occur through a variety of natural occurrences such as succession, fire, or windfall, but the most often cited is human land use at large scale (Andren 1994).

When considering landscape connectivity, D'Eon et al. (2002) found martens to have moderate vagility in comparison to fellow old-growth associates with both high (northern goshawk) and low (northern flying squirrel) vagility. At the local (or home range) scale, Potvin et al. (2000) recommended keeping fragmentation below 30% over a 30-year period. Research northeastern Utah in developed recommendations that timber harvests (new harvest in combination with natural openings) remain less than 25% of landscapes ≥ 9 km², and if possible cutting outwards from a single patch vs. the same area, but in well distributed smaller patches, in order to maximize contiguous mature forest (Hargis et al. 1999). Payer and Harrison (1999) recommended timber harvests less than 20% of landscapes from research conducted in Maine. Proulx (2001) conducted research on the use of connectivity corridors in British Columbia, within a highly fragmented landscape, finding that it appears marten can persist, but population viability is uncertain pending further study. Research points towards a variety of factors, including forest cover, slope, elevation, and land development that affect regional gene flow (Aylward et al. 2020), an important consideration for future persistence of a population.

Importance of Snow

As noted previously within the habitat needs of American marten, snow cover during winter can act as an important aspect in providing thermal protection and offer a competitive edge to marten over other mesocarnivores (Raine 1981, Krohn et al. 2005) such as fisher, bobcat, and coyotes, by giving them access to winter food resources within the subnivean space (Buskirk and Powell 1994). The reported minimum snow depth for subnivean establishment varies from 10 cm (Thompson et al. 2018) to 20 cm (Pruitt 2005) and will provide suitable stabilized temperatures. Snow depth can vary based on forest structure, particularly canopy cover (Varhola et al. 2010) as well as a variety of landscape characteristics such as latitude and topography (Thompson et al. 2018). Much subnivean research has also focused on the importance of additional abiotic conditions such as snowpack, which constitutes density, persistence, surface hardness, compaction (Pauli et al. 2022, Berteaux et al. 2017), elevation, and temperature (Jensen and Humphries 2019). This combination of factors determines a marten's ability to

access the subnivean, the length of time it is available, and the fisher's ability to compete over the winter season (see *Interspecific Competition* section).



Jillian Gressley, Grade 8, Lock Haven, PA

Habitat in Pennsylvania

Historic Forest Composition

The pre-European settlement northern forests of Pennsylvania consisted of large diameter, old growth conifers, primarily white pine (Pinus strobus) and Eastern hemlock (Tsuga canadensis), as well as a mix of hardwoods such as black cherry (Prunus serotina), various oaks (Quercus spp.), hickories (Carya spp.), white ash (Fraxinus americana), American beech (Fagus grandifolia) and American chestnut (Castanea dentata) (Hough and Forbes 1943, Nowacki and Abrams 1994). Disturbance at this time occurred from a variety of natural sources including windfall, insect outbreaks, ice glazing, as well as both natural and anthropogenic fire (Black and Abrams 2005). It's estimated that prior to settlement, forest land in Pennsylvania equaled 28.6 million acres (Albright et al. 2017). Following the intense logging of the 19th century, forest composition changed throughout the state. By the turn of the 20^{th} century, it was

estimated that just over 9 million acres (32%) remained (Rothrock 1894). This change was dictated through the species value at the time of cutting, seed tree removal, intensive fires within standing slash, and increased herbivory of new growth from species lacking natural predators such as white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) (Tilghman 1989) and porcupine (Erethizon dorsatum) (Hough and Forbes 1943). Previous white pine dominated stands saw an increase in white oak, red maple (Acer rubrum) and chestnut during second and third growth. Hardwood-hemlock stands saw an increase in beech, maple (Acer spp.) and birch (Betula spp.) species (Hough and Forbes 1943) during their second and third growth. Since that time, species such as beech, ash, and hemlock continue to face threats from Beech Bark Disease (Neonectria spp.; Held and Jones-Held 2014), Beech Leaf Disease (Litylenchus crenatae mccannii), Emerald Ash Borer (Agrilus planipennis), and Hemlock Wooly Adelgid (Adelges tsugae; Cessna and Nielsen 2012) respectively. Other forest pests have wrought havoc on the forest in past years including the spongy moth (Lymantria dispar), where during the years 2006-2008, over 2 million acres of forest land were defoliated from infestation (Albright et al. 2017).



Figure 3. Core forest area within Pennsylvania. Albright et al. 2017.

Current Forest Composition

currently Pennsylvania contains approximately 16.7 million acres of forested land (U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA] 2019), which makes up approximately 58% of the total land area. Development and agriculture continue to be the two primary reasons for loss of forested area, although more forest was gained than lost between 2009 and 2014 (Albright et al. 2017). Albright et al. (2017) also reported that currently 56% of forest land is considered 'core' forest (minimum patch size of 1,544 ac.) while 24% has 'high integrity' when it comes to determining fragmentation (Fig. 3). Public (30%) vs. private (70%) ownership (Fig. 4) is important to consider for the state's forest lands and how they are managed. Of the 30% of publicly owned forest land, 27% is owned by state and local governments (USDA 2019).

The most recent Forest Inventory Assessment (FIA) data showed Pennsylvania as having a very diverse forest, with 101 tree species and 16 forest-type groups. The most common FIA 'groups' across the northern tier regions were oak/hickory, maple/beech/birch, followed by white



Figure 4. Public land ownership in Pennsylvania. E. Clees 2022.

pine/red pine/hemlock. Large diameter classes are dominated by oak, red maple, black cherry, sugar maple (*Acer saccharum*) and hemlock. Albright et al. (2017) found that both stand age by percent and area are currently highest within the late successional stages with 29% within the 61–80-year class and 28% within the 81-100-year class. Also, 67% of forestlands are considered as having large diameter stands (hardwoods ≥ 11 " dbh and softwoods \geq 9" dbh) with the majority moderate to fully stocked (35-100%). annual mortality rate Average for Pennsylvania trees was 0.9% during this study, with lowest rates in the northcentral region. Health risks for today's forests include disease, insects, invasive plant competition, herbivory, and fragmentation. Impacts from these stressors have contributed towards the shift in composition and lower regeneration of the forest. Fortunately, managers on public lands have developed plans to address many of these issues through critical partnerships (Johnson et al. 2014, 2016), whether that's managing disease and forest pests through pesticide application, load increasing reducing fuel and regeneration for fire dependent species through prescribed fire (Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources [DCNR] 2020) or reducing herbivory through increased deer harvest (Rosenberry et al. 2009).

Snowfall in Pennsylvania

Average annual snowfall in Pennsylvania varies widely throughout the state ranging from below 50.8 cm in the southeast to over 264 cm in the northwest (Fig. 5; National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration [NOAA] 2022). Snowfall in the state is largely dependent on latitude, elevation, and

effect lake snow from Lake Erie. Latitudinally, the Commonwealth sits between 42.269°N at its northernmost point (Erie County) and 39.721°N at its most southern (Greene County). Elevations within the state range from a low at sea level within the Delaware River in the southeast to a high of 979.3 above MSL at Mt. Davis, in Somerset County in the southwest. Within much of the large, contiguous forested areas of the state found in the northern tier, elevation ranges from 426 above MSL to over 670 above MSL. Much of the potential habitat for marten in the state lies within several different physiographic provinces, including the High Plateau, Deep Valleys, Pittsburgh Low Plateau, and Glaciated High Plateau sections (DCNR 2018). Average annual snowfall across these sections varies from 91 cm to over 243 cm (NOAA 2022). Variables that account for snowpack within the state are challenging to determine and national research conducted on this metric has a large resolution in comparison to the scale of the Pennsylvania specific habitat model (see Habitat Modeling section).



Predictive Climate and Forest Composition Models

An important part of any assessment of this magnitude is understanding how things may change in light of past and current trends. Predicting the future is a challenging, if not impossible, proposition, but managers can take what information is available and draw conclusions on differing potential outcomes. One way this is commonly achieved is through theoretical statistical modeling. To quote the late George E. P. Box, an honored statistician, "All models are wrong, but some are useful." The last decade has seen a large volume of models predicting changes in climate as well as how this may affect characteristics of the landscape including forest composition. Several papers speak specifically to marten within their ranges throughout the country predicting both range expansion (Baltensperger et al. 2017) as well as contraction (Wasserman et al. 2012).

On a region scale (central-eastern North America), Notaro et al. (2014) predicted a decline in snowfall, delayed onset of snow season, reduced persistence of snowpack, and less common but more intense snow events within the next century. Research focusing on the northern Appalachian Mountain range, specifically in regard to marten and lynx impact, predicted a 40% decline in marten populations by 2055 (Carroll 2007). In contrast to a declining snowfall model, albeit on a specific regional scale, Burnett et al. (2003) predicted increasing lake-effect snowfall on the leeward side of the Great Lakes, which would include the northwestern portion of Pennsylvania. Specific to the mid-Atlantic region, Butler-Leopold et al. (2018) predicted increasing temperature and precipitation as well as more extreme temperature shoulders on the year. This could potentially lead to an increase in intensive wildfire, tree mortality,

forest pests and invasive species. An overall loss of forest land (10%) is predicted within the state within the next 50 years (Albright et al. 2017). Forest composition within the Commonwealth is predicted to shift with declines for species such as black cherry, American beech and eastern maples. hemlock, while oak species, hickory and black gum will expand their range (Union of Concerned Scientists [UCS] 2008, Albright et al. 2017, Butler-Leopold et al. 2018). For martens in New England, as well as other locations within their southern range, potential for a warming climate to increase interspecific competition (Jensen and Humphries 2019, Pauli et al. 2022) as well as reduce gene flow among populations has also been predicted (Aylward et al. 2020).

Certainly, according to predictions, the outlook of forests and climate within Pennsylvania, and the greater mid-Atlantic region, will change, providing both positive and negative impacts to our current suite of species. This is crucial to keep in mind when managing forests for the future. It is also important to note that most of the research cited within this section provides caveats that read "...scenarios should be interpreted cautiously" (Carroll 2007) or "These studies suggest inaccurate modeling in areas with complex topography and rapid elevation change" (Butler-Leopold et al. 2018). Albright et al. (2017) said it best in that "...predictions are future possibilities, not future truths." This is not included to be dismissive, but only to highlight several important factors. A change in forest composition does not equal a negative scenario for marten habitat and the northern tier of Pennsylvania has both complex topography and rapid elevation change.

Habitat Modeling

The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) guidelines for reintroduction (IUCN/SSC 2013) stress the importance of ensuring that the cause of previous extinction has since been identified and rectified. In the case of the marten, ensuring that habitat exists within the Commonwealth is perhaps the most important aspect of determining feasibility. Understanding that habitat loss was the primary cause of extirpation for this species, it's imperative that managers properly assess current habitat conditions, including quantity, quality, and connectivity. Much of Pennsylvania's forest has regrown, and age classes within many public lands are well within the late-succession stage (61-100 soon approaching old growth years), (Albright et al. 2017). Note that age class may not always represent suitable marten habitat in complexity which is highly dependent on past management practices. It's also critical to mention that climatic conditions and how they affected composition may have been different prior to extirpation. Modeling habitat across large landscapes provides many challenges, but with advances in remote sensing technology such as airborne Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR; Vierling et al. 2008), satellite imagery, and other detailed imaging software, there has not been a better time to combine the available resources and use this tool for determining habitat suitability.

Several non-spatial (not using Geographic Information Systems) habitat models have been developed for marten (Allen 1984, Bowman and Robitaille 2005, Fecske et al. 2002). Multiple spatially driven models have also been developed (Schulz and Joyce 1992, Kirk and Zielinski 2009, Rustigian-Romsos and Spencer 2010) with some models specific to reintroduction feasibility (Kolbe et al. 2020). Joyce (2018) proved that high pulse LiDAR can measure fine scale habitat structure, such as coarse woody debris, and brought to light the potential of this technology for use in modeling for structural complexity. Modern spatial models are generally built on existing data from that state or province and therefore have limited use for Pennsylvania.

Of all the habitat suitability models referenced within the large majority of marten habitat related literature, Arthur Allen's Habitat Suitability Index (HSI) Model developed in 1984 has been tested across multiple study areas and appears to describe marten habitat well. This model is effective because it can be used across a wide variety of locations throughout the marten's range. It has proved it is still applicable today, even competing with more modern models (Bowman and Robitaille 2005). Its limitation is the requirement of coarse woody debris, and this is a difficult category to measure. We decided to utilize the basic structure of this model to develop an HSI model that could use available spatial information to drive a geospatial model.

We originally selected 5 categories for analysis to include Land Cover, Snow Cover, Percent Canopy Cover, Stand Age, and Coarse Woody Debris. Land Cover data was used to look at forest type (coniferous, deciduous, mixed, etc.) and drew from the National Land Cover Database (U.S. Geological Survey [USGS] 2019). Snow cover data came from the National Weather Service (NOAA 2021) and was given specific values for annual snowfall attributes averaged over the past 30 years which is critical to understand snow condition over time and in the present period. Percent Canopy Cover data came from the LANDFIRE database (U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USDA/USFWS] 2022) and was assigned 5 categorical values. Tree Height data also came from LANDFIRE and was used as a surrogate for stand age (Bowman and Robitaille 2005, Maltamo et al. 2020, Xu et al. 2018, Racine et al. 2014) due to the extensive scale of the model. It also had 5 attributes of values. It should be noted that tree height is not always an indicator of stand age, particularly within mixed stands. This can also hold true for high elevation, xeric ridgetop sites with poor soil quality (Smith et al. 1997). We did attempt to incorporate Coarse Woody Debris, but unfortunately, we were not able to do so on the multi-state scale this model was developed for. Although LiDAR data exists for the study area, there are concerns about the pulse rate accurately depicting ground cover (M. J. Joyce, University of Minnesota, pers. comm.), lack of GIS methods for this process, and lack of time and resources to complete the necessary processes to compute this layer (Joyce et al. 2019).

Attributes within each of the 4 categories' raster datasets (Fig. 6) were



Figure 6. Categories used to develop an American marten habitat suitability model. E. Clees 2022.

reclassified with the original cell value changed to the corresponding HSI value with a range from 0 to 100. The reclassified raster datasets were added together to determine the final suitability value with a value of 400 being the highest suitability. Any cell with a HSI value of 0 was excluded. Focal statistics (ESRI 2022), a method of averaging surrounding cells, was then used on the final suitability raster to determine the mean suitability within the average home range of a marten (8.37 km²; derived from historical averages from 5 projects in MI, MN, NY and WI). A moving window with a radius of 1,631 m within the averaging process using the neighborhood circle method.

This process determined specific areas that might be of high value. Public lands were also overlaid across the map to determine where optimal habitat coincided. We based our study area on nearest known populations of martens with Maine, Michigan, New Hampshire, New York, and Vermont included with Pennsylvania in order to test the model against existing populations (Fig. 7).

Finally, this model was tested and ground-truthed using known locations of



Figure 7. American marten habitat suitability across study area. E. Clees 2022.



Figure 8. Locations of known marten and habitat suitability used to test model. E. Clees 2022.

marten within the study area utilizing two methods (Fig. 8). 'Research' grade American marten observations through iNaturalist (iNaturalist contributors 2022) were exported and overlapped with the focal statistic HSI layer (figure 9). The iNaturalist points were given the HSI value for the corresponding raster cell at each point. Values were then averaged across samples to determine overall average of HSI across the study area. The other method to determine suitability thresholds was using home range data from known populations within the northern Lower Peninsula of Michigan (A. M. Kujawa, LRBOI, unpublished data). Twentysix home ranges, estimated at 95% fixed kernel density, were analyzed by averaging each 30 m² HSI cell within the home ranges prior to running the focal statistic. This result yielded an average HSI within each of the polygon home ranges. The HSI values for each home range were averaged to determine the average HSI value within this study area. Home range HSI values were then averaged to find an overall average HSI value for the project area. Values for both HSI estimation methods were averaged to obtain overall thresholds for ranking suitability (Clees

2022).

Results show that Pennsylvania does indeed have comparable habitat for the American marten to other states with extant marten populations (Fig. 9), with the large majority of suitable habitat occurring within the northern tier which was considered their historical range. Most optimal habitat falls within public land boundaries (Fig. 10), which are a combination of National Forest, State Forest, and State Game Lands. Not only is there high-quality habitat in large measure, but there is also good connectivity within this area. Our model identified habitat within other parts of the state such as the Laurel Highlands and Ridge and Valley sections, however, fragmentation by non-forest land uses is a concern with many of these areas.



Figure 10. Suitable American marten habitat within Pennsylvania public lands. E. Clees 2022.

Revisiting the MVP suggested by Slough (1994) based on research from Strickland et al. (1982) of requiring a contiguous area of 42-125 km² to support a of stable population consisting 50 individuals. Pennsylvania meets those requirements. After analysis, 4,427.3 km² of the 6,306 km² of Optimal habitat and 24,719 km² of the 27,780 km² of Optimal and High combined is considered contiguous when analyzed at the threshold of 42 km² and above. Taking these values, dividing by 42



Figure 9. American marten habitat suitability results for Pennsylvania. E. Clees 2022.

and multiplying by 50 (stable population) gives us a rough estimate of how many martens Pennsylvania could potentially support based on habitat suitability modeling results.

There are potential limitations to this model, being that equal weighting of all categories has the potential to over-estimate suitable habitat. Structural complexity, which is critical to marten, is extremely difficult to determine without having appropriate data on coarse woody debris. Finally, this model does not account for climatic conditions or resulting abiotic-productivity-intraguild interactions or relationships that ultimately dictate the presence and persistence of marten populations. These interactions will be addressed further on within this document.

Field Assessment

In 2021. the Pennsylvania Marten Reintroduction Assessment Working Group decided to invite American marten specialists to Pennsylvania from across the northeast and Upper Mid-west to tour and provide feedback concerning Pennsylvania's current state of habitat suitability for marten. Unfortunately, due to the COVID pandemic, restricted travel, and a relatively short timeline, only 4 biologists representing Michigan and Minnesota were able to attend, but their combined experience paired with a strong knowledge base of marten life history

and habitat needs proved invaluable during their time in the Commonwealth. This field assessment occurred over three days (1-3 November 2021), with the intention of focusing on Pennsylvania's northern tier (i.e., High Allegheny Plateau ecoregion), and the variety of forested habitat types it exhibits. The tour started within the Allegheny National Forest (ANF) Marienville Ranger Station, where we met with representatives from the U.S. Forest Service, Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC) Northwest region biologists, and members of the Working Group who represent the Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources (DCNR) as well as two bureaus within PGC (Wildlife Habitat Management and Wildlife Management).

From ANF, the tour continued eastward along Route 6, traversing what is largely privately held forest before passing through Susquehannock State Forest and arriving at State Game Lands (SGL) 208. Here, the team met with a PGC land manager, wildlife management supervisor, geospatial specialist, and forester, as well as a DCNR forester from the local district. Stops included a timber management area on SGL 208 and a late succession drainage area on Tioga State Forest. After spending the night in Williamsport, the team toured the Loyalsock State Forest, meeting with DCNR district managers and foresters, and then traveled through Ricketts Glen State Park and State Game Lands 13 before arriving at State Game Lands 57 (Fig. 11), where the team met with PGC land managers, biologists, game wardens, and senior staff. All told, this tour covered 20 counties traveling close to 600 miles through a large portion of Pennsylvania's northern forested areas. This also allowed for a diversity of partner agency personnel to ask questions, raise concerns,

and hear directly from experts in the field of marten ecology and marten reintroduction.



Figure 11. The habitat assessment team pauses for a photograph at State Game Lands 57. T. Graziano 2021.

Overall impressions from species experts were extremely positive. The primary takeaway messages were (M. J. Joyce, University of Minnesota, pers. comm.):

- There appears to be an abundance of adequate ground complexity which is critical resting and foraging habitat as well as access to the subnivean layer over winter.
- There appeared to be an abundance of adequate cavities suitable to martens for both resting and denning sites.
- There is adequate high canopy cover, appropriate for marten habitat.
- Both conifer and mixed stands were of high quality for marten at all elevations with hemlock and white pine, the predominant conifer species.
- The forested landscape has high overall connectivity for marten with minimal fragmentation from rural development, harvest, roads, and energy development.
- Based on habitat complexity and historic local research, prey abundance and diversity should be adequate for marten.

Reviewers also provided several recommendations. Concerning the habitat model, accounting for annual snowfall and persistence would be key to assessing the subnivean potential, as well as analyzing the habitat quality at the home range scale. Primary concern focused on intraguild and interspecific competition, mainly between marten, fisher, and bobcat. They suggested that snow depth might be an important factor in reducing potential conflict, but also noted that fisher and marten co-occur throughout their range in Minnesota and Michigan's Upper Peninsula. Other concerns centered on future climate unknowns and how that may affect forest composition and structure. None were overly concerned with potential negative impacts to possible prey species of conservation citing their generalist diet. All told, these experts were very pleased with habitat quantity, quality, and connectivity and on several occasions remarked that specific locations possessed higher quality habitat than some occupied ranges within their own states.



Kahlan Fuhrer, Grade 12, Bangor, PA

Public Opinion

Successful wildlife management relies primarily on sound scientific methods and data, but also considers social aspects. As the state agency responsible for the management of 480 species of wild birds and mammals in Pennsylvania, held in trust for the citizens of this state (COP 1971), the PGC must gauge interest or support for such a project.

Pennsylvania State University Surveys

The Center for Survey Research (CSR) at Penn State, an unbiased third party, administered two statewide surveys, one completed in 2022 and then replicated a year later in 2023 (Fig. 12). The survey instrument used was a Qualtrics[™] online survey. The CSR contracted Marketing Systems Group to survey respondents from across Pennsylvania. The survey was designed to eliminate bias towards location, age, or gender. Respondents were adults who chose to participate as part of a panel. Two questions concerning American marten reintroduction were included within a larger survey. (See Appx. 2)

2022 Results – In 2022, 72,707 Pennsylvania residents were invited to participate, with a total of 1,047 respondents, representing 63 of the 67 counties. Participation rate was 1.8% and survey margin of error was +/-3.0%. **Support of marten reintroduction averaged 92% across categories; opposed averaged 8%**. These did not vary significantly across or within categories (i.e., gender, age, identity as a hunter) (Appendix 2).

2023 Results – In 2023, 60,760 Pennsylvania residents were invited to participate, with a

total of 1,045 respondents, representing 61 of the 67 counties. Participation rate was 2.5% and survey margin of error was +/-3.0%/ **Overall support of marten reintroduction averaged 91% across categories and opposed averaged 9%**. These results did not vary significantly across or within categories (Appendix 2).

Responsive Management

A survey was conducted in the spring of 2023 by Responsive Management, an unbiased third party, and was a telephone survey to randomly selected Pennsylvania residents. A sample goal of 150 residents from each of the 22 state Wildlife Management Units (WMUs) was completed totaling 3,300 resident respondents statewide. Although this survey asked questions relating to a wide and diverse set of issues and species, several questions were dedicated to marten reintroduction within one of the 'splits'. In total, 850 respondents provided their opinion on martens, representing 66 of 67 counties. Results had a confidence interval of 95% with a margin of +/-4%. The first question focused on feelings towards reintroducing extirpated species to Pennsylvania that were once native. The second question asked whether residents were familiar with the American marten (formerly pine marten). This question was followed with basic information concerning the marten, its former status in Pennsylvania, its diet and habitat, as well as when and why it disappeared from the state. Additional information was available if prompted including its size, its current range, and additional information on diet and habitat. The third question relating to marten asked residents about whether they support or oppose reintroduction of the American marten to Pennsylvania. If they answered

'opposed,', a follow up question asking why they were opposed was asked. These answers were then categorized by the interviewer.

Results found that of those surveyed, 73% supported extirpated species restoration while 11% opposed (16% were 'neither' or 'didn't know'). It found that 38% of residents were familiar with the American marten while 61% were not (2% 'didn't know'). Of all Pennsylvania residents surveyed, 80% supported while 8% opposed (11% 'neither' or 'don't know') and of all hunters surveyed, 76% supported while 13% opposed. When censoring 'neither' and 'don't know' in order to make a direct comparison with the Penn State surveys, 91% of all Pennsylvania respondents with an opinion supported marten reintroduction while 9% opposed. Doing the same for hunters, 85% supported and 15% opposed (Fig 12). Of those opposed, the most common reasons were wildlife predation concerns (31%), turkey predation concerns (14%), and livestock predation concerns (14%).



Figure 12. Public opinion survey results from 2022 and 2023 excluding PGC hunter survey.

PGC Hunter Survey

A survey was conducted in the fall of 2023 by the Pennsylvania Game Commission Information and Education Bureau. This was a hybrid survey, both email and paper, and
was sent to 20,000 Pennsylvania resident hunters who purchased a Pennsylvania hunting license at least three out of five years from license years 2019-20 to 2023-24. Preliminary survey results as of 12 December 2023 had 8,108 responses representing all 67 counties.

In addition to questions about martens, this survey addressed a variety of subjects including Sunday hunting and antler point restrictions. For the marten questions, a brief description followed by a question concerning support or opposition of reintroduction was found within the survey. If a respondent indicated opposition, they were asked a follow up question prompting reasons for opposition with 4 pre-selected categories and 1 'other' category with fillable space.

Preliminary results, as of 12 December 2023 (Fig. 13) utilizing a fivepoint scale from strongly support to strongly oppose, with strongly support and moderately support combined, as well as strongly opposed and moderately opposed combined showed that **31% of responding** hunters opposed reintroduction, 31% neither opposed nor supported, and 38% of hunters supported reintroduction. If the 'neither' category is censored, 57.2% of hunters support while 45.8% oppose reintroduction of the American marten to Pennsylvania. Of those opposed, the most common reasons were small game predation concerns (76%), turkey predation concerns (71%), additional predator concern (57%), domestic animal predation (50%), and other (12%). Respondents had the opportunity to select multiple categories.

The description and questions were different than the previous three surveys, so a

direct comparison cannot be made. Two things are important to note, however, first, this survey focuses not on self-identified hunters, but active license buyers. Secondly, **69% of hunters in Pennsylvania either support or expressed neither support nor opposition to the reintroduction of American martens into Pennsylvania**.



Figure 13. PGC hunter opinion survey results from 2023.

Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction

Reintroduction of a missing piece to the ecosystem can potentially create changes that are difficult to anticipate, so ensuring these changes are considered is important when making management decisions on this scale. Concerns within Pennsylvania likely center around how marten could negatively impact a variety of both game and non-game species, how other predators might negatively impact reintroduced marten and their survival, and how an unknown change in climate could affect marten long-term survival within the state. Several other concerns have been identified throughout the review process as well including incidental harvest, long-term genetic viability, and the potential for future litigation.

Impacts to Other Species

With any predator species reintroduction,

there is much trepidation from both wildlife managers as well as the public with concern to how this might impact their species or community of interest (Serfass et al. 2003). Some modeling work has been done for large, keystone predators such as wolves (Baker et al. 2016) to predict changes, but little for species such as the marten. Concerns considering direct mortality to other species should first be addressed through prior diet studies to determine if any one species, or group of species is at risk. A total of 664 (SGCN) have been identified within the 2015-2025 Pennsylvania Wildlife Action Plan (PGC-PFBC 2015), with 68% invertebrates, 14% birds, 10% fish, 3% reptiles, 3% mammals, and 2% amphibians.

Of these species that share a similar habitat and space use type, a variety of birds, several mammals, and a select few reptiles and amphibians have the potential to be impacted reintroduction. by marten Understanding how marten could impact invertebrates is difficult to measure. particularly with the lack of research, but we do know that insects can make up a significant portion of their diet (17.8% FO) depending on time of year. Avian and mammalian species identified as potential species of impact (PSOI) from this list are the northern goshawk, blackpoll warbler (Dendoica striata), yellow-bellied flycatcher (Empidonax flaviventris), ruffed grouse, northern flying squirrel (Glaucomys sabrinus macrotis), Allegheny woodrat (Neotoma magister), Appalachian cottontail (Sylvilagus obscurus), and several shrew species (Sorex spp.). Additional species that are not included within the Action Plan that have been identified as PSOI are snowshoe hare, and wild turkey (Maleagris gallipavo). There may be other species that a variety of groups and individuals might also consider as PSOI.

The Pennsylvania Western Conservancy was contracted to provide a spatial analysis of SGCN, identifying occurrence locations (Western Pennsylvania Conservancy [WPC] 2022). The six species that were targeted were goshawk, grouse, woodrat. northern flying squirrel, Appalachian cottontail, and rock vole (Microtus chrotorrhinus). Within the designated study area, based on available habitat, they detected 3,441 occurrence features throughout. These data were derived from the Conservation Opportunity Area Tool (PGC-PFBC 2019) and included occurrences from a variety of sources from 1983 – 2021. These data can provide important information on both individual locations of PSOI as well as high-density areas. The report recommended further evaluation of highly sensitive occurrence areas as well as long-term monitoring of these in the case of a reintroduction effort (WPC 2022).

It is important to again stress the fact that martens are highly adaptive dietary generalists (Zhou et al. 2011). No research has pointed towards selectivity, only an opportunistic approach to hunting and feeding within a relatively large home range (see Diet section above). Martens don't control prey species excepting potentially rodents (Anderson and Erlinge 1977), but rather in some cases are controlled by fluctuations in prey species (Thompson and Colgan 1987, Fryxell 1999). This large diversity of prey has been well documented through an extensive sample of diet research from across their range in North America (Fig. 13). When diet composition is broken into 7 basic categories, it's easy to identify not only how diverse their diet is, but what prey group makes up the large majority of their diet. Small mammals (68.2% FO) are by

far and away the highest, while the 'other' (23.3% FO) category, which includes insects, cervid carrion, fish, amphibians, reptiles and a species of western woodrat is second, plants (21.7% FO) are third, birds (12.3% FO) are fourth, squirrels (11.5%) FO) fifth. lagomorphs (9.3% FO) sixth, and mustelids (2.7% FO) are seventh. Of course, without having Pennsylvania specific data we can only speculate that this would remain true here. We can, however, examine the fisher in Pennsylvania, and find a similar diversity of prey items. Diet research from McNeil et al. (2017) found only one of the previously listed PSOI, that being the Allegheny woodrat (cottontail spp. are not separated between Appalachian and eastern), within fisher stomach contents. We can assume that a smaller mustelid species that shares a significant portion of diet range with fisher would have a similar range of diet.

Species such as ruffed grouse and snowshoe hare are currently experiencing declines within Pennsylvania due to disease (Stauffer et al. 2018, Nemeth 2021) and habitat loss (Diefenbach et al. 2016, Dessecker and McAuley 2001). Wild turkey populations within the state are generally stable to increasing excepting 3 WMUs, however, turkey have not been identified within diet research for marten. The Allegheny woodrat also struggles with habitat loss (Balcom and Yahner 1996) and disease threats (LoGiudice 2000), while many other avian species considered SGCN face continued habitat loss as well as pesticide concerns (Rosenberg et al. 2019).

With very few records of breeding northern goshawk within the state, there has been some concern voiced of a threat from marten reintroduction. Goshawk are considered one of the primary avian

predators for the marten (Bull and Heater 2001, Squires 2000: see Mortality section). One specific instance of a marten predating a goshawk could be found in the literature (Paragi and Wholecheese 1994). Personal communications with а researcher conducting telemetry work with marten in Michigan found a telemetry collar from a marten underneath the predated nest of a goshawk (R. Sanders, MI DNR, pers. comm.). Much could be assumed from this instance such as marten predation of a nest and goshawk predation of a marten. In an evaluation on the decline of goshawks, Reynolds et al. (2006) noted that marten are potential predators for the species, however, predation is unlikely a major contributing factor to population dynamics, instead pointing towards forest structure and food availability.

Based on extensive prior diet research (Fig. 14), marten predation on these 'rare' species having low abundance should be minimal and have little to no impact on overall species populations. It is recommended, however, that pre- and postrelease monitoring of PSOI species within release areas be conducted to measure any significant impact that may occur. It's important to note there are many examples of locations where PSOI species ranges overlap with marten and populations of both are healthy and abundant. A project such as this has the potential to benefit this suite of species that share similar habitat through an influx of resources towards improving a structurally diverse habitat on the landscape, increased education, and monitoring of a community based on a single umbrella or flagship species such as the marten (Roberge and Angelstam 2004).



Figure 14. An average of 13 American marten diet studies throughout the marten range by % frequency of occurrence and species. See Appendix 1 for additional details.

Forest heterogeneity (described in Interspecific Competition) having structural complexity benefit many of the PSOI species identified, and efforts such as Dynamic Forest Restoration Blocks (Maryland Department of Natural Resources [MDNR] 2022, Ruffed Grouse Society [RGS] 2022) being promoted by the Dynamic Forest Partnership and the Ruffed Grouse Society fit well into the habitat needs of marten by providing these important characteristics. As managers from state, federal, tribal, and local government organizations as well as NGO's dedicated to species conservation through habitat management face continued challenges whether that be limited resources, disease risks, or invasive species, its critical to partner with each other to advance species diversity and needed habitat for these large suites of species. Collaboration rather than isolation and competition is so much more effective and impactful for the resource. This project offers that opportunity by working together for the forest community.

Climate Impacts

The impact of climate and its potential for change over time is an important consideration for how a species reintroduction may succeed in future years. Review of literature concerning climate impacts, specifically for marten, provided mixed results on whether they would be positive or negative with predictions for snowfall changes variable within the state; while the future of forest composition within Pennsylvania could see both loses and gains of important species for marten habitat (see Predictive Climate and Forest Composition Models section). Many of the large-scale, Northeast region predictions, unfortunately, challenge spell for most current communities, including marten within their southern ranges (Pauli et al. 2022, Lawler et al. 2012).

Fortunately, it appears that the historic range of marten within Pennsylvania (and the current area of existing habitat), the northern tier, possesses some attributes that may allow this area to persist as landscapes with suitable conditions for marten even with predictions of changing snowfall and forest composition. With increased variation in topography at higher elevations (Jensen and Humphries 2019), what is considered 'mountainous refugia' (Carroll 2007), and the potential for increased snowfall within northwestern Pennsylvania from lake effect (Burnett et al. 2003) downwind of the Great Lakes as referenced, some biotic and abiotic conditions may help insulate negative within impacts marten the to Commonwealth. There is also some evidence that both passive (reduced fragmentation and overstory removal: Steventon and Daust 2009) and active habitat management strategies (anthropogenic refugia development: Morelli et al. 2012, Zielinski et al. 2017) can be employed. The Resilient Land Mapping Tool from The Nature Conservancy shows strong resilience (climatic diversity that increases persistence and retention of biodiversity), flow (ability for populations to move in response to changing climate) and biodiversity value



Figure 15. Resilience, flow and recognized biodiversity of Pennsylvania. E. Clees (data from Anderson et al. 2016).

overlapping current habitat for martens in Pennsylvania (Anderson et al. 2016, Fig. 15).

Research from California focusing on niche overlap between marten (M. americana and *M. caurina*) and fisher found that martens were expanding their range into lower elevations with warmer temperatures and reduced snowpack (Zielinski et al. 2017), potentially highlighting adaptability to a warmer climate. Although there is much unknown behind how climate might change, the severity of change, and its impact on the landscape, managers should embrace adaptive management strategies that promote habitat structural continued diversity. complexity, and connectivity.

Interspecific Competition

The relationship between marten and other predator species that share both diet and space, in particular the fisher, is one of the most widely researched aspects of marten biology besides habitat (Pauli et al. 2022, Jensen and Humphries 2017, Zielinski et al. 2017, Manlick et al. 2017, Fisher et al. 2013, McCann 2011). Regardless of the variety of research, this exact relationship continues to prove somewhat elusive (see *Interspecific* *Competition* section). It is, however, a major concern for a reintroduction project within Pennsylvania as competitor species such as fisher, bobcat and coyote continue to show stable to increasing populations over the long-term (Keller 2022b). There are several factors identified within literature that appear to allow for sympatry and minimize interspecific competition.

Size of various food items can allow for sympatry through diet partitioning, with larger competitors preferring larger prey, especially during winter, such as deer carrion (Raine 1981, Jensen and Humphries 2019 Pauli et al. 2022). Each year, approximately 30% of white-tailed deer mortalities do not involve deer hunting (Rosenberry et al. 2009). The 300,000 to 400,000 white-tailed deer taken by deer hunters each year (PGC 2022) represent the remaining 70% of mortalities. As a result, tens of thousands of potential deer carcasses are available to predators/scavengers throughout Pennsylvania each year. Prey abundance and diversity is high within the state (WPC 2022), providing opportunity for diet partitioning throughout the year and lessening competition for a specific prey species.

Another important factor is the presence of a subnivean space throughout winter from which marten can hunt with very little competition (Buskirk and Powell 1994) from larger predators, as well as find safe refugia for resting locations (Joyce et al. 2017, Krohn et al. 1995, 1997, 2005; Raine 1981). With minimum snow depth for subnivean establishment 10 at cm (Thompson et al. 2018), Pennsylvania's marten habitat within the northern tier, paired with variability of elevation and topography, and matched with this region's average annual snowfall ranging from 76-280 cm (NOAA 2022), should provide adequate subnivean space for marten throughout the winter.

The concept of habitat and spatial heterogeneity has also been identified as an important factor for coexistence (Fisher et al. 2013, Manlick et al. 2020, Pauli et al. 2022). Marten habitat identified in Pennsylvania falls within very diverse, and contiguous sections of forest that have extremely low anthropogenic development and fragmentation (Albright et al. 2017). This area also occurs within a region of higher elevation and variation in topography, two additional factors that can contribute to niche or habitat partitioning between competitors (Pauli et al. 2022, Zielinski et al. 2017, Rosenzweig 1966, Raine 1981). Pauli et al. (2022) postulate that where segregation occurs, densities for both species increase, while areas of coexistence see lower marten densities. This is an important aspect to keep in mind, that should marten be reintroduced, they may remain at a lower density but at a self-sustaining level as is seen in other parts of their range. Although Pennsylvania would be considered on the very southern range of marten within the east, many of the factors that contribute to increased interspecific competition are negated due to the current biotic and abiotic conditions, providing for an increase in partitioning and in the likelihood of successful reintroduction.

Other Concerns

Incidental Capture - Concern from incidental trapping has been expressed from experts throughout the Mid-West and Northeast where some reintroduction efforts have experienced this. Although valid, due to the susceptibility of marten to trapping, unlike these states, Pennsylvania does not allow the use of conibears outside of an established watercourse, waterway, marsh, pond, or dam (PGA 1986b). This would not preclude marten from becoming captured within foothold traps set on land for a variety of other species but would potentially allow any captured marten to be released unharmed if no serious damage occurs while in a trap. An important aspect of this concern will be working with trappers to educate on the importance of selectivity and avoidance within areas that marten would inhabit.

Population Persistence - Another valid concern from experts is population resilience and persistence, specifically maintaining genetic heterozygosity over the long-term. Although a reintroduction in Pennsylvania would be considered an 'isolated' population on the southern extent of their range within the east (Aylward et al. 2020), there are currently many other examples of 'isolated' self-sustaining populations on a much smaller scale of available habitat than what the Commonwealth can provide. States such as South Dakota (Fecske 2003), Montana (MFWP 2020), and Michigan (Gehring et al. 2019) have all conducted successful reintroduction efforts creating 'isolated' populations. Martens continue to persist on islands within Lake Superior (Smith et al. 2021) and the Gulf of Alaska (Small et al. 2002) with little to no genetic ingress/egress. Regardless, genetic monitoring should play an important role throughout the process of a reintroduction, from how and where animals are sourced, to what genetic diversity looks like into the future of a population (see Conservation Genetics section).

Domestic Animal Predation – Concern for domestic animal health and safety was evident from public outreach events, public opinion surveys as well as from the public

review and comment period. Concern ranged from various livestock animals including poultry and sheep to pets such as domestic cats and dogs. Detailed marten diet analysis (see Diet section) did not identify any domestic animals. An exhaustive literature review also did not turn up any evidence of domestic animal predation as well as communications with wildlife personal managers in states having marten populations. Some anecdotal evidence exists within popular media of marten predating poultry but can't be substantiated.

Based on marten habitat needs and preferences (see Habitat section) as well as the identified areas of suitable habitat within Pennsylvania (see Habitat Modeling section), it is very unlikely that martens would encounter domestic animals in Pennsylvania. This is due in part to their secretive nature as well as suitable habitat found within the lowest human population densities within the Commonwealth. Despite a lack of evidence, it is important to continue to encourage poultry owners to ensure they are using best management practices to protect their stock from predation. If stock is properly and successfully protected against weasel or mink predation, it would therefore be protected from the potential for marten predation.

Litigation - Lastly, a concern from partners that are working for SGCN species within the state sharing similar habitat needs to the marten is that of possible litigation that could arise with the return of the American marten. Prior lawsuits from environmental groups in Wisconsin (ELPC 2020 & 2023, USDA 2009) and California (EPIC 2019) have unsuccessfully attempted to halt state and federal agency plans for habitat management. Three of these cases specifically named the marten as a reason for concern. What should be noted, however, is that within these three cases, both marten species were considered either state and/or federally listed as threatened or endangered. Within the Wisconsin cases, the American marten is not classified as a furbearer, as it currently is in Pennsylvania, but as a state endangered species (WIDNR 2011). In the case of California, the marten in question is the Pacific or Humbolt marten, a different species than the American marten and listed as state endangered in California (CNDDB 2023) and federally threatened (FR 2018).

Of course, public agencies, like private industry, encounter restrictions within Pennsylvania with listed species when it comes to forestry or energy extraction and must fall within the bounds of laws and regulations in place. Fortunately, in the case of the American marten in Pennsylvania, it is currently classified as a furbearer (34 PA §1.102) and like the fisher and river otter reintroductions of the past, is already managed solely through the Pennsylvania Game Commission Director and Board of Commissioners (58 PA §139.3). Additional protection against litigation would be classifying the species as an 'experimental' 'experimental furbearer species. This population' status is often used within the federal framework of reintroductions as it relates to the Endangered Species Act (CFR 2023b). In the case of this classification in Pennsylvania, this does not afford those species any additional regulatory protection does classification as as threatened. endangered, or even SGCN. This would therefore not restrict timber management or energy extraction within the state, and prevent the marten being used within a lawsuit against state and federal agencies trying to manage lands for wildlife habitat.

Other important considerations when considering the potential for litigation is to look for precedence with similar furbearer reintroduction efforts in Pennsylvania, which have not been found. Another is ensuring that a strong, science-based, and peer reviewed management plan and feasibility assessment are in place that provide defensible justification.



Mackenzie Howles, Grade 10, Saegertown, PA

Reintroduction

Objectives of Reintroduction

Translocation, the intentional movement of a species from one location to another, has been conducted throughout the world over a broad spectrum of species. The three common objectives of translocation are to establish, reestablish or augment a species population (Griffith et al. 1989). International Union for Conservation of Nature/ Species Survival Commission (IUCN/SSC) (2013) defines reintroduction as "the intentional movement and release of an organism inside its indigenous range from which it has disappeared." Regarding what characterizes a successful translocation or reintroduction effort, the primary goal is a self-sustaining wild population (Seddon et al. 2014, Griffith et al. 1989). Prior to conducting a reintroduction effort, a variety of factors should be considered. Defining the need for a project of this scope is critical. Developing a feasibility assessment (Keller 2022a) that encompasses pertinent biological and nonbiological factors ensures that the decision is not made lightly or without thought. Biologically, this includes general life history information that can speak to how a species fits within the community as well as important habitat needs, general diet information, and climate considerations. Non-biologically, it is important to consider the social aspects of a reintroduction effort, specifically how this project might affect the surrounding community, stakeholder support, opposition from individuals and groups, economic impacts, and cultural considerations (IUCN/SSC 2013). Α significant portion of the feasibility evaluation addressed proper risk assessment, to include disease/parasite risk to other extant species, risk to both potential prey species as well as competitors, risk to the translocated species welfare, and social risks as mentioned previously (Keller 2022a).

A History of Reintroduction in Pennsylvania

Pennsylvania has a robust historic record of successful species reintroduction efforts. Following post-settlement anthropogenic induced habitat loss, many species, primarily habitat specialists, were extirpated. What species remained were considered generalists or retreated into the remaining habitat that

was largely inaccessible to humans. As forests regrew, water quality improved, and regulated harvest or protections were put into place. State agencies in partnership with universities, NGOs, and individuals began to pursue reintroduction as a tool to restore native species back to the Commonwealth. Culturally important game species such as white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) and wild turkey (Meleagris gallopavo) were some of the first to see reintroduction efforts. followed by Elk (Cervus canadensis). Bald eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus), peregrine falcons (Falco peregrinus), and osprey (Pandion haliaetus) all returned to the state through intensive reintroduction efforts following pesticide related declines (Kosack 1995). Aquatic species such as American eel (Anguilla rostrata; Newhard et al 2021), northern riffleshell (Epioblasma rangiana), clubshell (Pleurobema clava; Tiemann et al. 2013) and invertebrates like the regal fritillary (Speyeria idalia; Becker 2016) have all seen successful population expansion through reintroduction or are in the midst of promising reintroduction efforts. Of all species groups, furbearers have seen extraordinary success within Pennsylvania through reintroduction. Beavers (Castor canadensis) were extirpated by the end of the 19th century as well as fisher, while river otter (Lontra canadensis) were driven to near extirpation during this time with very few individuals remaining in the isolated wetlands of the northeast region. Translocation projects beginning in the early 1900s for beaver, 1982-2004 for river otter, and mid 1990s for fisher, were all successful in returning these iconic species to the forests and waterways of the state (Kosack 1995). Today, many of these species continue to expand their ranges throughout Pennsylvania through dispersal into existing habitat.

Currently, the Commission is working towards restoring bobwhite quail (*Colinus virginianus*) through habitat management and translocation efforts proving that this technique is still relevant for returning native species to the community. That's not to say that reintroduction has always been successful, but many past failures have been the result of no prior assessment, poorly established habitat, and a lack of planning.

Marten Reintroduction Efforts

American marten may be one of the most frequently translocated furbearing species to date in North America. Past translocation efforts are a rich source of information in assisting with developing a robust plan and learning from both successes and failures. Fifty-two translocations have been conducted for American marten, with 40 of those being reintroductions, while the remainder were augmentations within an existing population or original introductions (Powell et. al. 2012, J. Kolbe, personal communication). These occurred within 9 states and 7 Canadian provinces (Fig. 2). Thirty-nine of these reintroductions have already occurred while one effort in Montana is in progress (Kolbe et al. 2020). Of the past 39 reintroductions, 20 succeeded, 9 failed and 10 had uncertain outcomes (Powell et al. 2012). Since Powell et al. 2012, the reintroduction project from Vermont's Green Mountains has been deemed a success with the newly discovered establishment of a population (O'Brien et al. 2018), changing success rate to 54% and failure rate to 21% (25% unknown). Because Vermont's reintroduction commenced in 1991, but was not quantifiably successful until 2018, it demonstrates that marten populations are resilient and can go unnoticed without careful monitoring.

reintroduction efforts have had success, those that have failed generally were thought to have been the result of too few founding individuals, or release into poor or unsuitable habitat (Powell et. al. 2012). Powell et al. (2012) developed important modeling based on biological information and data gained from a variety of similar Mustelidae species reintroductions to help predict reasons for success or failure. Primary findings focused on several important aspects, including sex ratio, number of total females, number of adult females, and number of release sites. The model showed that as the number of adult females and number of release sites increase, success also increases. Speaking specifically to the total number of martens at a release site, >60 individuals could increase success. Previous reintroductions have spanned anywhere from 1-8 years, but number of years did not impact success within the model. Another important question is that of proximity to the source populations. In other species, reintroducing a species such as quail is thought to have high importance with proximity of source to release due to local adaptations to habitats, food sources, climate, and predators (Martin et al. 2017). Unlike quail, proximity did not play a role with marten reintroduction success. Although further research is needed, the idea of having multiple sources to genetic diversity and increase avoid bottleneck often is thought to be important in reintroduction efforts (Serfass et al. 2003, Powell et al. 2012). Another variable that did have an effect in reintroductions was protection (i.e., harvest restriction). Some reintroductions did not provide protection, which did not appear to factor into success or failure.

Although the majority of marten



Alaina Boswell, Grade 7, Cranberry Township, PA

Translocation

Requirements for a Self-Sustaining Population

Number of Individuals - Minimum requirements for a self-sustaining population have been covered previously (see Dispersal, Home Range, and Minimum Population Viability section) and although differences of opinion exist on starting number for а translocation. the differentiation likely is due to the difference in resource availability within release sites. Powell et al. (2012), Strickland et al. (1986), Slough (1992), and most recently Kolbe et al. (2020) have recommended 50-60 founding for long-term persistence. marten Pennsylvania's American marten reintroduction will target a minimum of 60 individuals for each release location. although this number may increase within a given release location if additional animals are readily available.

Sex Ratio - Much of the past research also recommend a female--biased sex ratio, and some consider adult females to be an important aspect (Powell et al. 2012). The

number of juvenile females did not influence success. It was found that a sex ratio of 1:4 (males: females) greatly influenced success and has been recommended. What was difficult to determine based on research from Powell (2012) was how many 'effective' breeding males are available. This could mean that more males are necessary than the 1:4 ratio recommended if some males are juveniles and non-breeders at the time of release. With this consideration in mind, this project will attempt to bias founders toward females, if possible, and at the least will ensure a minimum 1:1 ratio of males to females. Animal age is notoriously difficult to determine within a reasonable amount of during a translocation time process. Managers will do their best to estimate age (see *Biologic Data* section below) and track this throughout the process but will not weight this factor heavily during the project.

Translocation Dispersal – As with most reintroduction efforts, a certain number of animals will disperse out of the release area. This is common with many historic carnivore reintroduction efforts including marten (Davis 1983, Fritts et al. 1984, Proulx et al. 1994, Spinola et al. 2008, Woodford et al. 2013, Day et al. 2021). With the understanding of marten spacing and population density, the idea that some martens are transitory (Powell 1994, Slough 1994) will contribute to potential dispersal as well. This underscores the importance of the number of individuals released, but also how animal release points are distributed within a release area (see Release section).

Project Scale - Literature provides some guidance on the distance between locations and states that for release sites to be 'independent,' or not of the same site, they should be at least 50 km from the next location (Slough 1994, Powell et. al. 2012). Evaluating the release locations in Pennsylvania, the shortest distance between adjacent prospective release sites is 35 km while the longest is 207 km and average is approximately 47 km.

Release Location Selection

The foremost consideration for reintroducing a habitat specialist like marten is to choose large, contiguous, and well-connected areas of highly suitable habitat. Using the habitat suitability model (see Habitat Modeling section) developed for this project, most of the best-suited areas for re-establishment are within the northern tier (Fig. 9). Special consideration is given to contiguous areas of at least 125 km² (Fig. 16) where potential restoration success is highest (see Dispersal, Range Minimum Viable Home and Population section). Public land areas will be critical when it comes to providing core areas of persistent habitat through time (Fig. 10). With long-term management plans in place for most public lands (PGC 2021, DCNR 2016 and 2020, USFS 2007), loss of habitat due to natural resource markets and land conversion is of lesser concern than on privately held lands. Recent reintroduction efforts for pheasant on private lands within Pennsylvania have proven difficult largely due to agricultural commodities providing greater perceived financial benefit to private landowners compared to long-term federal subsidy programs that kept important warmseason grass plantings and other habitat practices in place (Klinger and Keller 2019). Public ownership and long-term plans also prevent mass deforestation, which was one of the two primary causes of extirpation of American marten in Pennsylvania.

Habitat fragmentation and presence of natural refugia can be significant when selecting release locations (see Habitat section). Fragmentation from features such as highways and utility corridors can act as major barriers to population growth through dispersal and occupancy of available habitat (Gehring et al. 2019). Marten can be very susceptible to trapping, even incidentally, with males and juveniles having a higher probability of encountering traps during dispersal or within larger home ranges (Clark et. al 1987, Strickland and Douglas 1987). Powell et al (2012) found when evaluating successful translocation efforts within the Martes clade that one of the keys to success was protecting populations from harvest. The idea of providing 'refuge' type areas where harvest, or incidental capture, could be minimized has played an important role in continued healthy ensuring marten populations (De Vos 1951, Lensink 1953, Van Zyll de Jong 1969, Strickland and Douglas 1987, Strickland 1994). In the event of a potential for sustainable harvest, focusing on areas of natural refugia rather than closing specific areas to harvest may be an important aspect of management in the future. Working to educate and partner with trappers within release areas will be of higher benefit rather than placing additional restrictions on trapping.

As has occurred with other successful mustelid releases in Pennsylvania (Serfass et al. 1999 and 2003, Hardisky 2001), multiple reintroduction sites have been selected to develop sub-populations. Five primary release areas with multiple sites within have been selected in optimal and highly suitable habitat having high connectivity (Fig. 16). These prioritized release areas allow for



Figure 16. American marten primary and optional release areas and locations with contiguous suitable habitat.

natural dispersal to begin connecting these areas as the project progresses. Release sites are found within a combination of DCNR-, USFS-, and PGC-owned lands within the northern tier of the state. These locations were selected in close collaboration with partner agencies (see *Public Land Management Partners* section below).

Hammersley Wild Area – Located in Potter and Clinton counties (Fig.17), this 30,253acre (12,243 ha) tract is managed by the DCNR Susquehannock State Forest district.

Historically this site was home to logging camps from the 1800s as timber was removed from the deep valleys and tall ridges that make up the diverse topography. The DCNR defines a Wild Area as "...an extensive area which the general public will be permitted to see, use and enjoy for such activities as hiking, hunting, fishing, and the pursuit of peace and solitude" (DCNR 2016b). No motorized vehicle access is permitted, and timber management is prohibited with few exceptions. Gas and



Figure 17. Hammersley Wild Area. E. Clees 2023.

mineral rights belong to DCNR. The Hammersley Wild Area is prioritized as the best release location due to its overall size, its remoteness, the entirety of the area falls within optimal habitat, and its central geographic location within a large, contiguous block of suitable habitat within the state. This area presents challenges such as releasing animals within the interior and research or monitoring work. Even so, it appears to provide the keys to a successful translocation effort considering the previously mentioned reasons.

State Game Lands Complex 25, 293, 14 -State Game Lands (SGL) 25 (24,117 acres), SGL 293 (5,472 acres), and SGL 14 (14,947 acres) make up a large tract of public land located in Elk and Cameron counties (Fig. 18). Totaling 44,536 acres, with each parcel connected to state forest lands managed by the Elk State Forest district, this complex provides forested habitat that falls into optimal suitability managed specifically for wildlife habitat. Private parcels do exist between each of the SGLs, although they too largely fall into the optimal habitat category. Long-term game lands plans provide for a mixture of both late succession and early succession management over the next 100 years.



Figure 18. State Game Lands complex of 25, 293, & 14. E. Clees 2023.

Wolf Run Wild Area Complex – The Wolf Run Wild Area, encompassing 6,900 acres, is one part of a series of remote public land holdings. To the north lies the Algerine Wild Area (3,700 acres) and to the south lies the Miller Run Natural Area (4,992 acres) with SGL 68 (3,921 acres) adjoining both Wolf Run and Miller Run. Altogether, this complex includes 19,513 acres in Lycoming County (Fig. 19). With DCNR lands managed by the Tiadaghton State Forest district, this complex offers a unique multiagency management approach to the forest and its wildlife resources. DCNR Natural Areas "are set aside to provide locations for scientific observation of natural systems, to protect examples of typical and unique plant and animal communities, and to protect outstanding examples of natural interest and beauty" (DCNR 2016b). Natural areas have similar restrictions to Wild Areas to allow long-term natural succession to occur, promoting a natural, undisturbed system to operate.



Figure 19. Wolf Run complex. E. Clees 2023.

Allegheny National Forest (ANF) – Within the ANF, there are two tracts of considerable importance. The first (Fig. 20), what is referred to as the Tracy Ridge Recreation Area is a 39,483-acre tract in the northern portion of the forest bordering New York State.

This area in McKean and Warren counties provides a remote portion of the forest with optimal habitat suitability, which extends over into New York's Allegheny State Park and onto Seneca Nation Tribal lands. There is a unique opportunity for managers from both states and the Seneca Nation to establish a new marten population straddling the state line. With this in mind, the Seneca Nation and New York State should be consulted on whether they might be willing to consider this as a benefit and potentially partner with the Pennsylvania effort, if only to monitor occupancy into the future.



Figure 20. The North ANF potential release site, found within the Tracy Ridge Recreation Area. E. Clees 2023.

The second tract under consideration (Fig. 21) is referred to as the Hearts Content Recreation Area. This area has 37,122 acres and includes the Hickory Creek Wilderness Area (8,663 acres) and is directly adjacent to SGL 29 (9,800 acres). Located in Warren County, this area has optimal suitability and is surrounded by highly suitable habitat within the remainder of the National Forest (513,175 acres). The USFS describes Wilderness Areas as "A wilderness, in



Figure 21. The South ANF potential release location found within the Hearts Content Recreation Area. E. Clees 2023.

contrast with those areas where man and his works dominate the landscape, is hereby recognized as an area where the earth and its community of life are untrammeled by man, where man himself is a visitor who does not remain" (USDA 1964). Only one of the ANF tracts will be chosen for release due to their proximity to each other.

Loyalsock State Forest – On the southern portion of this 114,552-acre state forest lies an area of 22,609 acres of optimal suitable habitat for marten containing several important areas (Fig. 22). Both the Kettle Creek Wild Area (2,600 acres) and the Kettle Creek Gorge Natural Area (774 acres) are contained within the State Forest boundary managed by the Loyalsock State Forest



Figure 22. Loyalsock State Forest and associated State Game Lands. E. Clees 2023.

district. Intermixed within state forest lands are SGLs 134 (8,365 acres) and 298 (1,140 acres).

Other Release Locations for Future Consideration – Although these primary 5 release locations are situated within an appropriate distance from each other and within optimal habitat (Fig. 15), there are several other locations within the state that may provide for the needs of a translocated population and should be considered for future releases or as alternate release sites. The complex of SGLs 57 (45.986 acres), 13 (50,744 acres), and Ricketts Glen State Park (13,193 acres) contains a large tract of unbroken public lands with a diversity of habitat types including one of the last remnant boreal red spruce forests within the state (Fig. 23).



Poor Fair Moderate High Optimal Figure 23. State Game Lands 13 & 57 complex. E. Clees 2023.

Another consideration is the Square Timber Wild Area (Fig. 24) in Elk County, an 8,461-acre forested area bordering the Sinnemahoning River. This includes the Bucktail State Park Natural Area and contains a series of steep valleys feeding into the river. The Square Timber Wild Area is situated between the Hammersley Wild Area and the State Game Lands Complex of 25, 293, and 14. This has the advantage of providing a steppingstone between these areas.



Figure 24. Square Timber Wild Area. E. Clees 2023.

Source

Wild vs. Captive Reared Source - Captive rearing of species occurs frequently, within considered especially those threatened or endangered. Reintroductions occurred with have success with reintroducing other captive-reared species, but in the case of mustelids, most experience very high mortality (Biggins et al. 2011, Powell et al. 2012). All successful efforts for marten reintroduction were from wild sources. Most researchers and managers recommend wild-caught marten (Griffith et al. 1989, Slough 1994, Moruszzi 2003) and there has been strong evidence of a much higher success rate with wild translocations versus captive bred of many species (Fischer and Lindenmayer 2000, Seddon et al. 2014). Captive rearing is expensive due to additional and long-term animal care. This practice also poorly prepares an individual for the many challenges it will experience within the wild and likely would impact its survival.

Source Population Selection - Selecting proper sources for reintroducing species can have several important considerations. The first is how close the source population should be. In other species such as quail, the proximity of the source population to the release sites is thought to be of high importance due to local adaptations to food, climate, and predators (Meffe 1987, IUCN 2019). According to Powell et al. (2012), proximity did not play a role with marten reintroduction success. The second consideration is whether a source population should be a single dedicated population or multiple populations from potentially one or many political boundaries. Although further research is needed, the idea of having multiple sources to increase genetic diversity and avoid bottlenecks is important in reintroduction efforts (Slough 1994, Powell et al. 2012).

A third consideration is how much removal can a source population withstand. In their Management and Conservation Plan for Martens in Wisconsin (WIDNR 2011), the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources recommends that source populations have at least 400 individuals before removal is considered. Because translocating from a source is much likened to harvesting, utilizing historic harvest data along with long-term population indices may be most beneficial in answering this question.

For reintroduction into Pennsylvania, source populations have several considerations. This effort will require a minimum of 300 marten (with the potential for more if the effort is expanded or there is a need for augmentation), and we recognize that this is a heavy lift for any one source population. This target satisfies the

minimum population referenced by Powell (2011) and individual sites have had success in past efforts in reaching these goals (Powell et al. 2012). By working with a variety of sources, whether that be within a state or province, or more than likely with several states and provinces, this eases the burden on populations. the source Another consideration is assessing potential health threats from source populations. It would be unwise to reintroduce from a source population that are known to carry a disease or parasite that is not common or endemic to Pennsylvania. This is why pre-assessment (see Health Evaluations and Pre-release Treatment section) is important prior to translocation. Another important reason for using multiple source locations is if the likelihood of natural immigration into the reintroduced population is low or zero, multiple sources will provide a strong genetic diversity within the founding population, preventing inbreeding within the immediate future. This, of course, doesn't come without some potential risks.

Conservation Genetics – An important consideration with the reintroduction and establishment of a population is the genetic diversity of the population and how this may impact the success of the project. The field of conservation genetics is ever-expanding and increasing with research showing that genetic variability has great influence on population health and fitness. For reintroduced populations without expected immigration such as the American marten in Pennsylvania, genetic diversity can be a major concern. Population persistence can be assumed in direct relation to genetic variability as a general rule of conservation genetics (Ouborg et al. 2010a, b; Schwartz et al. 2012). Inbreeding and genetic drift can lead to various negative impacts on a

population over time and should be addressed during any effort to restore a species. If left unaddressed, these bottlenecks lead to a reduction in fitness, inability to cope with diseases, and failure to adapt to environmental changes (Lacy 1997, Keller and Waller 2002, Jamieson 2011). Within two isolated marten reintroduction efforts in the Lower Peninsula of Michigan, small population sizes and lack of genetic flow are leading to a loss in genetic diversity (Hillman et al. 2017).

To combat this impact, there have been several ideas postulated within the literature. Beyond genetic management, habitat development and preservation, removing exotic species competition, and keeping harvest at a minimum until establishment are potential drivers (Lacy 1997). Habitat can certainly play an important role in either promoting or inhibiting genetic flow among populations or within a population (Koen et al. 2012). Alyward and Kilpatrick (2020) found that at multiple spatial scales, developed land cover negatively impacted gene flow for marten. Considering genetic management, research indicates a variety of methods to address inbreeding depression. Although contested by Williams and Scribner (2007), Swanson et al. (2006) found no bottleneck in the populations reintroduced to Michigan's Upper Peninsula and attributed this to multiple reintroduction efforts as well as instate translocations.

The idea of 'genetic rescue' through introducing individuals from other source populations is important to maximize genetic diversity (Frankham et al. 2017, Ralls et al. 2020). Frankham et al. (2017) provided guidance for the genetic management of populations following continued monitoring of the genetic structure. When considering the American marten having multiple populations of one distinct species, thus primarily avoiding outbreeding depression (Hedrick and Miller 1992), augmentation may be the best way to overcome a genetic bottleneck. Grauer et al. (2019) modeled two reintroduced populations of American marten in Wisconsin. One population in the study was stable to increasing, likely due to immigration, while the other was declining towards extinction due primarily to isolation. Using population modeling they found that with modest immigration (1 female/year) they could effectively reduce the stable populations opportunity for extinction to 1% and reduce the declining populations extinction opportunity by 30%. They also cite the critical importance of having connectivity between populations for immigration and emigration.

The question of whether founding populations should be sourced from a single population. with high genetic heterozygosity, or multiple populations to increase genetic diversity still seems to remain unanswered. This is reflected within the IUCN Reintroduction Guidelines (2013) where several considerations are While highlighted. recommendations revolve around attempting to source a genetically diverse founding population from as close to the release site as possible, there may be a situation that requires mixing multiple founding populations. Recent research from Day et al (2021) provides additional considerations such as the negative effects of assortative mating, a poorly understood phenomena within the Martes genus, but found to impact other species such as songbirds (Bradley et al 2014) and fishes (Weise 2020).

Although there is potential to measure genetic diversity from potential sourcing locations ahead of a translocation effort, Pennsylvania's situation is somewhat unique. With complete extirpation of marten from the state, and the nearest population found over 130 km to the north in the Adirondack Mountains surrounded by non-habitat, there is no realistic hope for natural colonization. With that in mind and considering the need for at least 300 individuals to source at least 5 release locations, this effort will need to rely on the partnership of multiple states and provinces. This is important for several reasons. A single source population is not being depleted to the point where it suffers negative impacts from the removal of individuals and lightening the burden on any one government. It also provides the opportunity to mix several founding populations from the start into one starting population, increasing genetic diversity immediately and reducing the chance for inbreeding depression during the initial population growth (Powell et al. 2012). Another potential positive is the ability to conduct important research; answering questions such as: 1) Do we truly see strong genetic diversity with mixed founder populations? 2) Which founder populations show high survival and fecundity? or 3) How does genetic structure change over time as sub-populations come together and begin interbreeding?

Trapping Effort Coordination

Capture of a species for translocation begins long before the first trap is set. Coordinating such an effort requires strong communication between all partners, in some cases several years beforehand. Leadership roles must be established throughout the many facets of the project including the source agencies, the receiving state agency, release location agencies, wildlife health partners, research partners, non-governmental organization (NGO) partners, and other partners.

Important roles to be established:

- Pennsylvania Project Leader (Pennsylvania Game Commission)
- Pennsylvania Public Lands Release Location Leaders (Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, U. S. Forest Service, Pennsylvania Game Commission)
- Pennsylvania Wildlife Health Coordinator (Pennsylvania Game Commission)
- Source Location Project Leader (State and Provincial Government Agency Staff)
- Source Location Project Wildlife Health Coordinator (State and Provincial Government Agency Staff)
- Source Location Project Trapping Coordinator (Agency Staff or Contractor)
- Research Partner Leader (TBD)
- NGO Partner Leaders (TBD)

These roles should work closely together within a working group that meets regularly and stays in constant communication on all aspects of the effort. Once this has been established, the Pennsylvania Project Leader position will begin coordinating all facets, ensuring each part is well supported and informed.

Coordinating a Multi-Agency Reintroduction

Once open communications have been made between all partners, setting appropriate expectations for each role mentioned previously will be vital. These expectations should be agreed upon by the partnership and integrated into a document that will facilitate working through the process of achieving project goals. This will look different for each role. While some partnerships will need to form binding documentation such as research agreements, or contracts, others will not find this necessary. An important aspect, however, is flexibility knowing that this is a wildlife-centric project and needs to remain adaptable.

Questions for Source Partners when Planning for Capture

Several important questions that need to be addressed prior to moving forward with capture are:

- What are the appropriate contacts within the source location to coordinate with?
- Who or what group will be coordinating capture efforts?
- Who will be executing the capture of marten within the source location?
- Who will be coordinating with trappers to facilitate collection?
- How and where will martens be held, cared for, and prepped for shipment?
- Will payment be made to trappers for effort and if so, how much?
- Will payment be made to source agencies for marten and, if so, how much?
- How many martens are realistic to capture and move from a source location within a single year?
- How many martens is that source population willing to provide for the effort?
- What are specific requirements from source governments to allow for export of wild marten?

These questions, although important, cannot be answered until the decision has been made to reintroduce. Following a decision, this plan can help using past efforts as a guide.

A Guide for Capture

After agreement between partners, source agencies should assess their available populations of martens to determine where trapping should take place and how many individuals can be removed from each location without negative impacts. Once that is determined, source locations will decide on who will be conducting the trapping effort in the field. Past reintroduction efforts have employed agency staff from the source state, agency staff from the receiving state, NGO staff (Klinger and Keller 2019), or most commonly, by local trappers (Serfass et al. 2003, J. Kolbe, personal communication). With most wildlife agencies underfunded and understaffed, it is recommended trappers be the primary source for trapping marten. Trappers have always been some of the leading supporters of furbearer conservation throughout North America, and this offers them an opportunity to once again prove the value of trapping to conserve a species (Kuglin 2021).

The Montana and Washington Models -Since 2020, Montana has been conducting marten translocations in the Little Belt Mountain range (Kolbe et al. 2020). Managers have built upon decades of reintroductions to develop a successful system of trapping, handling, transfer, and release (J. Kolbe personal communication). Following this model, source agencies can identify historically successful marten trappers from within their boundaries as well as work with the state or provincial trappers' association Kolbe. personal (J.

communication, Kuglin 2021). Source location project leaders can directly work with or assign a coordinator to work with individual trappers. During Washington's fisher reintroduction into Olympic National Park, managers hired trapping coordinators within each source location who coordinated all trapping efforts with local trappers. Responsibilities also included supplying traps and holding boxes, bait and lure, as well as holding and transport of animals. The delegation of these responsibilities should be left up to the source state or province.

Capture Seasonality - Most past marten translocations occurred during seasons outside of summer, primarily in the fall or winter months. Two reintroductions were completed during summer months, one with some success. Some research suggests that allowing individuals to explore territory, establish home ranges, and adapt to a new environment prior to parturition can lead to greater success of reintroduction (Powell et al. 2012). Summer capture and release, however, will likely be much more costly and potentially more difficult. Working with trappers during the season (Kuglin 2021) allows trappers to also pursue other animals concurrently and is conducted at a time of the year when food abundance is limited, therefore increasing the chance of successful capture through use of bait and lure. Montana reintroduction managers found that female capture rate was higher during the fall than winter, which may be important when considering the importance of sex ratio (see Ratio section). Slough Sex (1994)recommended release occur between October and January to avoid timing of dispersal and encourage establishing home ranges near the release location. Other considerations may be weather conditions and the challenges that they present.

Equipment - Trappers will be supplied with live traps with custom fit holding boxes (Seglund 1995, J. Kolbe personal communication, Appx. 4 and 5) that can be detached and replaced with a fresh box in the event of a capture. Live, or cage traps, (TomahawkTM model 108.1 HavahartTM model 1085) will be utilized to prevent injury and hold marten until traps can be checked. Bait and lure will also be supplied by the project. Trappers should be supplied with as many traps as they have availability to set and check responsibly.

Trapping Procedure – Trappers will target marten from their normal target areas where they have good experience with, where marten travel, and have had success in the past. Trapping will take place in the late fall/winter coinciding with harvest season. Trappers will receive training ahead of the season specific to safe capture, holding, and Traps should be set transport. with consideration to weather, and under some cover. Trap placement should also consider flooding protection from or extreme snowfall. Traps should be properly baited and lured as selected by the individual trapper from experience. Holding boxes should be securely fastened to the trap and have dry polyfill placed inside to provide warmth for captured martens. Traps should be tested to ensure proper function prior to setting and should be stabilized to prevent rolling from marten or other species. Traps will be checked within every 36 hours, and sooner if possible.

Capture and Transfer Procedure – Once a marten has been captured, the trapper should complete a visual assessment for any major injuries or life-threatening wounds. In the case of one of these two instances, euthanasia for harvest may be the most ethical

consideration. Managers should provide trappers with guidance on decision making prior to the season. If relatively healthy, the trapper will slide in the metal door once the marten has gone into the holding box and latched securely. The box can then be unattached from the trap and a new holding box secured to the trap before being rebaited and reset. Once the marten is secured, it should be transported to a designated holding facility to await transport. If the transportation time is extended (i.e., >12 hours), a specially designed holding cage with food (raw meat or cat food) and water can be attached to the holding box and the door opened for access. Marten should be removed from the trap and transported to a holding facility as soon as possible to avoid potential injury.

Holding at the Source – A designated holding facility should be established before trapping begins with appropriate equipment ready. Separate holding pens that prevent marten from coming in contact will be important to prevent injury. The trapping coordinator at the source will be responsible for selecting and setting up this facility as well as proper animal care. This facility can range anywhere from as simple as a barn or outbuilding with proper cover to a zoo but should have the ability to house up to 20 individual martens. Pens should be designed to allow the marten to enter from the holding box and have branches for chewing or scratching. The design will allow for the cage or the box to be closed off for cleaning. Fresh polyfill should be kept within the holding box. Food and water should be available each day within tip proof containers, and the individual monitored for health concerns.

Tentatively, marten will not be shipped until 10 have been captured so there is the

possibility that some marten may be held for several weeks not to exceed 3 weeks. The trapping coordinator will work closely with care specialists animal as well as veterinarians for treatment or certification as needed. While in captivity, marten should be fed 200-250 grams of meat once a day as well as always have water available. Meat source can vary, but for cost efficiency road killed deer sourced from local wildlife officers or beaver carcasses sourced from local trappers may be pieced out and provided. Other protein sources are acceptable as well as nutritional supplements with the intent to allow martens to gain weight while in captivity. Managers should consider developing a standardized commercially available raw meat diet and providing this to source and Pennsylvania holding facilities if possible.

Health Evaluations, Pre-Release Treatment and Marking

Pre-capture Population Evaluations – Prior to a capture effort within a source population, managers can conduct a cursory evaluation of the population's overall health. This should be conducted within a 3-year window prior to the trapping effort and utilize trapper-harvested carcasses for assessment. Working closely with source population managers and trappers. the project coordinator will work to collect a minimum of 30 carcasses from each potential source location. These carcasses will be shipped to the project coordinator in Pennsylvania and working with the PGC Veterinarian, Wildlife Futures (WF) Veterinarians, and WF health specialists, marten will be analyzed for a variety of diseases or parasites of concern. These carcasses can also provide important genetic information that could inform

managers on the overall genetic diversity of the population in question. Prior to trapping, a list of known diseases and parasites of *Martes* in North America will be generated from a literature review and expert knowledge. A disease risk analysis process will then be used to assess the likelihood and consequence of the diseases and parasites listed in order to generate a priority list for testing.

Post-Capture Evaluation Process -Following capture, individual marten will be transported to a holding facility to await shipment. During this time, observational health evaluations should begin. Responsible staff can continually monitor for any overt symptoms of disease, stress, or injury. If immediate action would be needed prior to transport, the local source project wildlife health coordinator can contact the designated local partnering veterinarian to proceed with treatment after assessment.

Barring any immediate action, once transport is completed (see *Transport* section) and marten arrive in Pennsylvania, they should be moved into a temporary holding facility (see *Holding* section) to await in-depth health evaluations. In preparation for scheduled release, each marten will be anesthetized, attempting to limit immobilization to one instance.

Chemical Immobilization - Anesthetization should be performed by a qualified staff member using one of several effective techniques. Chemical immobilization of marten has been successful using a mixture of Ketamine/Xylazine in a 5:1 mixture with a dosage of 8.5 mg/kg (Bull et al. 1996). This mixture rendered the individual unconscious for approximately 10-20 minutes. Telazol has also seen success with a dosage of 8 mg/kg,

although atropine was utilized at 3 mg/kg for controlling convulsions and to speed recovery (Bull et al. 1996). Overall recovery was estimated at an hour with this method. Isoflurane has also been successfully utilized with marten immobilization by way of a continuous 0.5-5% flow (Spriggs et al. 2017). Following the termination of flow, martens are able to be released within 15 minutes. There is some concern, however with hypothermia and hyperthermia when using this method so temperature should be monitored when in use. Most recently, and likely the most effective method due to fewer complications and efficiency, is using the mixture of Butorphanol, Azaperone, and Medetomidine, commonly referred to as BAM. Montana biologists are currently reintroducing martens within the state using this anesthetic combination with great success (J. Kolbe, personal communication). This protocol also has the advantage of using reversal agents Naltrexone and Atipamezole, so that animals quickly and safely recover from anesthesia.). During immobilization, ophthalmic ointment should be applied to the eyes and vital signs such as temperature, breathing, and capillary refill should all be monitored closely with equipment and supplies on hand to react to an emergency.

Biologic Data - Following immobilization, martens should be weighed, sexed, and aged. Although techniques for sexing marten postmortem are well developed (Poole et al. 1994, Belant 2011), it can be especially challenging when alive. Some evidence has been given to comparing sagittal crest width and length in adults (Strickland and Douglas 1987), but this has proven difficult at best even for experienced handlers. Total skull measurement or assessment of temporal muscle coalescence has also been found to be accurate (Flynn and Schumacher 2016), but like other methods, these are tested following mortality and without pelage. Sex can be determined in adult mustelids by palpation of an os penis (baculum) in males. For any animals where results of palpation are equivocal, radiography can be performed as the calcification of the baculum can be detected on а radiographic image. Radiography or ultrasound may also be used to determine pregnancy or reproductive status; although some pregnancies may be difficult to detect if at an early phase including delayed implantation.

Age can be determined by premolar extraction for cementum annuli analysis, tooth wear patterns, or sagittal crest development. Tooth extraction has been recommended against by managers (J. Kolbe personal communication) because of potential damage during extraction. Additional morphological measurements will be collected including total length, tail length, hind foot length, ear width, and neck circumference. Photos will be collected of each individual with particular attention given to chest and neck coloration patterns.

A general health examination should include a search for wounds, evidence of ectoparasite loading or damage, abnormalities, and past or current disease impacts. Special attention should be paid to past or recent tooth damage, broken bones, missing limbs or digits, or nasal/ocular discharge. Managers should reference the *American Marten Health Evaluation Form* (Appx. 5) for a complete checklist when working through this process pre-release.

Following pre-capture health evaluations, if certain concerns are identified, additional health assessments should be considered pre-release. Endoparasite loading can be evaluated through fecal sampling, including a direct smear, flotation, sedimentation and the Baermann test, while disease exposure and overall biological condition can be evaluated through blood analysis (complete blood counts, biochemistries and antibody titers), and various molecular techniques.

Pre-release Treatments – Other successful mustelid reintroduction efforts have provided both reactive and proactive medical treatments while individuals are within human care prior to release (Serfass et al. 1993, Lewis 2006). This approach enhances the potential for reintroduction success. Priority should be given to the treatment of open wounds or injuries while infections should also be treated with appropriate care as determined by a veterinarian. All individuals should receive vaccination for rabies (Imrab-3) and canine distemper (purevax ferret vaccine; Lewis 2006). Internal and External parasite load will be evaluated for each animal; treatment may be warranted based on parasite load, risk to the individual animal, risk to the population, or risk for introduction to Pennsylvania. This will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis, with veterinary-approved treatment as prescribed.

Sampling and Marking - In addition to treatments, genetic sampling will occur to conduct DNA analysis for each individual. A variety of methods are available to collect genetic samples to include hair, tissue (ear punch), or blood sample (ear prick) on Whatman card. This will be critical for future population monitoring.

Marking will occur for all individuals through the insertion of Passive Integrated Transponder devices, commonly referred to as PIT tags. These devices will be inserted through injection between the shoulder blades (Kujawa 2018) of the animal. Each tag will be programmed with a pre-selected unique identification number that will be assigned to an individual. This tagging method is more reliable and less invasive than many historic tagging options and can provide important population vitals for a wildlife species (Gibbons and Andrews 2004).

Telemetry will be used as a part of this project to answer questions relating to survival, mortality, dispersal, home range, habitat preference, and to gather a variety of other important information. Due to the marten's solitary nature, large home range, and ability to disperse long-distances, GPS telemetry should be the primary method for this project. Although costly, a small subsample based on sex and age from each source location within each release location will be transmittered. Collars will be used carefully due to potential snagging that have been documented in the past (A, Kujawa, personal communication, J. Kolbe, personal communication). Kujawa (2018) utilized the model M1555 from Advanced Telemetry Systems with success for her work in Michigan. Several different options exist for collars on the market, but with technological advances in telemetry occurring quickly, a collar system should be investigated and selected closer to deployment.

Exportation and Importation Health Requirements and Certifications – With the potential to source marten from several Canadian provinces, there are additional needs to consider moving wildlife across international boundaries. These needs have been previously addressed by Lewis (2006) as part of the implementation plan to

reintroduce fishers into Washington state from British Columbia and much of this section draws directly from the Washington effort.). Other Provinces may require an export permit to lawfully export live marten (Aaron Walpole, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, personal communication). It's important to note that American marten are not considered a species that falls within the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Flora and Fauna (CITES). A licensed veterinarian in participating provinces will inspect all marten captured and prepped for export prior to crossing into the United States. This may be completed in transit or at holding facility prior to transport. Both an assigned health certificate and possession/export permit are required by the provincial wildlife authority (Lewis 2006, CFIA 2022). Importation requirements into Pennsylvania regulated are bv the Pennsylvania Game Commission. А Certificate of Veterinary Inspection (CVI) will be required from the state or province of origination. A USDA accredited veterinarian, preferably a state or provincial staff vet, is required to complete the CVI. Upholding the current Pennsylvania standards of wildlife import (PGA 1953), managers should obtain a Wildlife Special Use Permit from the Pennsylvania Game Commission prior to project start.

Transportation

International Transport - As previously mentioned under Exportation Requirements, proper certification will be needed prior to moving marten across international boundaries (i.e., Canada). On the U.S. side of importation, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) is the governing agency with regulatory authority. Managers will also be working with both the Canada Border Services Agency (CBSA) and the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (USCBP) to safely transport martens across the border (USCBP 2023).

When preparing to export a shipment of martens across the border, the trapping coordinator will need to notify CBSA and USCBP well ahead of time to allow for agents to conduct inspections, review paperwork, and question personnel traveling with the animals on both sides of the border during crossing (Lewis 2006). The USFWS will require both the Declarations Form 3-177 (USFWS 2021) and pre-notification of port of entry, which in this case will require the Designated Port Exception Permit Form 3-200-2 (USFWS 2000) as currently no authorized ports of entry are reasonable for this project.

Domestic Transport - There may be exportation considerations from domestic translocations within the U.S. Most state wildlife agencies are the point of contact for pursuing this process and will be contacted very early on prior to a translocation to ensure all permitting requirements are met. This will likely be different from state to state and managers from the receiving state (Pennsylvania) will communicate with those from the source state long before traps are set.

Air vs. Ground - Two primary methods of transportation have been employed by managers in the past when moving species. Vehicular ground transportation has been used most commonly, but shipment by air has occurred as well. Both options present unique challenges with ground transportation taking up a significant portion of staff time while air transport involves moving live animals through a populated airport setting as well as

a period of no access. Because in temporary captivity martens appear to have low stress and high survival (J. Kolbe, personal communication), either air or ground transport should be sufficient. Ground transport has the advantage of constant contact with animals to continually assess health, provide food and water, and address emergencies. Air travel may be much faster however and should be considered for travel from Canadian provinces or states further than a single day's drive. Depending on distance, relay driving may be the best option to avoid driver fatigue. Managers moving martens across the international border will require a valid passport.

Whether air or ground travel, marten should be kept separated and within their holding boxes. If holding cages are attached, dividers should be provided to prevent disease transmission or potential harm from other martens. Water and food should continue to be supplied as available during transport following holding recommendations. When transporting during the warmer months managers should keep holding boxes in a cool place to avoid overheating. A box trailer outfitted with necessary shelving to secure holding boxes as well as house supplies is likely the best option for transporting larger numbers of martens. For smaller numbers a pickup truck with cap and tie offs for securing holding boxes will be important. Organization will be key for border agents to easily assess animal care and cargo when crossing the border.

Air Shipping - If shipping through air transport, early communications with airlines to identify which carriers are best suited for this project will be important. Dependent upon flights and holding facilities in Pennsylvania, several nearby airports should provide the ability to receive these shipment types including Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Baltimore, and potentially Harrisburg. Considerations for air transport include appropriate paperwork in full, making reservations, following container regulations as well as proper labeling. It is the responsibility of the shipper to provide detailed instructions for care and feeding during transport if necessary. Coordination from the source trapping coordinator to the receiving agency coordinator should include all necessary paperwork and itinerary to ensure martens are promptly in receipt of the appropriate individual after landing. Martens should then be immediately moved to their holding location.

Holding

Following transport from source to Pennsylvania, martens will be transferred to the care of a holding facility. Pennsylvania is fortunate to have two primary partners willing to act as holding facilities, the Elmwood Park Zoo in Norristown, PA and Hershey's ZooAmerica in Hershey, PA. These facilities are accredited by the Association of Zoos and Aquariums (AZA). Other potential cooperators for holding may be academic or research institutions such as the Pennsylvania State University as was done with the river otter reintroduction (Serfass et al. 1993).

Holding facilities will have the ability to provide a higher level of care for marten as well as temperature-controlled areas with ample room for storage of 20 holding boxes and cages. Cage designs vary, but holding cages used for black-footed ferret (*Mustela nigripes*) present a suitable option for martens in temporary captivity (USFWS 2017). Facilities will have a clean indoor location to conduct treatment and sampling, as well as emergency treatment capabilities and any necessary tools for proper animal care. Facilities will have exam tables, gas anesthesia equipment, radiograph generators, emergency treatment units and digital radiography. Staff at holding facilities should have sufficient training in animal care and will be trained on specific care concerns for marten.

Captive marten will continue to be always provided with water and food/nutritional supplements as was provided in holding at the source location (see Holding at Source section). Holding times may vary depending on the care needed or if additional sampling and testing are required. In the event of long-term holding needs (i.e., >3 weeks), both preventative health and enrichment plans may be needed. Should additional disease or parasite testing be needed, longer term care may be required. Holding facilities should work closely with PGC staff if additional supplies are needed prior to or during care of animals.

Release

As timing of release approaches, managers should ensure that all marten in holding appear healthy exhibiting normal behavior. Transport from holding to release will follow similar recommendations as was stated previously in the *Transportation* section.

Release Type - A variety of different methods of release have been utilized for marten reintroduction efforts. Generally, they fit into one of two categories labeled 'hard' or 'soft' releases (Mengak 2018). Hard releases are often thought of as the release of an individual as quickly as is possible after capture and directly into the environment with little to no period of adjustment to

factors like food, climate, vegetation, or habitat. A soft release is one where individuals are kept within an enclosure inside of the release location and allowed time to adjust to available food resources, habitat, climate, etc. In some cases, soft releases provide additional food resources or cover post-release as well. This of course is a spectrum, with some hard releases happening same day, documented soft releases taking a matter of months, and a wide variation in between. Powell et al. (2012) did not determine whether release type had an impact on success. Powell et al. (2012) noted that soft releases had 100% success while hard releases had 77%, but the discrepancy with hard release had the confounding factor of number of individuals released, with all failures having very few individuals. Slough (1994) recommended short handling and transport periods to reduce stress and disorientation. Although hard releases are generally favored, specifically for species that do not tolerate acute or chronic stress (i.e., game birds), in some cases soft releases are necessary for mammals. In this case, managers will attempt hard releases directly from the holding facility into the release site. Hard releases were used for both otter (Serfass 1996) and fisher (Hardisky 2001) successfully.

Release Coordination and Access -Communications will be important with all partners ahead of a release. Pennsylvania Game Commission coordinators should work closely with DCNR headquarters and district staff, USFS staff and PGC region staff well in advance of a release to pinpoint exact locations, mode of transportation, and route of entry. Certain release sites may have additional restrictions on access or entry so they should be evaluated prior to arrival. Working with local land managers before and during a release will head off unforeseen problems that would otherwise arise without local knowledge.

With most release sites being remote and often difficult to access, releases may pose a challenge to staff. Releases should be completed by trained personnel and coordinated by the PGC furbearer specialist. Many releases may involve backpacking marten in by trail to reach targeted release locations. Other's may be available to access by unimproved or improved roads. Snow cover may preclude 4 wheeled vehicle travel and necessitate the use of snowmobiles. Managers should ensure that vehicles of all types are prepared and ready for use prior to any release. Partners may have specialized equipment available to assist the release team as needed.

Release Timing – Slough (1989, 1994) reported that home ranges can shift or change between the months of February and September. This is also thought to be the time for dispersal. He recommended avoiding this period for release and instead targeting between October and January, which may encourage newly liberated animals to establish home ranges near the release location. This timing would coincide with most trapping seasons and agree with a plan to utilize trappers during the open harvest season within source locations. Winter translocation would not negatively impact pregnant females and would likely improve results assuming that most females will contribute to recruitment within 6 months of release. Releases should occur during stable weather patterns and not just prior to major weather events that could negatively impact an individual that is unfamiliar with a location. Releases should also occur no less than two hours prior to nightfall to allow an

individual time to locate cover if needed and prevent mortality from owls. When releasing in a designated location, Montana researchers released in small clusters (5) with several at the same location and then traveling up to 15 miles to release another cluster. It was highly dependent on the availability and location of the most suitable habitat but generally managers attempted to place throughout the entirety of the area with females well distributed (J. Kolbe, personal communication).

Release Structure - Releasing the optimal number of individuals for a self-sustaining population within all selected release locations in a single year would be best case scenario. Unfortunately, this is highly unlikely knowing that many factors such as population abundance, weather source conditions, trapping success, and trapping participation can vary from year to year and influence the number of available martens for translocation. Translocation efforts within Pennsylvania have ranged from 4 years for 192 fishers (Hardisky 2001) and 6 years for 2,328 ring-necked pheasants (Phasianus colchicus; Klinger and Keller 2019) to over 20 years for 153 river otters (Serfass et al. 2003). This project will focus on one release site at a time, attempting to fulfill the minimum founder population target within a given year. If additional marten become available a second release location can begin releases. With this target in mind, release goal would be over a 5-year period, although it should be understood it may take longer to reach target numbers within each location.

Public Release Opportunities – Building public support prior to a reintroduction effort is key but maintaining it during an effort is just as important. Part of our approach is to provide opportunities for the public to

experience the release process, which is often considered the most gratifying portion of a reintroduction program. This can be accomplished by working with press and holding several opportunities to conduct a small release within an area of easy access. The challenge is not compromising the survival or establishment potential for the animals while at the same time providing an experience for the public to 'join' the effort and take ownership. Providing opportunities for contributing partners is also invaluable in allowing them to experience a part of what they've worked toward. These can often be invitations to assist or accompany biologists and researchers into release areas when releasing and won't be as challenging as press events. Both are critical to the continued support of this project.

Techniques for Encouraging Establishment – Some consideration has been given to attempt to prevent marten from dispersing an extended distance from a release area. Recommendations for European pine marten (Martes martes) described using feces, urine, and anal scent within an area prior to release to encourage martens to settle within that location believing that other martens are or were there recently (Pulliainen 1982, Slough 1994). This same idea of an already established social system attracting and holding newly released animals could potentially be developed through multiple releases over time in a specific area.

Augmentation – Although briefly covered throughout other sections, there is the potential recommendation for future augmentation releases. This has the advantage of injecting additional genetic diversity and has been found to be helpful in both marten and other species experiencing genetic structure impacts (Smyser et al. 2013). Montana's marten reintroduction managers plan to augment every 5-10 years with up to 10 individuals (J. Kolbe, personal communication). This will be a continual consideration for this project but should only be utilized as needed based on genetic sampling to determine population heterozygosity which should occur periodically.



Jackson Strickler, Grade 10, Myerstown, PA

Research and Monitoring

The monitoring of a reintroduction effort is important in measuring success or failure. It also presents a secondary objective, which is to inform adaptative management practices should they be needed throughout the translocation process (Lewis 2006). Early historic translocations used a variety of passive methods to monitor efforts. Slough (1994) references winter track counts, snow tracking, live trapping, fur harvest returns, and anecdotes used in the 1960s and -70s (van Zyll de Jong 1969, Schupbach 1977). Telemetry became common in later research, but most monitoring was focused within year one, and little occurred past year three post reintroduction.

Monitoring should focus on several important factors that are imperative to understand when measuring success. When conducting fisher reintroduction in Washington, Lewis (2006) chose to focus on survival, reproduction, movement, and home range establishment. He also referenced recruitment and population expansion, two key aspects of successful reintroductions. Research and monitoring should also focus on factors such as diet, dispersal, and associated species of concern. Monitoring should begin with the first released individuals and continue indefinitely, albeit at a lesser intensity. The assumed failure of reintroduction in Vermont in 1991 (Moruzzi et al. 2003) was based on several years of limited monitoring and proved a success over 25 years later following additional monitoring after anecdotal evidence surfaced that marten persisted over time (O'brien et al. 2018). Marten populations grow slowly because of their limited reproduction potential based on sexual maturity and small litter size (Slough 1994) and require close monitoring over long-periods to achieve a true assessment.

This project will replicate other reintroduction efforts (Lewis 2006) and establish a marten recovery team to develop appropriate monitoring techniques and make adaptive management decisions while evaluating reintroduction success. This group should include PGC species specialists, PGC veterinarian. release location agency representatives, academic research partners, NGO partners, and others who will contribute to monitoring and research focus.

Survival and Mortality

important Survival is an aspect of understanding population establishment. Modern survival estimation techniques primarily rely on telemetry. Ensuring that females can survive to reproduction and successful completion of the next generation is critical. Survival should be monitored throughout the year to measure seasonal impacts, and individuals may need to be recaptured to have their collars replaced over the long-term. Once mortality occurs, researchers can promptly locate and attempt to determine cause of mortality (Bull and Heater 2001). Following a necropsy, identification of mammalian or raptor predators, and affliction by injury, diseases or parasites can be determined (McCann et al. 2010).

Movement

Post-release movements of animals can provide insight into a variety of behaviors of the reintroduced animals. As martens are released, most will first attempt to locate suitable habitat in which to establish a home range. Using telemetry, home ranges can be mapped, and when established, provide data on resource use. Estimating home range size also through telemetry can provide indications of habitat quality and indirectly assess the suitability of a release area. Some individuals may travel long distances prior to establishing a home range (see Dispersal section) or may remain transitory without a home range for some time. With GPScapable collars, these instances will provide information on how these animals use the landscape, and what habitat features may be used to facilitate dispersal and are selected during these movements. Dispersal also should be researched post-reproduction.

Whether capturing and marking young or using genetic analyses, learning about dispersal distances and overland movements of young as they seek to establish territory is important to future management.

Habitat Selection

As marten establish home ranges, managers will need to determine what specific habitat thev characteristics are selecting in Pennsylvania. This may be critical early to make adaptive decisions on future release locations and ensure appropriate habitat management. Habitat selection at a variety of scales is important whether that be at rest-site selection up to landscape scale or in between with forest stand scale. Using telemetrybased home range estimation will be the basis for analyzing habitat selection through large scale GIS based modeling (Chapin et al. 1997, Potvin et al. 2000) or finer-scale traditional vegetation surveys (Sanders et al. 2017). Sex-specific habitat selection data should be analyzed. Results may better inform the habitat suitability model designed for Pennsylvania as part of the Feasibility Assessment.

Reproduction

Documentation of natural reproduction is an important goal within a reintroduction effort. A variety of methods can be used to document reintroduction and recruitment within a population. Telemetry data will allow managers to identify denning locations of pregnant females. Once a denning location has been identified, in-person kit sightings, vocalizations, PIT tag readers, or remote camera detections (Kujawa et al. 2014, Bull and Heater 2001) will be used to determine if reproduction has occurred. Capture of females with evidence of lactation or capture of kits also confirms reproduction and provides information on litter size, sex ratio, health, etc. Other evidence of reproduction can be gathered by genetic analysis of hair, unmarked individuals incidentally captured or found dead, or photographic evidence of unmarked animals (Lewis 2006).

Diet

Many diet studies have been conducted (see Diet section) across marten range, however monitoring marten diet in Pennsylvania is very important. This has implications about where marten have the most abundant and highest quality resources and if these resources vary seasonally. Diet research will investigate both the founder population and successive generations to understand if diet changes generationally after establishment. Researchers should use scat sampling, located through telemetry or detection dogs (Kelly et al. 2012) if readily available, and stomach contents from recovered mortalities. In addition, tick specific surveys can be completed, assessing how marten influence transmission of tick-borne diseases through preying on intermediate hosts presents important research for Pennsylvania (Ostfeld and Holt 2004).

Other Species Monitoring

Pending concern or interest and in consultation with colleagues, additional surveys may be completed focusing on other species as warranted. These surveys will follow guidance from species specialists and tested methodology. Species of Greatest Conservation Need should be given priority.

Monitoring Tools and Techniques

Telemetry - Modern tracking techniques primarily use telemetry, specifically Global Positioning System (GPS) technology. Historically, successful marten research often relied on Very High Frequency (VHF) telemetry units (Thompson et al. 2001). The limitations of ground-based and aerial VHF include an immense cost associated with staff time in remote locations, flight time, and fuel. Although GPS telemetry systems have a high initial cost, GPS units are programmable to collect specific required data, they require less labor to collect and retrieve data, and they have been used successfully on marten in other research (Moriarty and Epps 2015, Doster et al. 2015, Martin et al. 2019, Thompson et al. 2001). Considering survival, incorporating a mortality signal function with the programming will be essential. Telemetry is critical for almost all aspects of monitoring and research including survival, home range establishment, dispersal, and habitat use.

Genomics - Genetic monitoring will be an important component used for this project. It enables analyses of population dynamics through genetic markers, keying in on spatio-temporal dynamics, and providing critical testing of genetic diversity at release and into the future (Foran et al. 1997, Schwartz et al. 2012). Each translocated marten will have a genetic sample collected during anesthetization (see Sampling and Marking section). This provides a library of individual genetics representing the founder population. During release and post-release periods, passive genetic monitoring techniques such as hair snares (Pauli et al. 2008) can be used in a standardized DNA mark-recapture method (Boulanger et al. 2008) to estimate occupancy, calculate population estimates (Mowat and Paetkau 2002), understand reproduction including parentage of and mate selection for an individual, and quantify dispersal and movements (Lewis 2006).

Capture and Marking - Recapture of founder individuals and capture of unmarked individuals can provide important information on reintroduction. Telemetry collars and PIT tags will be the primary tracking methods, in addition to the genetic sampling. Montana researchers are using a unique approach of installing PIT tag readers in combination with hair snares with a bait attractant to lure an individual over the reader (J. Kolbe, personal communication). Whenever animals are in hand, opportunities for additional sampling and measuring can take place.

Camera Surveys – The use of remote cameras is an increasingly popular and important aspect of passive monitoring and research for marten (Moriarty et al. 2018, Raphael 1994, Kelly et al. 2012). Remote camera surveys offer a reliable and effective method for detecting marten (Evans et al. 2019) and determining occupancy (Fuller et al. 2016). Cameras also are important for assessing recruitment by allowing us to determine if detected individuals have been previously marked.

Observational and Incidental Surveys – Confirmed sightings can act as an important tool to know whether marten persist within an area or have occupied new areas. Soliciting sightings from the public can be an option and a sighting tool could be developed to assist with collection and analysis. Similar methods already being used by the PGC are the annual State Game Warden Furbearer Survey and the Furtakers Survey (Keller 2022b). These reach both wardens and trappers inquiring about incidental captures and general population trends of marten within their game warden districts and Wildlife Management Units. **Track Surveys** – Snow track transects have long been used as a technique to measure relative abundance with marten (Douglas and Strickland 1987, Raphael 1994). A similar method used for many carnivores is the sooted track plate survey, which can be used when snow cover isn't present (Barrett 1983, Raphael 1994). Track surveys can provide data on habitat use during winter.

Measuring Success

Most previous translocation efforts are considered successful when a self-sustaining population persists in the long-term. While few have set a particular population goal, Vermont and Wisconsin's reintroductions efforts set goals of 300 individuals (Gieck 1986, DiStefano et al. 1989) over several years. In some cases, harvest was considered a goal, while in others there was no intention for future harvest. Other studies cited maintaining the genetic diversity of the founding population as a measure of success (Slough 1994). For Pennsylvania, success will follow the same path as many other efforts, seeking long-term persistence of a self-sustaining population. An important aspect of that, however, does consider genetics, and sampling should continue through distant the future. Should populations reach a harvestable level, a limited opportunity to harvest will be considered as an important aspect of management. Please note that although sustainable harvest should be considered in the future, it is unlikely to occur within this 10-year plan.



Madison Robbins, Grade 12, Dallas, PA

Communications, Education, and Information

The social aspects of wildlife management have always held importance but are becoming arguably more significant, especially regarding reintroductions and specifically of carnivores. Past efforts have seen great success or perceived failure due primarily to effective communications, or the lack thereof, when reintroducing predatory species (Serfass et al. 2014, Serfass et al. 2003, Bath 2008). With human tolerance and public perception of predators still somewhat of a challenge to overcome for carnivore conservation (Treves and Bruskotter 2014, Treves et al. 2017), intensive communication efforts are needed to educate and inform.

Target Audience

Prior to embarking on an education campaign, managers should first identify who should receive the information, and if and where there are specific groups that may be especially in need of outreach efforts. These may be groups the agency has a history of working or that have been identified as potentially benefiting from outreach and education. For this project, groups were selected with the assumption that they may have specific concerns or questions regarding other species or domestic animals and impacts from a marten reintroduction.

- Legislators and gubernatorial staff local/statewide
- Game Commission staff and Board of Commissioners
- Other State and Federal Agency staff
- General Public, more specifically:
 - Resident and non-resident hunters
 - Resident and non-resident trappers
 - Livestock growers -specifically poultry and backyard flock raisers
 - Hunter-trapper education instructors and students
 - Conservation groups and non-profit wildlife organizations
 - Sportsmen's clubs
 - Landowners-specifically Forest owners within the northern tier
 - Naturalists (nature enthusiasts)
 - Zoo visitors
- Media:
 - Newspapers key local and regional
 - Outdoor reporters
 - Editorial boards
 - Bloggers and focused websites (where appropriate)
 - Local television outlets
 - Local radio outlets

Stakeholder and Partner Organizations

As with all projects where partnership is key, providing regular communication and updated information to interested stakeholders and potential partners should be a top priority. During the development of the Feasibility Assessment and this current plan, many of these organizations were either a part of the working group, solicited for information or feedback, or provided with information throughout the process. These will continue to be important moving forward with the development and review of this plan, and if this project moves forward towards reintroduction. It should be noted that this list is not exhaustive.

- Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources
- U.S. Forest Service
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
- Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission
- Seneca Nation of Indians
- Pennsylvania Federation of Sportsmen and Conservationists
- Pennsylvania Trappers Association
- The Wildlife Society, Pennsylvania Chapter
- The Mammal Technical Committee of the PA Biological Survey
- Western Pennsylvania Conservancy
- Wildlife Futures Program
- Audubon Pennsylvania
- National Wild Turkey Federation
- Ruffed Grouse Society/American Woodcock Society
- Elmwood Park Zoo
- Hershey ZooAmerica
- Hawk Mountain Sanctuary
- Indiana University of Pennsylvania
- University of Minnesota Duluth
- New York State Department of Environmental Conservation
- Vermont Fish and Wildlife
- Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife
- Michigan Department of Natural Resources

- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources
- Minnesota Department of Natural Resources
- Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry
- Quebec Ministry of Natural Resources
- New Brunswick Natural Resources and Energy Development
- Canadian Wildlife Service

Education Needs

Several strategies can be employed to better understand what messaging is most important when developing an education campaign. Evaluating feedback through online or inperson question and answer sessions will be important sources for developing a list of frequently asked questions. Focus groups or individual interviews through a third party have also solicited excellent feedback. Through these processes and others, several recurring concerns or questions arose and assisted in identifying the primary education needs regarding this project.

- Physical description primarily focusing on size
- General diet
- Potential impacts to other species (primarily wild turkey and ruffed grouse)
- Threat to livestock (domestic chickens)
- Potential impacts to land management practices and fossil fuel extraction
- Additional trapping restrictions

Resource Development

As part of an education campaign, well established resources should be developed and maintained within accessible locations for both target audiences, staff, and partners. Core documents like feasibility assessments and reintroduction plans are important but often only referenced by a few due to their complexity and overall length. Resources that are to the point and provide a summary or quickly share the important information to the general reader are just as important when communicating about the issue. These resources should be developed prior to engagement with the public if possible. A variety of important resources already exist as a part of this project and can be found within the strategies below. To view many of these visit the project StoryMap through the QR code (Fig. 25).



Figure 25. A QR code developed to direct the public towards the PA marten Story Map for more information. M. Weaver 2023.

Focus Group – To better understand the turkey hunters concerns of within Pennsylvania and how to communicate more effectively about this project, the PGC partnered with The Center for Survey Research (CSR) at The Pennsylvania State University, Harrisburg. The CSR completed an in-person focus group and ten in-depth interviews with individual turkey hunters. Successful turkey hunters were selected both from the core potential marten release area of Pennsylvania for the independent interviews, while ten others were selected from the Harrisburg area to participate in the focus group. Of the ten selected, only eight participated in the focus group. Question topics covered turkey hunting, turkey population management, species reintroduction, and marten reintroduction.

Key findings were as follows:

- Hunters differed on current state of the turkey population based on regions.
- Hunters greatest concern for turkey population impacts was predators.
- Hunters cautiously supported species reintroduction for ecosystem balance.
- Hunters either had strong knowledge of marten, or little to no knowledge (no middle-ground)
- Hunters that supported reintroduction cited increasing diversity, minimal consequences, and returning a native species as justification.
- Hunters that opposed reintroduction cited a distrust of the PGC and thus the information relating to the project.
- Hunters requested a synthesized form of the feasibility assessment be made available through print and digital media to a wide range of hunters.

Statewide Information and Education Campaign

Beginning in 2022, the PGC furbearer specialist began presenting information on the project to the public through a variety of methods. A presentation was developed focusing on the history of wildlife loss in Pennsylvania, its recovery to date, results from the American marten feasibility assessment, and the decision-making process to reintroduce. Each formal presentation concluded by reviewing the FAQ's developed for the project and then a question-
and-answer session. Unless a time constraint was in place (i.e., another speaker) all questions and concerns were addressed. Between June 2022 through January 2023, 90 public presentations and open houses were given throughout the state reaching over 6,100 people in person (Fig. 26) and over 40 organizations (Appx. 9). Although an intensive amount of work, this strategy was critical in helping to dispel misinformation in communities and offer many all Pennsylvanian's an opportunity to learn more in person and ask questions or provide comments or concerns.

Other strategies were employed including 28 interviews for print and radio, 9 articles written for popular print, 5 podcasts, social media posts, a project highlight video, 2 webinars, a GIS Story Map, project brochure with associated informationals, wildlife note, marten webpage, and email resource account. In addition, an art contest was held for all middle and high school students within Pennsylvania to help increase awareness of the project and encourage wildlife art and conservation. That artwork fills this document.



Figure 26. Information and Education Campaign stops throughout Pennsylvania in 2022 and 2023. T. Keller.



Halie Krieg, Grade 8, Lake City, PA

Cooperative Partnerships

Public Land Management Partners

Reintroduction efforts often hinge on maintaining the needed habitat for the reintroduced species in the long-term. Many public land agencies have management plans that extend upwards of 100 years or more and these plans focus on enduring sustainability of our natural resources (DCNR 2016, 2020, PGC 2020, USFS 2007). Pennsylvania is fortunate to have an extensive number of public lands with over 4.5 million acres owned by the DCNR, USFS, and PGC alone. Much of the forested landcover within the state considered public is owned and managed by these agencies. Although primary goals can differ for each agency, many are similar including topics such as forest health, recreation, and wildlife habitat management (PGC 2020, DCNR 2020, USFS 2007).

Unlike humans, wildlife is not bounded by political lines drawn on a map and therefore, it's critical for public land agencies to work together for the good of natural resources as they represent stewards of these resources for the people within the Public Trust (COP 1971). As the PGC worked through the feasibility assessment and planning process, agencies like the USFS and DCNR were invited to engage throughout the process as allies in managing Pennsylvania's wildlife and habitats. With much of the highly suitable habitat falling within these agencies' borders, it was important to ensure that concerns from each agency were addressed early on and that a project such as this aligns with the overall mission and goals of said agencies. In April of 2023, both DCNR and USFS drafted formal letters of support for the project and cemented their dedication to this partnership working towards restoration of an extirpated species (Appx. 6). Throughout the continued planning process and if approved for executing this plan, these partners will continue to be critical in forging ahead.

Source Partners

When a species is extirpated from its native home, only two forms of re-establishment are possible, those being immigration from dispersal and natural range expansion or human-assisted translocation. The nearest extant marten population is found in the Adirondack Mountains of New York State. Natural expansion of marten into Pennsylvania from the Adirondack population is highly unlikely due to the roughly 209 km of unsuitable habitat in between. This unsuitable habitat is driven primarily by agriculture, residential, and commercial development. This expanse of unsuitable habitat has been solidified as

modern agricultural practices have been adopted and the human population continues to grow. If natural recolonization of marten into Pennsylvania from the Adirondacks were to have occurred, it would have likely happened in the past 100 years and the absence of marten in Pennsylvania show that non-forested areas transportation and corridors serve as barriers to marten dispersal. Therefore, if we aim to have a selfsustaining population of marten in Pennsylvania, human assisted translocation is the only option.

Identifying a source for translocation has a variety of considerations. Source locations should have abundant an population from which to draw from ensuring that removal of individuals would not negatively impact the long-term local population (IUCN 2019). Managers should consider a cursory evaluation of health for source populations to promote a strong founder population as well as prevent disease spread post-release. As presented in the Source Population section, having a multitude of source partners has great benefits in order to ease the burden rather than place it on a single partner.

Building these partnerships started early, prior to the completion of the Feasibility Assessment. Talking with state and provincial biologists and managers was an important part of the Assessment as well as asking for their professional review. Following this, providing regular updates on the project has been important and having an informal conversation concerning the general feelings or attitudes towards partnership was critical. For states or provinces that were interested in pursuing a partnership, a formal request letter was drafted. Both parties reviewed the language

at the biologist level prior to moving up through the chain of command within the Pennsylvania Game Commission, ultimately signed and sent from the Executive Director. The letter was sent to the similar level of authority within the potential source partners wildlife agency, requesting a show of support if interested in partnering.

As of this draft, six letters requesting support have been mailed, and discussions are continuing for an additional four letters to potentially go out in the future. Three letters indicating interest in potential partnership pending the approval of this plan have returned, those coming from Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, and New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (Appx. 7). Having support prior to the acceptance of this plan is invaluable knowing that if the would move forward, plan source populations are available, and partners are willing to consider working together.

Research Partners

As with any reintroduction effort, research and monitoring is imperative. It not only evaluates the overall success of the project and informs managers on needed changes as necessary, but it also adds to the overall collective knowledge for current and future generations. There is significant opportunity with an effort like this. Understanding basic biologic vitals such as survival, fecundity, recruitment, mortality, and population estimation will be critical when assessing establishment. Additional research can also target questions pertaining to habitat preference, source population strength, genetic diversity, and a variety of other important factors.

The PGC is limited on its ability to conduct research as needed due to staff availability and the plethora of other responsibilities that encompass staff time. This necessitates the need for research partners, and fortunately, the agency has always worked in tandem with academic professionals from across the globe. This could mean anything from undergraduate projects, masters student thesis projects, PhD candidate dissertations, or post-doctoral work. This project has the potential to provide research opportunities to partnering academia, and being a reintroduction, will likely be extremely attractive to many.

Pennsylvania is fortunate to have many academic institutions in state or within bordering states that have a well-developed relationship. These partnerships have led to many strong research projects within the past and have well-developed understandings of partner requirements. The PGC will likely pursue research interest from current partners initially, but knowing the inherent importance of this project, will be looking to find the right fit with proper experience for this effort. Research partners will be identified should the plan be accepted.

Stakeholder Partners

As the process of developing the Feasibility Assessment and this plan have moved forward, so has the engagement of many key stakeholders within Pennsylvania. This was an important aspect of the communications planning and continues to be as we have solicited review of the management plan. Several key stakeholders have provided support for the project, much of it in helping communicate process and to the educate/inform their constituency and the public. Others have pledged financial

support or services support in the case of animal care and health assessments (Appx. 8). If this project were to move ahead, partnerships with key stakeholders throughout the state and abroad will be instrumental in making progress and seeing reintroduction through to a successful conclusion.

Plan Management

Adaptive Management

Success of any reintroduction is highly dependent on the adaptability of the plan and the staff involved. Making course corrections along the journey can mean the difference between failure and success. Although plans are meant to be followed, it should be stated that this plan will have fluidity and provides a guidance document that can be altered as necessary. Much of what is learned as the process unfolds will inform deviations from this plan if needed. The marten reintroduction team will play an important role in evaluating and making those decisions and regularly updating the plan as necessary. This plan was sent to 64 individuals for review representing a diverse group of stakeholders and partners, content experts and colleagues from across the country and within Pennsylvania.

Long-term Management

If the project realizes success with the eventual establishment of the American marten in Pennsylvania, this plan will be transitioned from a reintroduction plan to a management plan. This follows the track PGC has taken with the reintroduction of fisher, bald eagle, elk, and river otter. Annual monitoring programs would be established utilizing some of the same methods that other successfully reintroduced species have adopted. Developing annual population indices will be important to track changes in population over time and measures of occupancy will provide updated information to managers on how these populations are faring on the landscape. Similar methods will likely be used as other furbearers have (Keller 2022b; see *Observational and Incidental Surveys*).

Harvest - As with other furbearer species that have had successful reintroductions to Pennsylvania, including river otter, fisher, and beaver, providing harvest opportunity will likely be an important aspect of longterm management and should be considered once populations reach a level able to sustain harvest. In some cases. population stabilization can be achieved through harvest (Strickland 1994), and managers have the ability to more easily manipulate stable populations because harvest presents a tool to better understand small changes over time (Powell 1994). Sustainable harvest presents many benefits to a population because it allows for important data collection within that population. Trappers have always played a critical role in managing furbearing species within Pennsylvania by partnering with the PGC and providing information on trapping effort as well as incidental capture, and carcass collection.

Harvest management must consider many factors including population density and occupancy across the landscape, habitat suitability and related carrying capacity, as well as social aspects that come into play. Few examples exist of states or provinces providing targets for a sustainable population for a harvest. Maine provides one of the more detailed explanations of how they've set harvest targets (Strickland 1994, Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife [MDIFW] 2020) through a population estimate based on habitat availability, followed by a maximum allowable harvest at one marten per square mile. This was assuming that carrying capacity had been reached within core habitat (MDIFW 2020). Maine's biologists monitor a variety of trapping indices (harvest, rate of success, and effort) and habitat availability to set seasons and bag limits. Current harvest objectives are 3,000 martens, which is approximately 17% of their estimated marten population in 1990.

Following this example. Pennsylvania would need to collect data on carrying capacity within the state to develop a framework for harvest. Based on current habitat suitability modeling for Pennsylvania and high and optimal contiguous habitat (see Habitat Modeling section), models suggest that Pennsylvania could potentially support an estimated 29,427 martens, although this is not a current goal or estimate needed for harvest. If Pennsylvania followed Maine's example of 17% (MDIFW 2020), over 4,600 martens could be harvested sustainably. Despite the estimates presented here, more accurate habitat availability and carrying capacity estimates would be needed using data collected from research and monitoring efforts during the reintroduction. Like other furbearers that have been reintroduced, Pennsylvania would likely take a very conservative approach to harvest through a limited number of permits to begin with, an abbreviated season, a limit of 1 marten per permit per year, or assigning permits through lottery. If research shows that additional animals can be harvested sustainably, managers would likely slowly open harvest opportunities as PGC has done with fisher and river otter. Regulations should include mandatory harvest reporting, and carcass surrender following the removal of the pelt

for the first several years to collect needed data for management.

Conflict Management

Conflict management with all species is an important aspect of social considerations. The marten is a secretive species that resides in the core of the forest and wilderness areas throughout its range, so opportunity for conflict with humans or property (including livestock) are few. Should conflict arise, PGC staff should be notified and respond accordingly. During the period of population establishment, responding staff should attempt to resolve the conflict in a manner that will preserve the life of the offending animal. This may mean relocation as with problematic bears in the state, or assisting landowners with education, information, or additional resources as needed. If conflicts arise, staff should first contact the PGC furbearer specialist for additional support and instructions.

Resources and Support

Resources

Reintroduction efforts are herculean in scale and require significant resources to ensure success. Fortunately, the Pennsylvania Game Commission in partnership with supporting agencies and organizations finds now to be an appropriate time to move forward with such a consideration.

Staffing - The PGC is fully staffed and has more staff resources available to it now than ever. Regions now have additional biological staff throughout the state and additional support from bio-aides and seasonal internships that assist permanent staff with research and monitoring. Wildlife Health - The Agency has a strong partnership with The University of Pennsylvania's PennVet Wildlife Futures Program, providing the ability to monitor and manage wildlife diseases statewide. With Futures staff housed within every region and Harrisburg headquarters, the PGC is uniquely positioned to work with the Wildlife Futures staff on health and disease concerns relating to marten reintroduction.

Research - The PGC continues to be a dedicated partner with the Pennsylvania Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit at the Pennsylvania State University, and commonly partners with other academic institutions in state such as Indiana University of Pennsylvania, Delaware Valley University, Shippensburg University, Juniata College, Pennsylvania Western University, and a variety of others.

External Partnerships – The PGC works collaboratively with many NGOs throughout the state on a large variety of projects. Habitat focuses on wetlands management (Ducks Unlimited), grassland management (Pheasants/Quail Forever), forest management (American Bird Conservancy, Ruffed Grouse Society), or a combination (National Wild Turkey Federation). Organizations like Audubon and Hawk Mountain Sanctuary partner on non-game bird research and management while land like Western Pennsylvania trusts partner Conservancy both on land acquisition and wildlife research through the Natural Heritage Program partnership. The list of external partners is long and growing, driving ingenuity and a diversity of projects in wildlife management.

Funding – Currently, the PGC has reached new levels of financial surplus. At the end of

this past fiscal year (FY22), the Game Fund balance exceeded \$253 million dollars, an increase from the previous year of over \$110 million. There has never been a better time financially to pursue a project such as this. A reintroduction effort would neither pull money away from other research projects, nor from much needed habitat management projects within the state for species in decline.

Support – Reintroduction efforts are completely dependent on support from both the public and partners. Fortunately, this project has strong public support (see Public Opinion section), which has always been critical (Serfass et al. 2003, Watkins et al. 2021) in carnivore reintroductions. Support has also come from the primary public land holders within Pennsylvania, including the DCNR, USFS, and internally at PGC. Support has come from zoo facilities within the state willing to partner as a part of this effort. Support has come from the Pennsylvania chapter of The Wildlife Society, The Pennsylvania Trappers Association, and the Keystone Trails Association. Support has also come from other states to include Maine and Michigan in partnering as potential source locations.

Budget

Cost of a project has always been an important consideration within а reintroduction effort such as this. What should be made clear. is that the Pennsylvania Game Commission will provide the funding for all aspects of this project as needed. If partner agencies and organizations are interested in financially supporting this effort it would be welcomed, but total cost can be covered by the agency.

Year	One Time Cost	Translocation Cost	Long-term Monitoring					
2024	\$289,400	\$63,179						
2025		\$308,601						
2026		\$308,601						
2027		\$308,601						
2028		\$308,601						
2029		\$308,601						
2030			\$60,000					
2031			\$60,000					
2032			\$60,000					
2033			\$60,000					
Total	\$184,400	\$1,606,184	\$240,000					
10-Year Project Total = \$2,030,584								

Table 1. Proposed 10-year budget for American marten reintroduction to Pennsylvania.

The budget provides individual line items (Appx. 9) as well as a 10-year overview (Table 1) for the life of the plan. The total cost is reflective of a decade of needed resources to reintroduce a species. Much of these data were modeled after Lewis (2006). For a detailed annual budget with individual line-items see Appendix 10.

Timeline

For the success of any long-term management plan, a timeline should be developed. This allows managers to carefully track the completion of strategies and action items, ensuring each is addressed at the appropriate time within the extent of the plan. For a detailed timeline corresponds to the project goals, objectives, strategies, and action items see Appendix 11.

Why Consider Reintroduction

Why consider reintroduction of American marten to Pennsylvania? Most prior reintroduction projects have cited the need to not only restore a native species that was extirpated, but to continue working to restore

the overall ecological community to which marten were once an important part (Powell et al. 2012, Slough 1994). The idea of ecological restoration centers on attempts to return "community composition, ecosystem structure, and ecosystem processes" from a "degraded or damaged" ecosystem (Holl 2020) to a healthy community. There are many motivations for this defined type of restoration. including conservation of biodiversity, both with species and habitat. Biological diversity describes not only species diversity, as is usually associated with the term, but genetic and ecosystem diversity as well (Tsioumani and Tsioumanis 2020). Often, we separate ourselves, from this idea of interconnectivity, but in reality, "biodiversity underpins human well-being and livelihoods" because we share this greater ecosystem with all life (Tsioumani and Tsioumanis 2020).

This idea of biological diversity ties directly into the political side of why considering reintroduction is important. The Convention on Biological Diversity (Broome 2010) is a worldwide initiative aiming to reduce biodiversity loss and is a critical partnership across the globe of nations working together towards a common goal that affects everyone. The DCNR "manages state forests to provide habitats that support diverse, healthy populations of wildlife ... " (DCNR 2016) as well as seeks to "restore or maintain diverse habitats and resilient ecosystems" (DCNR 2020), key tenets within their State Forest Resource Management Plan and Forest Action Plan. This very assessment is called upon under the Pennsylvania Game Commission's own Strategic Plan (PGC 2020), under goal number one which states "Manage diverse and sustainable wildlife for current and future generations." As stewards of the state's natural resources, the DCNR and PGC are charged with both maintaining and increasing ecological diversity.

An additional reason for considering reintroduction is enhancing ecosystem processes (Holl 2020). An example of this is the marten's propensity towards frugivory and the importance they play in seed dispersal for a variety of plant species (Willson 1993, Buskirk and Ruggiero 1994). The generalist nature of the marten's diet can also act as a stabilizer for rodent populations (Anderson and Erlinge 1977) within the importance forest system. The of counteracting climate change through carbon storage (Cromsigt et al. 2018, Holl 2020) has been cited as another critical reason for the idea of ecosystem restoration, and marten preferred habitat lends itself to this concept. Marten have also proven to serve as an important 'umbrella' species, or a species that is representative of a specific ecosystem or suite of species that all benefit from the management for this single species (Caro 2010). Research from Maine (Mortelliti et al. 2022) found that by using marten as an umbrella for monitoring, they could detect population trends of 11 other species, including coyote, red squirrel (Tamiascurus hudsonicus), fisher, snowshoe hare, raccoon (Procyon lotor), short-tailed weasel (Mustela erminea), red fox, lynx (Lynx canadensis), moose (Alces alces) and others. This idea of using marten as an umbrella or even as a flagship species, either singly or as part of a multi-species suite, as a conservation tool for a variety of other species and habitats is well vetted (Roberge and Angelstam 2004) and that is being used within the one Commonwealth currently with bobwhite quail (Colinus virginianus) reintroduction.

Economic benefits of wildlife can be very difficult to describe (Aylward 1992) due to

the differing methods to which a dollar amount is assigned to a specific activity, species, habitat type or function. Historically, martens were an important furbearing species, and in states where population recovery was successful to the point of harvest, trapping opportunity has resumed and remained strong. Following fisher, beaver, elk, and otter reintroductions in Pennsylvania, managers were able to monitor populations and when they reached a specific consumptive threshold, provide use opportunity as well, which would be a similar consideration for marten if re-established. Kreye (2019) references the idea of both ecological and cultural services within the economic benefit construct. Ecosystem services tie directly into these economic benefits when it comes to the previously mentioned seed dispersal and considering what the cost of replacing that function through human resource might be.

A report on outdoor recreation spending in Pennsylvania by Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Partnership (2018) estimated over 98 million dollars in economic contributions in 2016, 4.3% of Pennsylvania gross domestic product for that year. This report considered both consumptive (i.e., hunting) as well as non-consumptive (i.e., wildlife watching) activities and estimated million over 1.1 wildlife watching participants. Reintroduction of an iconic forest dwelling species such as the marten could contribute to drawing even more people to Penn's woods and the continued growth of this important economic driver. Kreye (2019)combines ecologicalsupporting services and cultural value with the idea of cultural services. She describes three benefits that people receive from nonconsumptive use of wildlife. The idea of existence value, knowing an animal exists,

bequest value, knowing that generations to come will have access to an animal, and *option value*, knowing the animal and its services are available into the future whether it is used or not. Actual dollar amounts relating to these concepts are seen through examples such as referendums for land preservation or donations towards specific species restoration projects (Kreye 2019).

It is important to also consider the cultural significance of wildlife and particularly the marten within this region. Pennsylvania has a rich indigenous people's history with many tribes inhabiting the region prior to the formation of the state itself. Tribes such as the Seneca, Shawnee, Susquehannock, Erie, Shawnee, Monongahela, and Delaware occupied various territories within the area and valued spiritually wildlife both as well as consumptively (Richter 1990). Today, there are no federal or state recognized tribal lands within Pennsylvania, but many native peoples still inhabit the Commonwealth. Marten have held special significance to a variety of indigenous peoples surrounding the Great Lakes (Sanders 2014, WDNR 2011, Dumyahn et al. 2007), often representing people groups or 'clans' (Fig. 15). The marten clan is often made up of hunters, scouts, and warriors, a reflection of the nature of the species. Legends and stories surrounding the marten are also important aspects of these native cultures (NLA 2020).

Finally, Pennsylvania agencies, and particularly those responsible for species groups, have set a long-standing precedence of returning extirpated species to the Commonwealth's waters, fields, and forests. This has occurred through a variety of partnerships with NGO's, academic institutions, federal agencies, public and private landowners, and volunteers. These efforts were often conducted during challenging conditions with scarce resources, mediocre habitat, and environmental degradation (Kosack 1995). Nevertheless, managers worked tirelessly towards success and the generations to follow have reaped the benefit.

Conclusion

The value of wildlife in Pennsylvania has never been questioned by its residents. Over the past 100 years, Pennsylvania has led the nation in re-wilding efforts by reintroducing white-tailed deer, elk, bald eagles and wild turkeys to the forests and fields of this great state. Today's generation has benefited from the forethought of past managers and administrators making decisions to restore species and habitat to the land years before they were born. Youth of today may take for granted herds of deer and flocks of turkeys spread across the landscape and barely give notice to a bald eagle riding the thermals overhead. Older generations don't take these things for granted however, as they remember a time without these animals. They remember when Cameron County did not have elk bugling in September. They remember when peregrine falcons were not seen winging through the towering buildings of Pittsburgh, and when beaver tails didn't break the silence of an early morning on the West Branch of the Susquehanna. If not for the wise decisions of a few, some who didn't see the end result but were only thinking of the future, the Pennsylvania wilds would be much less wild, and as a people, Pennsylvanians would be all the poorer for The essence of conservation it. is comprehending the wise decisions of yesterday having influenced the plenty of today while grasping the significance of tomorrow.

The American marten is one of the great icons of wilderness throughout North America. An opportunity to restore such a significant species to the wilderness of Pennsylvania comes along very seldomly. With the support of Pennsylvanians throughout the state, strong partnerships from within and outside of its borders, and clear feasibility, this plan provides a comprehensive science-based path forward. Whether a hunter, birder, trapper or hiker; a conservationist understands that the value of wilderness is not what can be extracted from it, but rather what can be returned to it.



Quinn Campoli, Grade 11, Tobyhanna, PA

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank (in no order): members of the Pennsylvania American **Marten Working Group & Reintroduction** Plan Steering Committee; individuals who consulted during the drafting of the Feasibility Assessment and the Reintroduction and Management Plan and/or provided thorough and thoughtful review: Matthew Schnupp (PGC), Steven Smith (PGC), Matthew Morrett (PGC), Jason Decoskey (PGC), David Carlini, Creigh Martson (PGC), Zachery Fahnestock (PGC), Jason Raup (PGC), Melanie Weaver (PGC), Matthew Lovallo (PGC), Christopher Rosenberry (PGC), Linda Ordiway (USFS), Emily Domoto (DCNR), Gary Kolesar (USFS), Nathan Reagle (DCNR), Scott Bearer (PGC), James Whitacre (PGC), Jeffrey Larkin (IUP), Timothy Haydt (PGC), Kenneth Duren (PGC), John Taucher (PGC), Joshua Johnson (PGC), Coren Jagnow (PGC), Lori Neely-Mitchell, Sean Murphy (PGC), Gregory Turner (PGC), Michael Scafini (PGC), Patricia Barber (PGC), Andrea Hille (USFS), Tracy Graziano (PGC), Ian Gregg (PGC), Kevin Wenner Ternent (PGC), (PGC), Mark Daniel Heggenstaller (PGC), Vreeland Justin (PGC), Clay Lutz (PGC), Daniel Adams (PGC), Hunter Slear (PGC), Denise Mitcheltree (PGC), Charlie Eichelberger (WPC), Joseph Wisgo (WPC), David Yeany

(WPC), Lisa Williams (PGC), Reina Tyl (PGC), Mary Jo Casalena (PGC), Emily Boyd (PGC), Michelle Goodman (EPZ), Dale Snyder (HZA), Aaron Haines (TWS), Charlie Sykes (PTA), Brook Lenker (KTA), Krisinda Corbin (PGC), Christopher Hauer (PADMVA), Stephen Rutkowski (USFS), Collin Shephard (USFS), Scott Parkhill (PA Audubon), Catherine Haffner (PGC), Mitchell Blake (NWTF), Andrew Olson (NWTF), Benjamin Jones (RGS), Aaron Facka (Wildlands Network); Professional experts from across the range who contributed knowledge, direction, and review including Kim Royer (VT), Shevenell Webb (ME), John Erb (MN), Paul Keenlance (MI), Robert Sanders (MI), Angela Kujawa (MI), Michael Joyce (MN), James Woodford (WI), Jonathan Gilbert (WI), Jonathan Pauli (WI), Mandy Watson (NY), Paul Jensen (NY), Timothy Watson (NY), Aaron Walpole (ON), Jonathan Cormier (NB), Cody Norton (MI), Jay Kolbe (MT), and Braden Burkholder (MT); Disease experts Andrew Di Salvo (PGC), Scott Larsen (WFP), and Sabrina Greening (WFP); Permissions from Roger Powell (NCSU), Brian Slough (Ind. Consultant), and Thomas Albright (USFS); and special thanks to Emily Clees (PGC) for habitat model design and development as well as map development. Apologies to anyone missed within this list, please know that your contributions were incredibly valued and appreciated.

Literature Cited

- Albright, T. A., W. H. McWilliams, R. H. Wildmann, B. J. Butler, S. J. Crocker, C. M. Kurtz, S. Lehman, R. Riemann and J. E. Smith. 2017. Pennsylvania Forests 2014. U.S. Forest Service, Newton Square, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Allen, A. W. 1984. Habitat suitability index models: marten. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Publication FWS/OBS-82/10.11, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Allen, G. M. 1942. Extinct and vanishing mammals of the western hemisphere. American Committee for International Wild Life Protection. Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA.
- Anderson, M. and S. Erlinge. 1977. Influence of predation on rodent populations. Oikos. 23:591-597.
- Anderson, M. G., A. Barnett, M. Clark, J. Prince, S. A. Olivero and B. Vickery. 2016. Resilient and connected landscapes for terrestrial conservation. The Nature Conservancy, Eastern Conservation Science, Eastern Regional Office. Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Andren, H. 1994. Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat: a review. Oikos. 71(3):355-366.
- Aylward, B. 1992. Appropriating the value of wildlife and wildlands. Pages 34-64 *in* T. M. Swanson and E. B. Barbier, editors. Economics of the Wilds. Routledge, London, England.
- Aylward, C. M., J. D. Murdoch and C. W. Kilpatrick. 2020. Multiscale landscape genetics of American marten at their southern range periphery. The Genetics Society. 124:550-561.
- Baker, C. M., A. Gordon and M. Bode. 2016. Ensemble ecosystem modeling for predicting ecosystem response to predator reintroduction. Conservation Biology. 31:376-384.
- Baker, J. M. 1992. Habitat use and spatial organization of pine marten on southern Vancouver Island, British Columbia. Thesis, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada.
- Balcom, B. J. and R. H. Yahner. 1996. Microhabitat and landscape characteristics associated with the threatened Allegheny woodrat. Conservation Biology 10:515-525.
- Baltensperger, A. P., J. M. Morton and F. Huettmann. 2017. Expansion of American marten (*Martes americana*) distribution in response to climate and landscape change on the Kenai Peninsula, Alaska. Journal of Mammalogy 98:703-714.
- Barrett, M. W. 1983. Smoked aluminum track plots for determining furbearer distribution and relative abundance. California Fish and Game. 69:188-190.
- Bath, A. J. 2008. The public and wolf reintroduction in Yellowstone National Park. Society & Natural Journals. 2:297-306.

- Becker, T. 2016. Conservation and repatriation of the regal fritillary butterfly. Invertebrates in Education and Conservation Conference proceedings. Association of Zoos and Aquariums, Silver Spring, Maryland, USA.
- Belant, J. L., D. R. Etter, P. D. Friedrich, M. K. Cosgrove, B. W. Williams, and K. T. Scribner. 2011. Comparison of techniques for sex determination of American martens. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 75:256-260.
- Berteaux, D., G. Gauthier, F. Domine, R. A. Ims, S. F. Lamoureux, E. Lévesque and N. Yoccoz. 2017. Effects of changing permafrost and snow conditions on tundra wildlife: critical places and times. Arctic Science 3:65-90.
- Biggins, D. E., B. J. Miller, L. R. Hanebury, and R. A. Powell. 2011. Mortality of Siberian polecats and black -footed ferrets released onto prairie dog colonies. Journal of Mammalogy 92:721-731.
- Black, B. A. and M. D. Abrams. 2005. Disturbance history and climate response in an oldgrowth hemlock-white pine forest, central Pennsylvania. The Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society. 132:103-114.
- Boulanger, J., K. C. Kendall, J. B. Stetz, D. A. Roon, L. P. Waits, and D. Paetkau. 2008. Multiple data sources improve DNA-based mark-recapture population estimates of grizzly bears. Ecological Applications. 18:577-589.
- Bowman J. and J. Robitaille. 2005. An assessment of expert-based marten habitat models used for forest management in Ontario. The Forestry Chronicle. 81:801-807.
- Bradley D.W., Molles L.E., Waas J.R. 2014. Post-translocation assortative pairing and social implications for the conservation of an endangered songbird. Animal Conservation. 17:197–203
- Broome, K. 2010. Convention on biological diversity in a nutshell. Alternatives Journal 36:19.
- Broquet, T., C. A. Johnson, E. Petit, I. Thompson, F. Burel and J. M. Fryxell. 2006. Dispersal and genetic structure in the American marten, *Martes americana*. Molecular Ecology 15:1689-1697.
- Bull E. L. 2000. Seasonal and sexual differences in American marten diet in northeastern Oregon. Northwest Science. 74:186-191.
- Bull, E. L. and T. W. Heater. 2001. Home range and dispersal of the American marten in northeastern Oregon. Northwestern Naturalist 82:7-11.
- Bull, E. L., T. W. Heater, and F. G. Culver. 1996. Live-trapping and immobilizing American martens. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 24:555-558.
- Burris, O. E. and D. E. McKnight. 1973. Game transplants in Alaska. Game Technical Bulletin. Alaska Department of Fish and Game 4:57.

- Burnett, A. W., M. E. Kirby, H. T. Mullins and W. P. Patterson. 2003. Increasing great lakeeffect snowfall during the twentieth century: a regional response to global warming? Journal of Climate 16:3535-3542.
- Buskirk, S. W. 1992. Conserving circumboreal forests for martens and fishers. Conservation Biology. 6:318-320.
- Buskirk, S. W. and R. A. Powell. 1994. Habitat ecology of fishers and American martens. Pages 283-296 *in* S. W. Buskirk, A. S. Harestad, M. G. Raphael, and R. A. Powell, editors. Martens, Sables, and Fishers: Biology and Conservation. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York.
- Buskirk, S. W., and L. F. Ruggiero. 1994. American marten. Pages 7-37 in L. F. Ruggiero, K. B. Aubry, S. W. Buskirk, L. J. Lyon, and W. J. Zielinski, editors. The scientific basis for conserving forest carnivores. U.S. Forest Service General Technical Report RM-254, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA.
- Buskirk, S. W. and W. J. Zielinski. 1997. American marten (*Martes americana*) ecology and conservation. Pages 17-22 in J. E. Harris and C. V. Ogan, editors. Mesocarnivores of northern California: biology, management, and survey techniques, workshop manual. Humboldt State University, Arcata, California, USA. The Wildlife Society, California North Coast Chapter, Arcata, California, USA.
- Butler-Leopold, P. R., L. R. Iverson, F. R. Thompson III, L. A. Brandt, S. D. Handler, M. K. Janowiak, P. D. Shannon, C. W. Swanston, S. Bearer, A. M. Bryan, K. L. Clark, G. Czarnecki, P. DeSense, W. D. Dijak, J. S. Fraser, P. F. Gugger, A. Hille, J. Hynicka, C. A. Jantz, M. C. Kelly, K. M. Krause, I. P. La Puma, D. Landau, R. G. Lathrop, L. P. Leites, E. Madlinger, S. N. Matthews, G. Ozbay, M. P. Peters, A. Prasad, D. A. Schmit, C. Shephard, R. Shirer, N. S. Skowronski, A. Steele, S. Stout, M. Thomas-Van Gundy, J. Thompson, R. M. Turcotte, D. A. Weinsein and A. Yanez. 2018. Mid-Atlantic forest ecosystem vulnerability assessment and synthesis: a report from the mid-Atlantic climate change response framework project. Gen. Tech. Rep. NRS-181. Newtown Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station.
 https://doi.org/10.2737/NRS-GTR-181. Accessed 28 Mar 2022.
- California Natural Diversity Database [CNDDB]. 2023. State and federally listed endangered and threatened animals of California. California Department of Fish and Wildlife. Sacramento, USA.
- Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIS). 2022. Exporting terrestrial animals and animal products. Government of Canada. https://inspection.canada.ca/animal-health/terrestrial-animals/exports/eng/1300388920375/1300388985791. Accessed 18 May 2023.
- Caro, T. M. 2010. Conservation by proxy: indicator, umbrella, keystone, flagship, and other surrogate species. Island Press, Washington D.C., USA.

Carlson J. E., J. H. Gilbert, J. W. Pokallus, P. J. Manlick, W. E. Moss and J. N. Pauli. 2014.

Potential role of prey in the recovery of American martens to Wisconsin. The Journal of Wildlife Management 78:1499-1504.

- Carroll, C. 2007. Interacting effects of climate change, landscape conversion, and harvest on carnivore population at the range margin: marten and lynx in the northern Appalachians. Conservation Biology. 21:1092-1104.
- Cessna, J. F. and C. Nielsen. 2012. Influences of hemlock wooly adelgid-induced stand-level mortality on nitrogen cycling and stream water nitrogen concentrations in southern Pennsylvania. Castanea. 77:127-135.
- Clark, T. W., E. Anderson, C. Douglas and M. Strickland. 1987. Martes americana. Mammalian Species. 289:1-8.
- Code of Federal Regulations [CFR]. 2023a. Importation, exportation, and transportation of wildlife. Code of Federal Regulations Title 50, Chapter 1, Subchapter B, Part 14. Amended May 12, 2023.
- Code of Federal Regulations [CFR]. 2023b. Experimental populations. Code of Federal Regulations Title 50, Chapter 1, Subchapter B, Part 17, Subpart H, 17.80. Amended July 3, 2023.
- Commonwealth of Pennsylvania [COP]. 1971. Natural resources and the public estate. Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Article 1, Section 27.
- Corn, J. G. and M. G. Raphael. 1992. Habitat characteristics at marten subnivean access sites. The Journal of Wildlife Management 56:442-448.
- Cromsigt, J. P. G. M., M. te Beest, G. I. H. Kerley, M. Landman, E. le Roux and F. A. Smith. 2018. Trophic rewilding as a climate change mitigation strategy. Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B. 373:1-12.
- Cumberland R. E., J. A. Dempsey, G. J. Forbes. 2001. Should diet be based on biomass? Importance of larger prey to the American marten. Wildlife Society Bulletin 29:1125-1130.
- Cunningham, Jr., H.N. 1985. Marten. Pgs. 411-413 *in* Genoways, H.H., and F.J. Brenner, eds. Species of special concern in Pennsylvania. Carnegie Mus. Nat. Hist., Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Davis, M. H. 1983. Post-release movements of introduced marten. Journal of Wildlife Management. 47:59-66.
- Day, C. C., J. H. Gilbert, P. J. Manlick, J. A. Grauer, J. N. Pauli, K. T. Scribner, B. W. Williams, and P. A. Zollner. 2021. Evaluating the legacy of multiple introductions of American martens on spatiotemporal patters of genetic diversity. Journal of Mammalogy. 103:303-315.
- D'Eon, R. G., S. M. Glenn, I. Parfitt and M. Fortin. 2002. Landscape connectivity as a function of scale and organism vagility in a real forested landscape. Conservation Ecology 6:10-24

- de Vos, A. 1951. Overflow and dispersal of marten and fisher from wildlife refuges. Journal of Wildlife Management. 15:164-175.
- Dessecker, D. R. and D. G. McAuley. 2001. Importance of early successional habitat to ruffed grouse and American woodock. Wildlife Society Bulletin 29:456-465.
- Diefenbach, D. R., S. L. Rathbun, J. K. Vreeland, D. Grove and W. J. Kanapaux. 2016. Evidence of range contraction of snowshoe hare in Pennsylvania. Northeastern Naturalist 23:229-248.
- Doster, M., P. Keenlance, and J. Jacquot. 2015. A comparison of American marten habiat use from data collected using VHF radio telemetry versus GPS telemetry. Student Summer Scholars, Grand Valley State University. Allendale, Michigan, USA.
- Doutt, J.K., C.A. Heppenstall, and J.E. Guilday. 1998. Mammals of Pennsylvania. Ninth edition. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Douglas, C. W. and M. A. Strickland. 1987. Fisher. Pages 510-529 *in* Novak, M., J. A. Baker, and M. E. Obbard, editors. Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America. Ontario Trappers Association, North Bay, Canada.
- Dumyahn, J. B., P. A. Zollner and J. H. Gilbert. 2007. Winter home-range characteristics of American marten (*Martes americana*) in northern Wisconsin. The American Midland Naturalist 158:382-394.
- Environmental Law and Policy Center [ELPC]. 2020. Cutting corners to rush logging will harm Northwoods. Andy Olson, Environmental Law and Policy Center. <https://elpc.org/blog/cutting-corners-to-rush-logging-will-harm-northwoods/.> Accessed 25 June 2023.
- Environmental Law and Policy Center [ELPC]. 2023. Petition letter for reconsideration of the Fourmile project. Scott Strand, Environmental Law and Policy Center. https://elpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/ELPC-CNNF-Fourmile-Letter-Reconsideration-FINAL.pdf>. Accessed 12 December 2023.
- Environmental Protection Information Center [EPIC]. 2019. Lawsuit targets California permit for clearcutting endangered marten habitat. EPIC staff, Environmental Protection Information Center. ">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia.org/post/lawsuit-targets-california-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia-permit-forclearcutting-endangered-marten-habitat>">https://www.wildcalifornia-permit-forformitation_formitati
- ESRI. 2022. How focal statistics work. ESRI ArcGIS Pro. https://pro.arcgis.com/en/pro-app/latest/tool-reference/spatial-analyst/how-focal-statistics-works.htm. Accessed 14 June 2022.
- Fecske, D. M. 2003. Distribution and abundance of American martens and cougars in the black hills of South Dakota and Wyoming. Dissertation. South Dakota State University, Brookings, USA.

Fecske, D. M., J. A. Jenks and V. J. Smith. 2002. Field evaluation of a habitat-relation model for

the American marten. Wildlife Society Bulletin 30:775-782.

- Federal Register [FR]. 2018. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants; threatened species status for coastal distinct population segment of the pacific marten. Vol. 83 (195; 9 Oct. 2018): 50574-50582.
- Fischer, J. and D. B. Lindenmayer. 2000. An assessment of the published results of animal relocations. Biological conservation. *96*(1):1-11.
- Fisher, J. T., B. Anholt, S. Bradbury, M. Wheatley and J. P. Volpe. 2013. Spatial segregation of sympatric marten and fishers: the influence of landscapes and species-scapes. Ecography 36:240-248.
- Florin, J. W. 1977. The advance of frontier settlement in Pennsylvania, 1638-1850: A geographic interpretation. Papers in Geography. Pennsylvania State University, State College, USA.
- Flynn, R. W. and T. V. Schumacher. 2016. Determining sex and age of martens in the north Pacific coast: using skull length and temporal muscle coalescence. Alaska Dept. of Fish and Game. Wildlife Research Report ADF&G/DWC/WRR-2016-5, Juneau, USA.
- Foran, D. R., S. C. Minta, and K. S. Heinemeyer. 1997. DNA-based analysis of hair to identify species and individuals for population research and monitoring. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 25(4):840-847.
- Fredrickson, R. J. 1990. The effects of disease, prey fluctuations, and clearcutting on American marten in newfoundland, Canada. Thesis, Utah State University, Logan, USA.
- Frankham, R., J. D. Ballou, K. Ralls, M. Eldridge, M. R. Dudash, C. B. Fenster, R. C. Lacy, and P. Sunnucks. 2017. Genetic management of fragmented animal and plant populations. Oxford University Press. Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Fritts, S. H., W. J. Paul, and L. D. Mech. 1984. Movements of translocated wolves in Minnesota. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 48:709-721.
- Fryxell, J. M., J. B. Falls, E. A. Falls, R. J. Brooks, L. Dix, and M. A. Strickland. 1999. Density dependence, prey dependence, and population dynamics of martens in Ontario. Ecology 80:1311-1321.
- Fuller, A. K. and D. J. Harrison. 2005. Influence of partial timber harvesting on American martens in north-central Maine. The Journal of Wildlife Management 69:710-722.
- Fuller, A. K., D. W. Linden, and J. A. Royle. 2016. Management decision making for fisher populations informed by occupancy modeling. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 80:794-802.
- Gehring, T. M., L. M. McFadden, S. A. Prussing, S. A. Bickersmith, and C. Buchanan. 2019. Spatial ecology of re-introduced American martens in the Northern Lower Peninsula of Michigan. The American Midland Naturalist 182:239-251.

- Gibbons, J. W. and K. M. Andrews. 2004. PIT tagging: simple technology at its best. BioScience. 54(5):447-454.
- Gieck, E. M. 1986. Wisconsin pine marten recovery plan. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Wisconsin Endangered Resources. Rep. 22.
- Gilbert, J. H., R. A. Powell, N. P. McCann, P. A. Zollner, and T. Aldred. 2017. Habitat use by fishers and martens in mixed Laurentian forests of the southern Lake Superior region. A. Zalewski, L. A. Wierzbowska, K. B. Aubry, J. D. S. Birks, D. T. O'Mahony, G. Proulx, editors. The *Martes* Complex in the 21st century: ecology and conservation. Mammal Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Bialowieza, Poland.Goguen, C. B., R. S. Fritsky and G. J. San Julian. 2015. Effects of brush piles on small mammal abundance and survival in central Pennsylvania. Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management. 6:392-404.
- Grauer, J. A., J. H. Gilbert, J. E. Woodford, D. Eklund, S. Anderson, and J. N. Pauli. 2019. Modest immigration can rescue a reintroduced carnivore population. The Journal of Wildlife Management 83:567-576.
- Griffith, B., J. M. Scott, J. W. Carpenter and C. Reed. 1989. Translocation as a species conservation tool: status and strategy. Science. 245:477-480.
- Grimm, W.C., and R. Whitebread. 1952. Mammal survey of northeastern Pennsylvania. Final Report, Pittman-Robertson Project 24-R, Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Guilday, J. E. P. S. Martin, and A. D. McCrady. 1964. New Paris no. 4: a late Pleistocene cave deposit in Bedford County, Pennsylvania. National Speleological Society Bulletin 26:121-194.
- Hales A. L., J. L. Belant and J. Bird. 2008. Effects of sex and age on winter diet of American martens in Michigan. Ohio Journal of Science 108:60-64.
- Hall, E. R. 1981. The mammals of North America. Second edition. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York, USA.
- Hall, E. R. and K. R. Kelson. 1959. The mammals of North America. Ronald Press Company. New York, New York, USA.
- Hamilton, W. J., Jr. 1943. Mammals of eastern United States. Comstock Publications, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Hardisky, T. S. 2001. Pennsylvania fisher reintroduction project: final report for project 06680, job 68001. Pennsylvania Game Commission. Harrisburg, USA.
- Hargis, C. D., J. A. Bissonette, and D. L. Turner. 1999. The influence of forest fragmentation and landscape pattern on American martens. Journal of Applied Ecology. 36:157-172.
- Hawley, V. D. and F. E. Newby. 1957. Marten home ranges and population fluctuations. Journal of Mammalogy 38:174-184.

- Hearn, B. J. 2007. Factors affecting habitat selection and population characteristics of American marten (*Martes americana atrata*) in Newfoundland. Dissertation, University of Maine, Orono, USA.
- Hedrick, P. W. and P. S. Miller. 1992. Conservation genetics: techniques and fundamentals. Ecological Applications, 2:30-46.
- Held, M. and S. Jones-Held. 2014. Long-term forest changes in northeastern Pennsylvania. Castanea. 79:138-146.
- Hiller, T. L., D. R. Etter, J. L. Belant and A. J. Tyre. 2011. Factors affecting harvests of fishers and American martens in Northern Michigan. The Journal of Wildlife Management 75:1399-1405.
- Hillman, T. L. 2014. Genetic health and population viability of reintroduced American marten in Michigan. Thesis. Grand Valley State University, Allendale, Michigan, USA.
- Hillman, T. L., P. Keenlance, J. A. Moore, B. J. Swanson, J. J. Jacquot, J. C. Witt, and A. Cornman. 2017. Genetic diversity of reintroduced Amerian martens in Michigan's Lower Peninsula. Journal of Mammalogy 98:1489-1496.
- Hodgman, T. P., D. J. Harrison, D. D. Katnik and K. D. Elowe. 1994. Survival in an intensively trapped marten population in Maine. The Journal of Wildlife Management 58:593-600.
- Holl, K. D. 2020. Primer of ecological restoration. Island Press. Washington D.C., USA.
- Hough, A. F. and R. D. Forbes. 1943. The ecology and silvics of forests in the high plateau of Pennsylvania. Ecological Monographs 13:299-320.
- iNaturalist contributors. 2022. iNaturalist Research-grade Observations. iNaturalist.org. Occurrence dataset <https://www.inaturalist.org/observations?place_id=any&quality_grade=research&subview= map&taxon_id=41798>. Accessed 12 Apr 2022.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature Species Survival Commission [IUCN/SSC] 2013. Guidelines for Reintroductions and Other Conservation Translocations. Version 1.0. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN Species Survival Commission, viiii.
- Jensen, P. G., C. L. Demers, S. A. McNulty, W. J. Jakubas and M. M. Humprhies. 2012. Marten and fisher responses to fluctuations in prey populations and mast crops in the northern hardwood forest. The Journal of Wildlife Management 76:489-502.
- Jensen, P. G. and M. M. Humphries. 2019. Abiotic conditions mediate intraguild interactions between mammalian carnivores. Journal of Animal Ecology 88:1305-1318.
- Jakubas, W. J., C. R. McLaughlin, P. G. Jensen and S. A. McNulty. 2004. Alternate year beechnut production and its influence on bear and marten populations. C. A. Evans, and J. A. Lucas editors. Proceedings of the Beech Bark Disease Symposium. USDA Forest Service

General Technical Report NE-331. Saranac Lake, New York, New York, USA.

- Jamieson, I. G. 2011. Founder effects, inbreeding, and loss of genetic diversity in four avian reintroduction programs. Conservation Biology, 25:115-123.
- Johnson, C. A., J. M. Fryxell, I. D. Thompson, and J. A. Baker. 2009. Mortality risk increases with natal dispersal distance in American martens. Proceedings of the Royal Zoological Society of London B 276:3361-3367.
- Johnson, S., S. Bearer, A. Hille, S. Stout and R. Turcotte. 2016. Environmental reviews and case studies: eastern hemlock conservation: a collaborative approach to prioritization through a diverse partnership. Environmental Practice 18:94-105.
- Johnson, S., S. Bearer, A. Hille, R. Turcotte and S. Stout. 2014. A collaborative approach to prioritizing high Allegheny hemlock for conservation in light of impending impact by hemlock wooly adelgid. The Nature Conservancy final report to the U.S. Forest Service. <www.pawild.org/pdfs/TNCUSFSFinalreportHighAlleghenyHWA18march2014.pdf>. Accessed 5 Apr 2022.
- Joyce, M. J. 2018. Evaluating American marten habitat quality using airborne light detection and ranging (LiDAR) data. Dissertation. University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, USA.
- Joyce, M. J., J. D. Erb, B. A. Simpson and R. A. Moen. 2019. Detection of coarse woody debris using airborne light detection and ranging (LiDAR). Forest Ecology and Management 433:678-689.
- Joyce, M. J., A. Zalewski, J. D. Erb, and R. A. Moen. 2017. Use of resting microsites by members of the *Martes* complex: the role of thermal stress across species and regions. A. Zalewski, L. A. Wierzbowska, K. B. Aubry, J. D. S. Birks, D. T. O'Mahony, G. Proulx, editors. The *Martes* Complex in the 21st century: ecology and conservation. Mammal Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Bialowieza, Poland.
- Katnik, D.D. 1992. Spatial use, territoriality, and summer-autumn selection of habitat in an intensively harvested population of martens on commercial forestland in Maine. M.S. Thesis, University of Maine, Orono, Maine. 137 pp.
- Keller, T. 2022a. American marten reintroduction: a feasibility assessment for Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Keller, T. 2022b. Furbearer population and harvest monitoring: Annual project job report fiscal year 2021. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Keller, L. F. and D. M. Waller. 2002. Inbreeding effects in wild populations. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17:230-241.
- Kelly, M. J., J. Betsch, C. Wultsch, B. Mesa, and L. S. Mills. 2012. Noninvasive sampling for carnivores. Pages 47-69 *in* Carnivore Ecology and Conservation: A Handbook of Techniques. Editors L. Boitani and R. A. Powell. Oxford University Press. London, England.

- Kerstetter, E. 2022. American marten habitat suitability model for Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania Game Commssion, Harrisburg, USA.
 https://www.pgc.pa.gov/Wildlife/WildlifeSpecies/Documents/American%20Marten%20Habitat%2 OSuitability.pdf>. Accessed 28 May, 2023.
- Kirk, T. A. and W. J. Zielinski. 2009. Developing and testing a landscape habitat suitability model for the American marten (*Martes americana*) in the Cascades mountains of California. Landscape Ecology 24:759-773.
- Kitching, H. and D. C. Tozer. 2010. Observations of American marten (*Martes americana*) feeding at sap wells of yellow-bellied sapsuckers (*Sphyrapicus varius*). Northerastern Naturalist 17:333-336.
- Klinger, S. and T. Keller. 2019. Pennsylvania wild pheasant recovery program 2008-2019. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Koehler, G. M. and M. G. Hornocker. 1977. Fire effects on marten habitat in the selwaybitterroot wilderness. The Journal of Wildlife Management 41:500-505.
- Koen E. L., J. Bowman, C. J. Garroway, S. C. Mills, and P. J. Wilson. 2012. Landscape resistance and American marten gene flow. Landscape Ecology, 27:29-43.
- Kolbe, J., C. Gower, and R. Inman. 2020. Reintroduction of marten to the Little Belt Mountains. Montana Fish, Wildlife & Parks. Helena, Montana, USA.
- Kosack, J. 1995. The Pennsylvania Game Commission 1995-1995, 100 years of wildlife conservation. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Kreye, M. 2019. Understanding the value of wildlife in Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania State University Extension. State College, Pennsylvania, USA. https://extension.psu.edu/understanding-the-value-of-wildlife-in-pennsylvania>. Accessed 4 Apr 2022.
- Krohn, W. B. 2012. Distribution changes of American martens and fishers in Eastern North America, 1699-2001. Pages 58-73 *in* K. B. Aubry, W. J. Zielinski, M. G. Raphael, G. Proulx and S. W. Buskirk, editors. Biology and Conservation of Martens, Sables, and Fishers: A New Synthesis. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Krohn, W., K. Elowe and R. Boone. 1995. Relations among fishers, snow, and martens: development and evaluation of two hypotheses. The Forestry Chronicle 71:97-105.
- Krohn, W., C. Hoving, D. Harrison, D. Phillips and H. Frost. 2005. *Martes* foot-loading and snowfall patterns in eastern North America: implications to broadscale distributions and interactions of mesocarnivores. Pages 115-131 *in* D. J. Harrison, A. K. Fuller and G. Proulx, editors. Martens and Fishers (Martes) in human-altered environments: An International Perspective. Springer Science and Business Media Inc., New York, New York, USA.

Krohn, W., W. Zielinski and R. Boone. 1997. Relations among fishers, snow, and martens in

California: results from small-scale spatial comparisons. Pages 211-232 *in* G. Proulx, H. Bryant and P. Woodard, editors. Martes: Taxonomy, Ecology, Techniques and Management. Provincial Museum of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

- Kuglin, T. 2021. Martens come home. Montana Outdoors. November-December Issue. Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks. Helena, Montana, USA.
- Kujawa A. M. 2018. Home-range dynamics and resource selection of American marten (*Martes americana*) in Michigan's northern lower peninsula. Thesis. Grand Valley State University, Allendale, Michigan, USA.
- Lacy, R. C. 1997. Importance of genetic variation to the viability of mammalian populations. Journal of Mammalogy, 78:320-335.
- Lawler, J. J., H. D. Safford and E. H. Girvetz. 2012. Martens and fishers in a changing climate. Pages 371-397 in K. B. Aubry, W. J. Zielinski, M. G. Raphael, G. Proulx and S. W. Buskirk, editors. Biology and Conservation of Martens, Sables, and Fishers: A New Synthesis. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Lensink, C. J. 1953. An investigation of the marten in interior Alaska. M. S. Thesis, University of Alaska, Fairbanks. Faribanks, USA.
- Lewis, J. C. 2006. Implementation plan for reintroducing fishers to Olympic National Park. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia., USA.
- LoGiudice, K. 2000. *Baylisaascaris procyonis* and the decline of the Allegheny woodrat (*Neotoma magister*). Dissertation. Rutgers University, New Brunswick, New Jersey, USA.
- Luttringer, L.A. 1931. An Introduction to the Mammals of Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, USA. 62 pp.
- Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife [MDIFW]. 2020. 2020-2030 furbearer management plan. Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife. Augusta, USA.
- Maltamo, M., H. Kinnunen, A. Kangas and L. Korhonen. 2020. Predicting stand age in managed forests using national forest inventory field data and airborne laser scanning. Forest Ecosystems. 7(44). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-020-00254-z>. Accessed 4 Apr 2022.
- Manlick, P. J., S. K. Windels, J. E. Woodford and J. N. Pauli. 2020. Can landscape heterogeneity promote carnivore coexistence in human-dominated landscapes? Landscape Ecology 35:1-15.
- Manlick, P. J., J. E. Woodford, B. Zuckerberg and J. N. Pauli. 2017. Niche compression intensifies competition between reintroduced American martens (*Martes americana*) and fishers (*Pekania pennanti*). Journal of Mammalogy 98:690-702.
- Martin, J. A., R. D. Applegate, T. V. Dailey, M. Downey, B. Emmerich, F. Hernández, M. M. McConnell, K. S. Reyna, D. Rollins, R. E. Ruzicka, T. M. Terhune II. 2017. Translocation as

a population restoration technique for northern bobwhites: a review and synthesis. National Quail Symposium Proceedings: Vol. 8, Article 11. https://doi.org/10.7290/nqsp08mg04. Accessed 20 May 2023.

- Martin, M. E., K. M. Moriarty, and J. N. Pauli. 2019. Forest structure and snow depth alter the movement patterns and subsequent expenditures of a forest carnivore, the Pacific marten. Oikos. 129:356-366.
- Martin, S. K. 1994. Feeding ecology of American martens and fishers. Pages 297-315 *in* S. W. Buskirk, A. S. Harestad, M. G. Raphael, and R. A. Powell, editors. Martens, Sables, and Fishers: Biology and Conservation. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Maryland Department of Natural Resources (MDNR). 2022. Dynamic forest blocks webinar. Maryland Department of Natural Resources. Published through YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=b59EwaphPLI. Accessed 16 June 2022.
- McCann, N. P. 2011. American marten survival and movement in the presence of fishers. Dissertation. Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, USA.
- McCann, N. P., P. A. Zollner and J. H. Gilbert. 2010. Survival of adult martens in northern Wisconsin. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 74:1502-1507.
- McNeil, Jr., D. J., C. A. Nicks, J. C. Wester, J. L. Larkin and M. J. Lovallo. 2017. Diets of fishers (*Pekania pennanti*) and evidence of intraspecific consumption in Pennsylvania. The American Midland Naturalist 177:200-210.
- Mead, R. A. 1994. Reproduction in martens and fishers. Pages 404-422 in S. W. Buskirk, A. S. Harestad, M. G. Raphael, and R. A. Powell, editors. Martens, Sables, and Fishers: Biology and Conservation. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Meffe, G. K. 1987. Conservation genetics and the management of endangered fishes. *Fisheries*. 11:14-23.
- Mengak, M. T. 2018. Wildlife translocation. Wildlife Damage Management Technical Series. USDA, APHIS, WS National Wildlife Research Center. Fort Collins, Colorado, USA.
- Merritt, J.F. 1987. Guide to the mammals of Pennsylvania. University of Pittsburgh Press, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA. 408 pp. 8.
- Morelli, T. L., A. B. Smith, C. R. Kastely, L. Mastroserio, C. Mortiz and S. R. Beissinger. 2012. Anthropogenic refugia ameliorate the severe climate-related decline of a montane mammal along its trailing edge. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. 279:4279-4286.
- Moriarty, K. M. and C. W. Epps. 2015. Retained satellite information influences performance of GPS devices in a forested ecosystem. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 39: 349-357.
- Moriarty, K. M., M. A. Linnell, J. E. Thornton, and G. W. Watts III. 2018. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 42:403-413.

- Mortelliti, A., A. M. Brehm and B. E. Evans. 2022. Umbrella effect of monitoring protocols for mammals in the northeast US. Scientific Reports. 12,1893.
- Moruzzi, T. L., K. J. Royer, C. Grove, R. T. Brooks, C. Bernier, F. L. Thompson, R. M. DeGraaf and T. K. Fuller. 2003. Assessing an American marten, *Martes americana*, reintroduction in Vermont. The Canadian Field-naturalist. 117:190-195.
- Mowat, G., and D. Paetkau. 2002. Estimating marten *Martes Americana* population size using hair capture and genetic tagging. Wildlife Biology. 8:201-209.
- Native Languages of the Americas (NLA). 2020. <www.native-languages.org/legendsmarten.htm>. Accessed 14 Mar 2022.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration [NOAA]. 2022. National Weather Service normal snowfall in central PA. U.S. Dept. of Commerce. <www.weather.gov/ctp/snowNormals>. Accessed 23 Mar 2022.
- Nemeth, N. M., L. M. Williams, A. M. Bosco-Lauth, P. T. Oesterle, M. Helwig, R. A. Bowen and J. D. Brown. 2021. West Nile virus infection in ruffed grouse (*Bonasa umbellus*) in Pennsylvania, USA: A multi-year comparison of statewide serosurveys and vector indices. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 57:51-59.
- Newhard, J. J., J. Devers, S. Minkkinen and M. Mangold. 2021. Assessment of reintroduction of American eel into Buffalo Creek (Susqueahanna River, Pennsylvania). Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management 12:422-433.
- Nichols, M. J. 2016. American marten denning behavior in Michigan. Thesis. Grand Valley State University, Allendale, Michigan, USA.
- Notaro, M., D. Lorenz, C. Hoving and M. Schummer. 2014. Twenty-first-century projections of snowfall and winter severity across central-eastern North America. Journal of Climate 27:6526-6550.
- Nowacki, G. J. and M. D. Abrams. 1994. Forest composition, structure, and disturbance history of the Alan Seeger natural area, Huntingdon County, Pennsylvania. Bulletin of the Torry Botanical Club 121:277-291.
- Obbard, M. E., J. G. Jones, R. Newman, A. Booth, A. J. Satterthwaite, and G. M. Linscombe. Furbearer harvests in North America. Pages 1007 – 1034 *in* M. Novak, J. A. Baker, and M. E. Obbard, editors. Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America. Ontario Trappers Association, North Bay, Canada.
- O'Brien, P., C. Bernier and P. Hapeman. 2018. A new record of an American marten (*Martes americana*) population in southern Vermont. Small Carnivore Conservation 56:68-75.
- Ostfeld, R. S. and R. D. Holt. 2004. Are predators good for your health? Evaluating evidence for top-down regulation of zoonotic disease reservoirs. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 2:13-20.

- Ouborg, J., C. Pertoldi, V. Loeschcke, R. Bijlsma, and P.W. Hedrick. 2010 a. Conservation genetics in transition to conservation genomics. Trends in Genetics 26:177-187.
- Ouborg, N. J., F. Angeloni, and P. Vergeer. 2010b. An essay on the necessity and feasility of conservation genomics. Conservation Genetics 11:643-653.
- Paragi, T. F. and G. M. Wholecheese. 1994. Marten, *Martes americana*, predation on a northern goshawk, *Accipter gentilis*. Canadian Field-Naturalist 108:81-82.
- Pauli, J. N., M. B. Hamilton, E. B. Crain, and S. W. Buskirk. 2008. A single-sampling hair trap for mesocarnivores. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 72:1650-1652.
- Pauli, J. N., P. J. Manlick, J. M. Tucker, G. B. Smith, P. G. Jensen and J. T. Fisher. 2022. Competitive overlap between martens *Martes americana* and *Martes caurina* and fishers *Pekania pennanti*: a rangewide perspective and synthesis. Mammal Review. https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12284>. Accessed 1 Apr 2022.
- Pauli, J. N., W. P. Smith and M. Ben-David. 2012. Quantifying dispersal rates and distances in North American martens: a test of enriched isotope labeling. American Society of Mammologists 93:390-398.
- Payer, D. C. and D. J. Harrison. 1999. Influences of timber harvesting and trapping on habitat selection and demographic characteristics of marten. Dissertation, University of Maine, Orono, USA.
- Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources [DCNR]. 2016. 2016 State forest resource management plan. Department of Conservation and Natural Resources. <https://elibrary.dcnr.pa.gov/GetDocument?docId=1742835&DocName=2016 SFRMP Full Report 9-7.pdf>. Accessed 1 Apr 2022.
- Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources [DCNR]. 2016b. Guidelines and definitions for natural areas and wild areas. Bureau of Forestry, Department of Conservation and Natural Resources.

_http://elibrary.dcnr.pa.gov/PDFProvider.ashx?action=PDFStream&docID=1742466&chksum=&revi
sion=0&docName=MP2015_WNA_Definitions_Guidelines&nativeExt=pdf&PromptToSave=False&Siz
e=1143132&ViewerMode=2&overlay=0>. Accessed 21 May 2022.

Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources [DCNR]. 2018. Physiographic provinces of Pennsylvania map. Department of Conservation and Natural Resources <elibrary.dcnr.pa.gov/GetDocument?docId=1752507&DocName=Map13_PhysProvs_Pa.pdf >. Accessed 23 Mar 2022.

Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources [DCNR]. 2020. Pennsylvania forest action plan. Department of Conservation and Natural Resources. https://www.dcnr.pa.gov/Conservation/ForestsAndTrees/StateForestManagement/ForestAct ionPlan/Pages/default.aspx>. Accessed 28 Mar 2022.

Pennsylvania Game Commission [PGC]. 2020. Pennsylvania Game Commission strategic plan

FY2020-2023: One team one voice one purpose. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg,

USA.<https://www.pgc.pa.gov/InformationResources/AboutUs/Documents/StratPlan2020>. Accessed 1 Apr 2022.

- Pennsylvania Game Commission [PGC]. 2021. A comprehensive planning process for state game lands in Pennsylvania. Administrative Chapter 1 *in* Wildlife Habitat Manual. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Pennsylvania Game Commission [PGC]. 2022. Pennsylvania 2021-22 deer harvest estimates. Annual Report. Deer and Elk Section, Bureau of Wildlife Management. Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Pennsylvania Game Commission and Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission [PGC-PFBC].
 2015. Pennsylvania Wildlife Action Plan, 2015-2025. C. Haffner and D. Day, editors.
 Pennsylvania Game Commission and Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Pennsylvania Game Commission and Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission [PGC-PFBC].
 2019. Pennsylvania Wildlife Action Plan Conservation Opportunity Area Tool. Pennsylvania
 Game Commission and Pennsylvania Fish and Boat Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Pennsylvania General Assembly [PGA]. 1953. Title 58: Wildlife Section 137 Importation, possession, sale and release of certain wildlife. Pennsylvania Recreation Code. <https://www.pacodeandbulletin.gov/Display/pacode?file=/secure/pacode/data/058/chapter1 37/s137.1.html. Accessed 2 June 2023.
- Pennsylvania General Assembly [PGA]. 1986a. Title 34: Game Section 102 Definitions. Pennsylvania Game and Wildlife Code. <https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=34&div=0 &chpt=1&sctn=2&subsctn=0>. Accessed 13 Apr 2022.
- Pennsylvania Youth Congress [PYC]. 2020. Native land statement. Pennsylvania Youth Congress. https://payouthcongress.org/nativelandstatement/. Accessed 20 December 2023.
- Poole, K. G., G. M. Matson, M. A. Strickland, A. J. Magoun, R. P. Graf, and L. M. Dix. 1994.
 Age and sex determination for American martens and fishers. Pages 204-223 *in* Buskirk, S. W., Harestad, A. A., and Raphael, M. G., editors. Martens, sables, and fishers: biology and conservation. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Potvin, F., L. Belanger and K. Lowell. 2000. Marten habitat selection in a clearcut boreal landscape. Conservation Biology. 14:844-857.
- Powell, R. A. 1979. Mustelid spacing patterns: variations on a theme by *Mustela*. Ethology 50:153-165.
- Powell, R. A. 1994. Structure and spacing of *Martes* populations. Pages 101-121 *in* S. W. Buskirk, A. A. Harestad, and M. G. Raphael, editors. Martens, sables, and fishers: biology

and conservation. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York. USA.

- Powell, R. A., J. C. Lewis, B. G. Slough, S. M. Brainerd, N. R. Jordan, A. V. Abramov, V. Monakhov, P. A. Zoolner and T. Murakami. 2012. Evaluating translocations of martens, sables and fishers. Pages 93-137 *in* K. B. Aubry, W. J. Zielinski, M. G. Raphael, G. Proulx and S. W. Buskirk, editors. Biology and Conservation of Martens, Sables, and Fishers: A New Synthesis. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Proulx, G. 2001. Occurrence of American marten within a connectivity corridor. *Martes* Working Group Newsletter 9:4-5.
- Proulx, G., A. J. Kolenosky, M. J. Badry, R. K. Drescher, K. Seidel, and P. J. Cole. 1994. Postrelease movements of translocated fisher. In W. S. Buskirk, A. S. Harestad, M. G. Raphael, and R. A. Powell, editors. Martens, sables, and fishers biology and conservation. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Proulx, G. and K. B. Aubry. 2017. The *Martes* complex: a monophyletic clade that shares many life-history traits and conservation challenges. Pages 3-24 in The *Martes* Complex in the 21st Century: Ecology and Conservation. A. Zalewski, I. A. Wierzboska, K. B. Aubry, J. D. S. Birks, D. T. O'Mahony and G. Proulx editors. Mammal Research Institute, Polish Acadamy of Sciences, Biatowieza, Poland.
- Pruitt, W. O. 2005. Why and how to study a snowcover. Canadian Field Naturalist 119:118-28.
- Racine, E. B., N. C. Coops, B. St-Onge and J. Begin. 2014. Estimating forest stand age from LiDAR-derived predictors and nearest neighbor imputation. Forest Science 60:128-136.
- Raine, M. R. 1981. Winter food habits, responses to snow cover and movements of fisher (*Martes pennanti*) and marten (*Martes americana*) in southeastern Manitoba. Thesis, The University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.
- Ralls, K., P. Sunnucks, R. C. Lacy, and R. Frankham. 2020. Genetic rescue: A critique of the evidence supports maximizing genetic diversity rather than minimizing the introduction of putatively harmful genetic variation. Biological Conservation, 251:108784
- Raphael, M. G. 1994. Techniques for monitoring populations of fishers and American martens. Pages 224-240 *in* Buskirk, S. W., Harestad, A. A., and Raphael, M. G., editors. Martens, sables, and fishers: biology and conservation. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Reynolds, R. T., J. D. Wiens and S. R. Salafsky. 2006. A review and evaluation of factors influencing northern goshawk populations. Studies in Avian Biology 31:260-273.
- Rhoads, S.N. 1895. Notes on the mammals of Monroe and Pike Counties, Pennsylvania. Proc. Acad. Nat. Sci. Philadelphia 1894, pt. 3.
- Rhodes, S. N. 1903. The mammals of Pennsylvania and New Jersey. Privately Published, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.

- Richmond, N.D., and H.R. Roslund. 1949. Mammal survey of north- western Pennsylvania. Final Report, Pittman-Robertson Project 20-R, Pennsylvania Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA..
- Richter, D. K. 1990. A framework for Pennsylvania Indian history. Pennsylvania History: A Journal of the Mid-Atlantic Studies 57:236-261.
- Roberge, J. and P. Angelstam. 2004. Usefulness of the umbrella species concept as a conservation tool. Conservation biology 18:76-85.
- Rosenberg, K. V., A. M. Dokter, P. J. Blancher, J. R. Sauer, A. C. Smith, P. A. Smith, J. C. Stanton, A. Panjabi, L. Helft, M. Parr and P. Marra. 2019. Decline of the North American avifauna. Science 366:120-124.
- Rosenberry, C. S., J. T. Fleegle, B. D. Wallingford. 2009. Management and biology of whitetailed deer in Pennsylvania, 2009-2018. Pennsylvania Game Commission. http://www.pgc.pa.gov/Wildlife/WildlifeSpecies/White-tailedDeer/Documents/2009-2018%20PGC%20 DEER%20MGMT%20PLAN%20-%20FINAL%20VERSION.pdf>. Accessed 28 Mar 2022.
- Rosenzweig, M. L. 1966. Community structure in sympatric *Carnivora*. Journal of Mammalogy 47:602-612.
- Roslund, H.R. 1951. Mammal Survey of Northcentral Pennsylvania. Final Report Pittman-Robertson Project 37-R. Pennsylvania. Game Commission, Harrisburg, USA.
- Rothrock, J. T. 1894. Forests of Pennsylvania. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 33:114-133.
- Ruffed Grouse Society (RGS). 2022. President's message: dynamic forest restoration. Ruffed Grouse Society. https://ruffedgrousesociety.org/presidents-message-dynamic-forest_restoration/#:~:text=%E2%80%9CDynamic%20forest%E2%80%9D%20meaning%20 diverse%20and,the%2080%2D125%20age%20range>. Accessed 16 June 2022.
- Rustigian-Romsos, H. L. and W. D. Spencer. 2010. Predicting habitat suitability for the American marten on the Lassen National Forest. Conservation Biology Institute report for the U.S. Forest Service. <https://www.sierraforestlegacy.org/Resources/Conservation/SierraNevadaWildlife/America nMarten/AM-Rustigian-Romsos%20and%20Spencer2010.pdf>. Accessed 5 Apr 2022.
- Sanders, R. L. 2014. Resting site characteristics of American marten in the northern lower peninsula of Michigan. Grand Valley State University masters thesis.
- Sanders, R. L. and A. Cornman. 2017. Resting site characteristics of American marten in the northern lower peninsula of Michigan. The American Midland Naturalist 177:211-225.
- Schulte, L. A., D. J. Mladenoff, T. R. Crow, L. C. Merrick and D. T. Cleland. 2007. Homogenization of northern U.S. great lakes forests due to land use. Landscape Ecology

22:1089-1103.

- Schulz, T. T. and L. A. Joyce. 1992. A spatial application of a marten habitat model. Wildlife Society Bulletin 20:74-83.
- Schwartz, M. K., A. Ruiz-Gonzalez, R. Masuda, and C. Pertoldi. 2012. Conservation genetics of the genus *Martes*: assessing within-species movements, units to conserve, and connectivity across ecological and evolutionary time. Pages 398-428 *in* K. B. Aubry, W. J. Zielinski, M. G. Raphael, G. Proulx and S. W. Buskirk, editors. Biology and Conservation of Martens, Sables, and Fishers: A New Synthesis. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Seddon, P. J., C. J. Griffiths, P. S. Soorae and D. P. Armstrong. 2014. Reversing defaunation: restoring species in a changing world. Science. 345:406-412.
- Seglund, A. E. 1995. The use of resting sites by the Pacific fisher. M.S. thesis, Humboldt State University, Arcata, California, USA.
- Serfass, T. L., J. A. Bohrman, S. S. Stevens, and J. T. Bruskotter. 2014. Otters and anglers can share the stream! The role of social science in dissuading negative messaging about reintroduced predators. Human Dimensions of Wildlife. 19:532-544.
- Serfass, T. L., R. L. Peper, M. T. Whary, and R. P. Brooks. 1993. River otter (*Lutra canadensis*) reintroduction in Pennsylvania: prerelease care and clinical evaluation. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine. 24:28-40.

Serfass, T. L., R. P. Brooks, L. M. Rymon and O. E. Rhodes Jr. 2003. River otters in Pennsylvania, USA: Lessons for predator re-introduction. Published through Researchgate. <https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Thomas-Serfass/publication/271382379_RIVER_OTTERS_IN_PENNSYLVANIA_USA_LESSONS _FOR_PREDATOR_RE-INTRODUCTION/links/54c66c150cf256ed5a9e6839/RIVER-OTTERS-IN-PENNSYLVANIA-USA-LESSONS-FOR-PREDATOR-RE-INTRODUCTION.pdf>. Accessed 6 Apr 2022.

- Serfass, T. L., R. C. Cordes, J. A. Fike and M. R. Dzialak. 2002. American marten (*Martes americana*) reintroduction in Pennsylvania (?): Feasibility and review. Report submitted to Wild Resource Conservation Fund. Frostburg State University, Frostburg, Maryland, USA.
- Skalski, J. R., J. J. Millspaugh, M. V. Clawson, J. L. Belant, D. R. Etter, B. J. Frawley, and P. D. Friedrich. 2011. Abundance trends of American martens in Michigan based on statistical population reconstruction. The Journal of Wildlife Management 75:1767-1773.
- Slough, B. G. 1994. Translocation of American martens: an evaluation of factors in success. Pages 101-121 *in* Buskirk, S. W., Harestad, A. A., and Raphael, M. G., editors. Martens, sables, and fishers: biology and conservation. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Small, M. P., K. D. Stone, and J. A. Cook. 2002. American marten (*Martes americana*) in the Pacific Northwest: population differentiation across a landscape fragmented in time and

space. Molecular Ecology 12:89-103.

- Smith, T. L. 1989. An overview of old-growth forests in Pennsylvania. Natural Areas Journal. 9:40-44.
- Smith, A. C. and J. A. Schaefer. 2002. Home-range size and habitat selection by American marten (*Martes americana*) in Labrador. Canadian Journal of Zoology 80:1602-1609.
- Smith, D. M., B. C. Larson, M. J. Kelty and P. M. S. Ashton. 1997. The practice of silviculture: Applied forest ecology. Ninth edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, New York, USA.
- Soutiere, E. C. 1979. Effects of timber harvesting on marten in Maine. Journal of Wildlife Management 43:850-860.
- Soutiere, E. C., and J. D. Steventon. 1981. Seasonal pelage change of the marten (Martes a. americana) in Maine. Canadian Field-Naturalist 95:356.
- Spinola, R., T. Serfass, and R. Brooks. 2008. Survival and post-release movements of river otters translocated to western New York. Northeastern Naturalist. 15:13-24.
- Spriggs, M. C., L. I. Muller, P. Keenlance, R. L. Sanders, J. C. Witt, and D. L. Miller. 2017. Effects of live-trapping and isoflurane anesthesia on free-ranging American martens (*Martes Americana*). Journal of Widllife Diseases. 53:1-12.
- Spriggs, M. C., R. W. Gerhold, R. P. Wilkes, P. Keenlance, R. L. Sanders, J. W. Witt, E. Clark and D. Miller. 2018. Serosurvey, hematology, and causes of mortality of free-ranging American martens (*Martes americana*) in Michigan. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine. 49:371-383.
- Squires, J. R. 2000. Food habits of northern goshawks nesting in south central Wyoming. Wilson Ornithological Society 112:536-539.
- Stauffer, G. E., D. A. W. Miller, L. M. Williams and J. Brown. 2018. Ruffed grouse population declines after introduction of West Nile virus. Journal of Wildlife Management 82:165-172.
- Steventon, J. D. and D. K. Daust. 2009. Management strategies for a large-scale mountain pine beetle outbreak: modelling impacts on American martens. Forest Ecology and Management 257:1976-1985.
- Streeter, R. G. and C. E. Braun. 1968. Occurrence of marten, *Martes americana (Carnivora: Mustelidae)* in Colorado alpine areas. Southwest Naturalist 13:449-451.
- Strickland, M. A. 1994. Harvest management of fishers and American martens. Pages 149-164 in Buskirk, S. W., Harestad, A. A., and Raphael, M. G., editors. Martens, sables, and fishers: biology and conservation. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Strickland, M. A. and C. W. Douglas. 1987. Marten. Pages 530-546 *in* Novak, M., J. A. Baker, and M. E. Obbard, editors. Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America.

Ontario Trappers Association, North Bay, Ontario, Canada.

- Strickland, M. A., C. W. Douglas, M. Novak, and N. P. Hunziger. 1982. Pages 599-612 *in* Chapman, J. A. and G. A. Feldhamer, editors. Wild mammals of North America: biology, management, economics. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, Maryland, USA.
- Swanson, B. J., L. R. Peters, and C. J. Kyle. 2006. Demographic and genetic evaluation of an American marten reintroduction. Journal of Mammalogy, 87(2):272-280.
- Tiemann, J. S., R. Szafoni, J. Kath and K. S. Cummings. 2013. Steps taken during the reintroduction of federally-endangered mussels. Presentation in 143rd Annual Meeting of the American Fisheries Society.
- Tilghman, N. G. 1989. Impacts of white-tailed deer on forest regeneration in northwestern Pennsylvania. The Journal of Wildlife Management 53:524-532.
- Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Partnership. 2018. The power of outdoor recreation spending in Pennsylvania: how hunting, fishing, and outdoor activities help support a healthy state economy. Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Partnership report by Southwick Associates. <https://www.trcp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/TRCP-and-Southwick-PA-Economic-Analsys-12-6-18.pdf>. Accessed 4 Apr 2022.
- Thompson, C. M., R. A. Green, J. Sauder, K. L. Purcell, R. A. Sweitzer, and J. M. Arnemo.
 2001. The use of radiotelemetry in research on *Martes* species. Pages 283-319 *in* K. B.
 Aubry, W. J. Zielinski, M. G. Raphael, G. Proulx and S. W. Buskirk, editors. Biology and Conservation of Martens, Sables, and Fishers: A New Synthesis. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Thompson, I. D. 1986. Diet choice, hunting behavior, activity patterns, and ecological energetics of marten in natural and logged areas. Dissertation. Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario, Canada.
- Thompson, I. D. and P. W. Colgan. 1987. Numerical responses of martens to a food shortage in northcentral Ontario. Journal of Wildlife Management 51:824-835.
- Thompson, I. D. and P. W. Colgan. 1990. Prey choice by marten during a decline in prey abundance. Oecologia 83:443-451.
- Thompson, K. L., B. Zuckerberg, W. P. Porter and J. N. Pauli. 2018. The phenology of the subnivium. Environmental Research Letters. 13, 064037.
- Treves, A. and J. Bruskotter. 2014. Tolerance of predatory wildlife. Science. 344:476-477.
- Treves, A., G. Chapron, J. V. Lopez-Bao, C. Shoemaker, A. R. Goeckner, and J. T. Bruskotter. 2017. Predators and the public trust. Biological Reviews. 92:248-270.
- Tsioumani, E. and A. Tsioumanis. 2020. Biological diversity: protecting the variety of life on earth. International Institute for Sustainable Development. Brief #2. Swedish Ministry of

Environment and Global Affairs Canada. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

- Union of Concerned Scientists [UCS]. 2008. Climate change in Pennsylvania: impacts and solutions for the keystone state. Union of Concerned Scientists Publications, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA.
- U.S. Customs and Border Protection (USCBP). 2023. What are the requirements for importing wildlife (fish, lizard, snakes, etc) and animal parts? U.S. Customs and Border Protection Article Number 000001020. https://help.cbp.gov/s/article/Article-61?language=en_US#:~:text=Wildlife%20in%20any%20form%2C%20including%20pets%2 C%20imported%20into,to%20release%20by%20U.S.%20Customs%20and%20Border%20P rotection>. Accessed 19 May 2023.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA], Forest Service. 1964. The wilderness act. Public Law 88-577 (16 U.S.C. 1131-1136).
 https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fseprd645666.pdf>. Accessed 21 May 2023.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA], Forest Service. 2009. Habitat education center, inc. v. United States forest service. Case Number 07-C-0578. <https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb5121921.pdf>. Accessed 25 June 2023.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA], Forest Service. 2019. Forests of Pennsylvania, 2018. Resource Update FS-220. Madison, WI: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Northern Research Station. https://doi.org/10.2737/FS-RU-220. Accessed 28 Mar 2022.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service [USDA/USFWS], Forest Service and U.S. Department of the Interior. 2022. LANDFIRE, Landscape fire and resource management planning tools. https://landfire.gov. Accessed 5 Apr 2022.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2017. Black-footed ferret managed care operations manual. Black-footed Ferret Recovery Program. 228 pp.
- U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2000. Wildlife trade designated port exception permit form 3-200-2. U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Wildlife Trade.
 https://www.fws.gov/media/wildlife-trade-designated-port-exception-permit-form-3-200-2>. Accessed 19 May 2023.
- U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2021. Wildlife shipments declaration form 3-177. U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Wildlife Shipments. https://fws.gov/media/wildlife-shipments-declaration-form-3-177. Accessed 19 May 2023.
- U.S. Geological Survey [USGS]. 2019. National Land Cover Dataset. Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium. https://www.mrlc.gov/data. Accessed 5 Apr 2022.
- Van Zyll De Jong, C. G. 1969. The restoration of marten in Manitoba: an evaluation. Manitoba Wildlife Branch Biological Repository, Winnipeg, Canada.

- Varhola, A. N. C. Coops, M. Weiler and R. D. Moore. 2010. Forest canopy effects on snow accumulation and ablation: an integrative review of empirical results. Journal of Hydrology 392:219-233.
- Vierling, K. T., L. A. Vierling, W. A. Gould, S. Martinuzzi and R. M. Clawges. 2008. Lidar: shedding new light on habitat characterization and modeling. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6:90-98.
- Wasserman, T. N., S. A. Cushman, A. S. Shirk, E. L. Landguth and J. S. Littell. 2012. Simulating the effects of climate change on population connectivity of American marten (*Martes americana*) in the northern Rocky Mountains, USA. Lanscape Ecology 27:211-225.
- Watkins, C. E., N. C. Poudyal, R. E. Jones, L. I. Muller, and D. G. Hodges. 2021. Risk perception, trust and support for wildlife reintroduction and conservation. Environmental Conservation. 48:127-135.
- Weckwerth, R. P. and V. D. Hawley. 1962. Marten food habits and population fluctuations in Montana. The Journal of Wildlife Management 26:55-74.
- Weise E.M., N.M. Sard, A. Nehfer, K.T. Scribner. 2020. Adaptive genetic management: assessing the benefits of translocations. Conservation Genetics. 21:277–287.
- Western Pennsylvania Conservancy (WPC). 2022. Analyses of terrestrial small mammal data and overlap with select species of greatest conservation need in regions under consideration for American marten (*Martes americana*) reintroduction in Pennsylvania. Western Pennsylvania Conservancy, Pittsburg, Pennsylvania, USA. <https://www.pgc.pa.gov/Wildlife/WildlifeSpecies/Documents/Analyses%20of%20Terrestri al%20Small%20Mammal%20Data.pdf>. Accessed 28 May 2023.
- Whitaker, J.O., Jr., and W.J. Hamilton, Jr. 1998. Mammals of the eastern United States. Comstock Publishing Associates, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Williams B. W. and K. T. Scribner. 2007. Demographic and genetic evaluation of an American marten reintroduction: a comment on Swanson et al. Journal of Mammalogy. 88:1342-1345.
- Williams B. W., J. H. Gilbert and P. A. Zollner. 2007. Historical perspective on the reintroduction of the fisher and American marten in Michigan and Wisconsin. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station, General Technical Report NRS-5. Newtown Square, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Williams, S.H. 1928. The Mammals of Pennsylvania. University of Pittsburgh Press, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA. 163 pp.
- Williams, S. L., S. B. McLaren and M. A. Burgwin. 1985. Paleo-archaeological and historical records of selected Pennsylvania mammals. Annals of Carnegie Museum 54:77-188.
- Willson, M. F. 1993. Mammals as seed-dispersal mutualists in north America. Oikos 67:159-176.

- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources [WIDNR]. 2011. Management and conservation plan for American martens in Wisconsin. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Madison, Wisconsin. PUB-ER-697-2011.
- Woodford, J. E., D. M. McFarland and M. Worland. 2013. Movement, survival, and home range size of translocated American martens (*Martes americana*) in Wisconsin. Wildlife Society Bulletin 37:616-622.
- Xu, C., B. Manley and J. Morgenroth. 2018. Evaluation of modelling approaches in predicting forest volume and stand age for small-scale plantation forests in New Zealand with RapidEye and LiDAR. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation 73:386-396.
- Zhou, Y., C. Newman, W. Xu, C. D. Buesching, A. Zalewski, Y. Kaneko, D. W. Macdonald and Z. Xie. 2011. Biogeographical variation in the diet of Holarctic martens (genus *Martes*, Mammalia: Carnivora: Mustelidae): adaptive foraging in generalists. Journal of Biogeography. 38:137-147.
- Zielinski, W. J. 1984. Plague in pine martens and the fleas associated with its occurrence. Great Basin Naturlais. 44:170-175.
- Zielinski, W. J., W. D. Spencer and R. H. Barrett. 1983. Relationship between food habits and activity patterns of pine martens. Journal of Mammalogy. 64:387-396.
- Zielinski, W. J., J. M. Tucker and K. M. Rennie. 2017. Niche overlap of competing carnivores across climatic gradients and the conservation implications of climate change at geographic range margins. Biological Conservation. 209:533-545.



Aaron West, Grade 7, York PA

Appendix 1. A comparison of 13 American marten diet studies showing percent frequency of occurrence.

	ON1	WI ²	MI ³	OR ⁴	NB⁵	MI ⁶	ME ⁷	CA ⁸	MT ⁹	AK ¹⁰	ID ¹¹	MB ¹²	CO ¹³	Avg.
Small Mammals	68.0%	64.3%	77.9%	80.1%	46.2%	100.0%	87.1%	24.6%	60.3%	58.0%	100.0%	20.5%	100.0%	68.2%
Myodes gapperi (Red-backed Vole)	30.5	15.7	34.2	24.6			38.4		20.5	FO	36	8.4	01	26.1
Microtus spp. (other voles)	8.8			27.4	26.4	31	38.1	16.1	39.1	50	30	10.2	01	24.2
Unknown Vole				12.7										12.7
Peromyscus spp. (mice)	21.2	10	19.9	7.8	4	59	3.6	6.3	0.7		2			13.5
Sorex spp. (shrews)	3.6	20 C	7.4	4.7	15.0		7	2.2			1	1.9	42	10.7
Blarina spp. (Short-tailed Shrews)	1.3	56.0	16.4		15.0	18								11.9
Other Small Mammals	2.6			2.9		27					43			18.9
Lagomorphs (Hare/Rabbits)	13.0%	1.4%	0.9%	2.4%	8.0%		1.7%	4.9%	2.9%		2.0%	58.9%	6.0%	9.3%
Lepus americanus (Snowhoe Hare)	13.0	1.4	0.9	1.4	8		1.7	4.9	2.9		2	58.9	6	9.2
Sylvilagus nuttallii (Mountain Cottontail)				0.9										0.9
Sciurids (Squirrels)	1.7%	11.4%	15.7%	27.6%	11.2%	24.0%	7.3%	3.0%	4.5%		7.0%	15.9%	9.0%	11.5%
Tamiasciurus hudsonicus (Red Squirrel)	0.8	10	5.5	3.3	10.8	3	6.6		4		5	15.9	9	6.7
Glaucomys spp. (flying squrrels)	0.5	1.4		4.3	0.4		0.5	3	0.2		2			1.5
Sciurus carolinensis (Gray squirrel)			6			12								9
Tamias striatus (Eastern Chipmunk)	0.4		4.2	2.7		9	0.2							3.3
Unknown squirrel				17.3					0.3					8.8
Birds	1.8%	15.7%	5.5%	19.5%	14.8%	22.0%	18.0%	8.8%	12.0%	10.0%	5.0%	17.8%	9.0%	12.3%
Bonasa umbellus (Ruffed Grouse)	1.6	4.3	0.2		12.2							4.7		4.6
Other Birds	0.2	11.4	5.3		2.6				12			13.1		7.4
Mustelids	2.9%	4.3%		0.8%	0.9%	3.0%		2.2%	0.1%				7.5%	2.7%
Martes americana (American Marten)	0.7	1.4			0.8	3		2.2						1.62
Mustela erminea (Short-tailed Weasel)	2.1	2.0		0.0	0.1									1 5
Mustela nivalis (Least Weasel)	0.2	2.9		0.8	0.1									1.5
Other	3.1%	31.4%		27.1%	4.1%	84.0%	9.2%	9.4%	26.1%		9.0%		29.5%	23.3%
Neotoma cinerea (Bushy-tailed woodrat)				2.5										2.5
Cervidae spp. (Cervid carrion)		30		2	2.4		0.7	1.2	4.7				7	6.9
Insects	3.1	1.4		22.4	0.7	81	8.3	8	21.4		9		15.5	17.8
Fish				0.2	0.3		0.2	0.2					7	1.6
Amphibians					0.7									0.7
Reptiles						3								3
Plants	9.5%			13.3%	2.4%	90.0%	11.5%	7.6%	39.7%	17.0%	12.0%	21.4%	14.0%	21.7%
Soft Mast	9.5			8.5	2.4						12			8.1
Wood fibers, lichen, grass				4.8										4.8

¹Thompson & Colgan (1990) Manitouwadge, Ontario

²Carlson et al. (2014) Northern Wisconsin

³Hales et al. (2008) Upper Peninsula of Michigan

⁴Bull (2000) Northeastern Oregon

⁵Cumberland et al. (2001) New Brunswick

⁶Kujawa et al. (2014) Lower Peninsula of Michigan

⁷Soutiere (1979) North-central Maine

⁸Zielinski et al. (1983) North-east California

⁹Weckwerth and Hawley (1962) North-west Montana

¹⁰Lensink et al. (1955) Interior Alaska

¹¹Koehler and Hornocker (1977) Northern Idaho

¹²Raine (1981) South-eastern Manitoba

¹³Gordon (1986) North-central Colorado

Appendix 2. Penn State public opinion survey results for 2022 & 2023 and related questions.

		Gender									
		Ma	an	Wor	man	Total					
			Column N		Column N		Column N				
		Count	%	Count	%	Count	%				
2022	Oppose	34	7.4%	35	7.5%	69	7.5%				
2022	Support	423	92.6%	434	92.5%	857	92.5%				
2022	Oppose	38	8.2%	48	10.3%	86	9.3%				
2023	Support	424	91.8%	417	89.7%	841	90.7%				
		Age - Recode - Broad Categories									
		18-	-34	35-	-64	65 and older					
			Column N		Column N		Column N				
		Count	%	Count	%	Count	%				
2022	Oppose	19	6.9%	34	7.7%	16	7.7%				
	Support	257	93.1%	407	92.3%	193	92.3%				
2022	Oppose	18	6.9%	41	9.1%	27	9.3%				
2023	Support	244	93.1%	412	90.9%	185	90.8%				
			Do yo ι	ı consider y	ourself a hu	unter?					
		Ye	es	N	0	Total					
			Column N		Column N		Column N				
		Count	%	Count	%	Count	%				
2022	Oppose	10	8.5%	59	7.4%	69	7.5%				
2022	Support	108	91.5%	741	92.6%	849	92.5%				
2022	Oppose	10	10.4%	76	9.2%	86	9.3%				
2023	Support	86	89.6%	749	90.8%	835	90.7%				

The below information occurred following the first question regardless of answer. It occurs directly before question 2.

Marten_Description. Please read the following information about the American marten carefully. The American marten is a small mammal that weighs about 1 to 3 pounds and measures 20 to 26 inches from its nose to the tip of its tail. Once native to Pennsylvania, it has disappeared from the state due to losing forest habitat in the late 1800s and early 1900s. There are still active populations in New York and other parts of the United States and Canada. It eats

small animals, including squirrels, rodents, and birds, in addition to insects, fruits and nuts. Marten typically live in mature forested areas away from human development. This is a photo of an American marten.

Marten Establish. The Pennsylvania Game Commission is looking at whether it might be possible to reintroduce the American marten in Pennsylvania.



Photo Credit. Robert Sanders


Appendix 3. Holding box attachment for commercial cage trap.

Schematics drawn by T. Keller, 2023

Appendix 4. Handling box for American marten.



Schematics drawn by T. Keller, 2023.

This design was developed by staff from the Montana Fish, Wildlife & Parks agency (J. Kolbe, personal communication), and successfully deployed on marten reintroduction within the Little Belt Mountains of Montana. Please note, this is not drawn to scale.

This handling box is designed to attach directly to the holding box through the use of the two side hasps attached to the holding box and the bolt on staples attached to the sides of the handling box. Utilize carabiners for a secure attachment. After attachment, the aluminum door on the holding box can be raised and allow the marten to move into the handling box. Once inside, an aluminum door can be slid down inside the handling box in the slot nearest the opening hole and trap the marten inside of the handling box.

Once inside the handling box, the marten can be trapped even further by inserting a second aluminum door through the lid and into the second slot nearest the plunger. The plunger can then be utilized to squeeze the marten into the opposite side wall that is covered with 3/8" sized holes to allow for injection if needed.

Construction of the primary structure is wooden framing with 1/4" plexiglass walls and lid excepting the entrance hole and floor which are 1/2" plywood. Two aluminum doors are needed for the handling box. Two sets of wooden stays are utilized on the inside to provide tracks for the door to follow and close securely.

The plunger is contructed of a plexiglass rectangle attached to 2 - 1.25"dowels with wood screws. Two 1" washers should be used opposite the dowels when attaching to the plexiglass to avoid fracture when tightening screws. Plexiglass should be pre-drilled for screw holes. Opposite the plexiglass rectangle, a simple block handle is attached and used to manipulate the plunger.

Plunger handle holes for dowel should be 1 3/8" to 1 1/2" through plexiglass and centers should match centers of dowels to prevent binding.

Entrance hole in handling box should match size and center of entrance hole in holding box (approximately 5" diameter).

Lid is hinged on side opposite plunger and two hasps (not pictured) are attached to the plunger side meeting with two staples attached to the uppor portion of the frame (not pictured) on the same side allowing for a secure latch with carabiners prior to allowing marten into the handling box. Once the animal is anesthetized, the hasps can be unlatched and the lid opened to retrieve.

Appendix 5. American Marten Health Evaluation Form

Pre-Treatment Info	rmation				
Marten ID Number:	·	Staff Name(s):			
Capture Date:		Capture Location (State	/Province	:	
Behavioral Notes Pr	e-Immobilization	•			-
Anesthetics					
Chemical Immobilization	ation Method:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Drug 1:	Drug 2:		Drug 3:		
Mixture:		Dosage:			
Administered by (st	aff):	Injection L	ocation: _		
Injection Type: IM	SubQ IV ID				
Vital Rates					
Pulse:		Temperature:			
Respiration:		Capillary Refill	Time:		
Morphological Info	rmation				
Sex: M	F Unk	Age Method: Tooth Coll	ection	Tooth Wear Sagi	ttal Crest
Approximate Age:	Juvenile Yearlir	ng Adult	Unkno	wn	
Weight (g):	Overal	I Length (cm):		Tail Length: (cm):	
Rear Foot Length (cr	m):	Neck Circumference (cn	n):	Ear Length (cm):	_
Evaluation Checks					
Broken Bones	Y/N	Wounds/Injuries	Y/N	All Canines Present	Y/N
Missing Limbs	Y/N	Missing Digits	Y/N	Disability	Y/N
Underweight	Y/N	Excessive tooth wear	Y / N	Diarrhea	Y / N
Hair Loss	Y/N	Parasite Infestation	Y / N	Eye/Nose Discharge	Y / N
Other:					
Treatment					
Injury 1:		Treatment:			
Injury 2:		Treatment:			
Injury 3:		Treatment:			
Rabies Vaccination		Distemper Vaccination	🗆 Ectopa	rasite Treatment 🗆	
Endoparasite Treatr	ment 🗆				
Sample Collection					
DNA Sample Collect	tion Method:	Hair Tissue Blood		Sample Labeled w/ID:	
Photographs (Chest	markings, Overal	l Body, Injuries/Wounds, e	etc.) 🗆		
Following As Neede	ed:				
Blood Sample (Seru	m or Whole Blood	d): 🗆 Fecal :	Sample (E	ndoparasite Loading): 🗆]
Ectoparasites (As Ne	eeded): \Box				
Marking					
PIT Tag ID:	PIT Tag	g Insertion Location:	Betwee	en Shoulders Beh	ind Ear
Collar Attached:	Y/N Collar	ID: Collar	Frequenc	y: Colla	ar Test: 🗆
Post-Treatment Car	re				
Reversal Administer	red: Y / N Revers	al:	Dosage	e:	
Reactions Observed	l: Y / N	Vitals Stable through Re	covery: Y	/ N Full Recovery	/: Y / N
Notes:				-	

Appendix 6. Letters of support from public landowner agencies.



March 24, 2023

Pennsylvania Game Commission Bureau of Wildlife Management 2001 Elmerton Ave Harrisburg, PA 17110

Attn: Support for American Marten (Martes americana) Reintroduction in Pennsylvania

The Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources mission is to conserve and sustain Pennsylvania's natural resources for present and future generations' use and enjoyment. DCNR lands provide habitats that support healthy populations of wildlife and resilient ecosystems. Managing resilient ecosystems may include restoring species lost from a system.

DCNR has appreciated being part of the Pennsylvania Game Commission's process regarding the appropriateness of a reintroduction of a mammal into the state. The assessments so far have taken into account many considerations and concerns. Through this process DCNR recognizes that martens could be very important to Pennsylvania forest biology. The reintroduction into the forests may help increase forest health through stabilizing rodent populations and dispersing seeds of a variety of plants to enhance ecosystem processes. We also see the need for monitoring following reintroduction to ensure the impact of marten to other native species, particularly rare or declining species, is minimal.

DCNR considers the reintroduction as beneficial to the state and we support the initiative to bring the American marten back to the Pennsylvania landscape.

The Department is looking forward to working with PGC as this plan develops and reintroduction sites are potentially identified. We are willing and committed to working with the PGC on the future management of this important species.

Sincerely. dame

Cindy Adams Dunn Secretary

Office of the Secretary Rachel Carson State Office Building | P.O. Box 8767 | Harrisburg, PA 17105-8767 | 717.772.9084 | F 717.772.9106 | www.dcnr.pa.gov



United States Department of Agriculture Allegheny National Forest Supervisor's Office 4 Farm Colony Drive Warren, PA 16365 814-723-5150 Fax: 814-726-1465

File Code: 2600 Date: April 5, 2023

Bryan Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission Bureau of Wildlife Management 2001 Elmerton Ave Harrisburg PA, 17110

Forest

Service

Mr. Burhans,

This letter serves as a formal show of support for the Pennsylvania Game Commission's (PGC) American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan.

The Allegheny National Forest (ANF) is approximately 517,000 acres and includes land in Elk, Forest, McKean, and Warren counties in the northwest corner of the State. In the late 1800s and early 1900s this area was profoundly transformed by industrialization and unregulated logging. The once extensive forest was almost completely logged, leaving barren, brush covered hillsides. Deer and other mammals were almost eliminated due to unregulated hunting and loss of habitat. We recognize that the subsequent recovery of animal populations, e.g., white-tailed deer, wild turkey, river otter, fisher, black bear, and elk, is largely a product of reintroductions and the PGC's approach to scientifically based wildlife management.

The ANF supports the reintroduction of the American marten—a once common native species and we are committed to working with the PGC on the future management of the species. We ask that you continue to communicate with Linda D. Ordiway (linda.ordiway@usda.gov) regarding all drafts and updates during plan development, and that you make these available for formal comment prior to submission for official approval.

Sincerely,

The ANTE DA

Forest Supervisor

ec: joshua.w.hanson@usda.gov, linda.ordiway@usda.gov, thkeller@pa.gov



Caring for the Land and Serving People



Appendix 7. Letters of support from potential source agencies.



STATE OF MAINE DEPARTMENT OF INLAND FISHERIES & WILDLIFE 353 WATER STREET 41 STATE HOUSE STATION AUGUSTA, ME 04333-0041



May 2, 2023

Bryan J. Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Dear Mr. Burhans:

Thank you for the invitation to partner with the state of Maine as part of the marten reintroduction plan in Pennsylvania. I applaud your effort to solicit feedback from other states early in the process as well as gathering public input, habitat and prey availability, and considering a wide array of other factors that would impact the success of reintroduction. We are proud to have a healthy and abundant marten population in Maine and have supported other wildlife reintroduction efforts across the country.

We support the general concept of the proposed marten reintroduction and would be happy for staff to discuss more details pending approval of the Plan. Please keep the Department informed on the progress and approval of the Plan.

Sincerely,

Camuso

Judith Camuso Commissioner

PHONE: (207) 287-8000

FISH AND WILDLIFE ON THE WEB: www.maine.gov/ifw EMAIL ADDRESS: ifw.webmaster@maine.gov



GRETCHEN WHITMER

GOVERNOR

STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES LANSING



March 30, 2023

Mr. Bryan J. Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17110-9797

Dear Mr. Burhans:

Thank you for your letter of March 6, 2023, to initiate a partnership between the Pennsylvania Game Commission and Michigan Department of Natural Resources (MDNR) to assist with the reestablishment of American martens in Pennsylvania. As you mentioned, martens are a valuable resource to the State of Michigan and its residents. Habitat degradation, high fur prices, and unregulated trapping led to the extirpation of martens from Michigan by 1939. Several reintroduction efforts were undertaken during 1955-57, 1969-70, 1979-81, and 1985-86 to reestablish our marten population, and those efforts would not have been possible without support from the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources in sourcing martens for those efforts.

Due to the history associated with martens extirpation and successful reestablishment in Michigan, we recognize the significance of reintroducing martens to portions of their historical range, as well as the Pennsylvania Game Commission's desire to once again provide this important resource to the people of the Commonwealth. We are also confident that approaches exist in which we can support your agency's efforts by sourcing martens from Michigan without negatively impacting our state's marten population. As such, the MDNR formally offers our support and partnership to the Pennsylvania Game Commission toward efforts to bring back extirpated martens to Pennsylvania.

I look forward to further developing our partnership. If you have questions in the meantime, please feel free to contact Mr. Cody Norton at 906-202-3023 or nortonc3@michigan.gov.

Sincerely,

Shannon Lott Acting Director 517-284-6367

NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION

Division of Fish and Wildlife, Bureau of Wildlife 625 Broadway, 5th Floor, Albany, NY 12233-4754 P: (518) 402-8883 F: (518) 402-8925 www.dec.ny.gov

June 8, 2023

Bryan J. Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Dear Mr. Burhans,

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (Department) received your invitation to partner with the Pennsylvania Game Commission on the proposed reintroduction of American marten to Pennsylvania. The American marten is one of New York's most valued furbearers, and we are proud to have a robust population within the Adirondack Park. The prospect of marten returning to a neighboring state is an exciting one, and the Department supports such an effort.

The Department commends the work completed by the Pennsylvania Game Commission to lay the foundation for a successful reintroduction program. The effort to solicit feedback from potentially affected nearby states, model habitat suitability, and conduct public outreach is admirable. We look forward to further discussing how the Department can best support and assist this reintroduction effort, pending approval of the Pennsylvania American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan. Please keep us informed on the progress of the Plan and direct any questions or communications to Mandy Watson at 518-402-8859 or mandy.watson@dec.ny.gov.

Sincerel

Jacqueline M. Lendrum Division Director Division of Fish and Wildlife

CC:

James Farquhar, Bureau Chief, Bureau of Wildlife Mandy Watson, Game Management Section, Bureau of Wildlife





Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry

Fish and Wildlife Policy Branch 300 Water Street 5th Floor N Peterborough ON K9J 3C7 Ministère des Richesses naturelles et des Forêts

Direction des politiques relatives au poisson et à la faune 300, rue Water 5° étage Nord Peterborough (Ontario) K9J 3C7

November 27, 2023

Bryan J. Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Dear Bryan J. Burhans:

Thank you for reaching out to formally request Ontario's partnership with the Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC) on efforts to reintroduce American marten to portions of its former range within Pennsylvania. Both the reintroduction plan and feasibility study you shared demonstrate a thorough understanding of the long-term logistics and collaboration that is required to successfully implement this proposal.

On behalf of the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, I'm happy to confirm that Ontario is supportive of the request in principle and willing to partner with the PGC, subject to the approval of the reintroduction plan by the Board of Commissioners in your state. In anticipation of that approval, we look forward to strengthening our interjurisdictional relationships and collaborating on this long term and worthy endeavor.

Upon endorsement of the reintroduction plan, we request engagement with our staff to identify specifics and timeframes for Ontario's involvement. This will support our need to complete requirements specific to Indigenous and public consultations prior to project implementation.

Please continue to have your staff coordinate with our trapping and furbearer policy lead, Darwin Rosien, who can be reached by e-mail at <u>darwin.rosien@ontario.ca</u>.

Sincerely,

Jel

Jamie Stewart A/Director, Fish and Wildlife Policy Branch Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources & Forestry

c: Darwin Rosien, A/Senior Wildlife Policy Advisor Stephen Mills, A/Manager, Wildlife Section Peter Carter, Manager, Wildlife Research and Monitoring Section

Appendix 8. Letters of support from stakeholders.



DATE: 7/5/2023

Bryan Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission Bureau of Wildlife Management 2001 Elmerton Ave. Harrisburg PA, 17110

Mr. Burhans,

Please except this letter as a formal show of support for the Pennsylvania Game Commission's proposed American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan. The restoration of the American Marten to its former home range in the state of Pennsylvania is the essence of conservation. The Seneca Nation is excited to learn that it sits atop of one of the optimal relocation sites. The possibility of the Pine Marten returning within such proximity is thrilling.

The Seneca Nation Fully supports the Pennsylvania Game Commission 's reintroduction of the American Pine Marten and its Management Plan. Pending approval, we look forward to further discussions to determine how the Seneca Nation can best assist and support the Pennsylvania Game Commission and its effort's.

Sincerely,

Shane M. Titus Seneca Nation Fish and Wildlife Director



2023 Board of Directors

Cherifa T. Howarth President

Dohn Millard Vice President

Jolin Bachmann

Jim Cohn Secretary

Michael S. Bowman Amy Millis Bullivent Paul, R. Decker Norgen Defilicola Richard M. Gollo Brian Johnson Crandali Jones John R. Maxwell, DMM Kym Ramsey Erki Sims

Albert J. Zone Executive Director & CED Thomas Keller Pennsylvania Game Commission Bureau of Wildlife Management 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110

Dear Tom-

May 3, 2023

We are excited to be writing to you to express our interest in partnering with the Pennsylvania Game Commission to assist with your plans to reintroduce this iconic species back into the native Pennsylvania landscape. We are currently building a 17,000 square foot Veterinary Hospital and animal Quarantine Facility that will be part of the zoo's new Welcome Center. The hospital is scheduled to open in fall of 2024. To highlight transparency in animal care, there will be large public viewing windows into both our Animal Treatment and Animal Commissary rooms so that guests have a unique opportunity to directly see the work that goes into providing a high standard of care to all the animals at the zoo.

The mission of the Elmwood Park Zoo is to foster an appreciation for wildlife and the environment that will inspire active participation in conservation. What better way to advance the mission of our organization than to participate in a local conservation project to help reestablish an extirpated species throughout its historic range. Our unique facilities and staff expertise can greatly benefit this project:

- State-of-the-art Veterinary facilities for new animal intake examinations and sample collection including on-site laboratory and radiology equipment
- · Dedicated quarantine and isolation facility for short-term animal holding prior to translocation
 - Veterinarian knowledge of surgical placement of internal transmitters in other species
- Animal staff knowledge in the husbandry and nutrition of related species, including black-footed ferret and North American river otter
- Public viewable treatment space allows for direct communication with stakeholders about the Marten Reintroduction project by agency personnel
- Long-term partnership opportunities including direct guest education and messaging through the addition of an American Marten display exhibit as part of the Elmwood Park Zoo's North American expansion project

We look forward to learning more about this exciting project and how the Elmwood Park Zoo can get more involved!

Sincerely,

Tone, Executive Director and CEO Albert J.

Our Michele Goodman, VMD, Director of Animal Care

Elmwood Park Zoo's mission is to foster an appreciation for wildlife and the environment that will inspire active participation in conservation.

Q 1661 Harding Blvd • Norristown, PA 19401 🕻 610.277.3825 🕒 v

610.277.3825 www.elmwoodparkzoo.org

The official registration and financial information of the Norristown Zoological Society, which operates the Elmwood Park Zoo, may be obtained from the Pennsylvania Department of State by calling toll free, within Pennsylvania, 800.732.0999. Registration does not imply endorsement.



100 West Hersheypark Drive • Hershey, PA • 17033 • (717) 534-3860 • Fax (717) 534-3151 June 6, 2023

Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110

ZooAmerica Wildlife Park would be interested in partnering with the Pennsylvania Game Commission and other partners to work towards the restoration of the American Marten back into Pennsylvania's lands. Our vision statement is to create lasting memories to inspire conservation of North American wildlife and wild places. Working on this project is directly in line with both our vision and our mission. Bringing back a once common native species will replace a missing place of our native habitat.

ZooAmerica has appreciated being able to be part of the process to date and in this letter we wish to state our intent to continue to partner with the Game Commission should the project move forward. Our facility is able to offer holding capabilities as well as an exam room in which to provide health assessments, and attach monitoring equipment prior to release. The ZooAmerica staff are professional and well trained in modern animal care and welfare techniques. Most of all they are very excited and interested in committing to work with you and this species. At ZooAmerica we concentrate solely on North American Wildlife. We currently house the only two American Marten in Pennsylvania, and have cared for them on site since 2008. The staff is excited to be able to add this to our list of local conservation efforts. Our current efforts include working with numerous partners to formulate new colonies of regal fritillary butterflies throughout the state, working on barn owl, kestrel and prothonotary warbler nest boxes locally. To date we have been able to provide access to the state employees who have been able to photograph and video these charismatic weasels for use in many of the reintroduction effort publications and we hosted Mr. Keller at our Party for the Planet Earth day celebration.

I feel the ZooAmerica staff has great interest in, and an excellent knowledge of working with American martens. We have facilities located rather close to your main office so it makes good sense for us to be able to partner with you on this project.

Sincerely Dudm **Dale Snyder**

Assistant Director, Animal Care and Operations



Penna. Marten Reintroduction & Mgt. Plan

120 | P a g e



To: Pennsylvania Game Commission

2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Attn: Support for American marten (Martes americana) Reintroduction in Pennsylvania

I am writing on behalf of the Pennsylvania Chapter of the Wildlife Society (PATWS) to express support for reintroduction of the American marten (*Martes americana*) into the state of Pennsylvania. We believe that bringing martens back to Pennsylvania will replace a missing piece of the ecosystem for the northern forests of the commonwealth.

The American marten was once a common native species within northern Pennsylvania, but with deforestation and unregulated harvest, martens disappeared from the state. We recognize that martens are still important within the Pennsylvania forest biological community. The reintroduction of martens into the forests of the state may help increase forest health through stabilizing rodent populations and dispersing the seeds of a variety of plants to enhance ecosystem processes. Based on historic diet analysis, prey abundance estimates, habitat modeling, and assessment of marten ecological needs, the impact of marten reintroduction to other native Pennsylvania fauna should be relatively minimal. That said, the American marten has been proven to serve as a 'flagship' species for the conservation of northern temperate forests in the United States, with multiple other forest taxa benefiting from the management and conservation of marten habitat.

Pennsylvania has led the nation in returning extirpated species to the wild, such as the elk, otter, and fisher. The chance to reintroduce martens into the Commonwealth would continue the legacy of leaving the next generation with a better natural world than when we found it. As with previous successful reintroductions, managers have been able to monitor populations and provide consumptive use opportunities as specific population thresholds of reintroduced species were reached.

Overall, the PATWS considers marten reintroduction as beneficial to the state and to the cultures of the first nations people. We believe the Pennsylvania Game Commission should take the initiative and bring the marten back to the people of the Commonwealth.

I thank you for your time and I welcome any questions you may have.

Sincerely,

Dr. Aaron Haines

Certified Wildlife Biologist President and representative of the Pennsylvania State Chapter of the Wildlife Society <u>Aaron.haines@millersville.edu</u> PAChapterTWS@gmail.com



To: Pennsylvania Game Commission

2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Attn: Support for American marten (Martes americana) Reintroduction in Pennsylvania

After member review of the proposed American marten reintroduction plan, I am writing on behalf of the Pennsylvania Chapter of the Wildlife Society (PATWS) to express our support for reintroduction of the American marten (*Martes americana*) into the state of Pennsylvania. We believe that bringing martens back to Pennsylvania will replace a missing piece of the ecosystem for the northern forests of the Commonwealth.

The American marten was once a common native species within northern Pennsylvania, but with deforestation and unregulated harvest, martens disappeared from the state. We recognize that martens are still important within the Pennsylvania forest biological community. The reintroduction of martens into the forests of the state may help increase forest health through stabilizing rodent populations and dispersing the seeds of a variety of plants to enhance ecosystem processes. Based on historic diet analysis, prey abundance estimates, habitat modeling, and assessment of marten ecological needs, the impact of marten reintroduction to other native Pennsylvania fauna should be relatively minimal. That said, the American marten has been proven to serve as a 'flagship' species for the conservation of northern temperate forests in the United States, with multiple other forest taxa benefiting from the management and conservation of marten habitat.

Pennsylvania has led the nation in returning extirpated species to the wild, such as the elk, otter, and fisher. The chance to reintroduce martens into the Commonwealth would continue the legacy of leaving the next generation with a better natural world than when we found it. As with previous successful reintroductions, managers have been able to monitor populations and provide consumptive use opportunities as specific population thresholds of reintroduced species were reached.

Though some members may not fully support the plan, overall, the PATWS organization considers marten reintroduction as beneficial to the state and to the cultures of the first nations people. We believe the Pennsylvania Game Commission should take the initiative and bring the marten back to the people of the Commonwealth.

I thank you for your time and I welcome any questions you may have.

Respectfully yours,

Kyle Van Why, President

Pennsylvania Chapter of The Wildlife Society PAChapterTWS@gmail.com

The Pennsylvania Chapter of The Wildlife Society, founded in 1977, is comprised of 320 professionals in wildlife management, conservation, educators, and researchers who are dedicated to conserving Pennsylvania's wildlife heritage by supporting and developing the wildlife profession within our state.



"Our Image is Our Future"

Established 1937 - Chartered 1948 www.patrappers.com

PENNSYLVANIA TRAPPERS ASSOCIATION

Affiliated With

The National Trappers Association Fur Takers of America

Associated With Pennsylvania Federation of Sportsmen & Conservationists United States Sportsmen's Alliance Pennsylvania Outdoor Writers Association

A NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATION OF TRAPPERS, FUR HUNTERS & BUYERS DEDICATED TO THE CONSERVATION OF FURBEARING ANIMALS AND THE PROMOTION OF PROPER FUR LAWS

Dear Pennsylvania Game Commission Board of Commissioners & Executive Staff,

As a representative of Pennsylvania Trapper's Association, I am writing today to indicate our support for the reintroduction of the American marten to Pennsylvania. Knowing that the marten was once a common native species within the Commonwealth, we recognize that it still has importance within the ecological community from which it is missing. There are many other important reasons as to why the marten should be returned to the forests of the state, whether to increase biodiversity, increase forest health, or recognize its cultural importance. Pennsylvania has led the nation in returning extirpated species to the wild, and reintroducing those that were on the brink. This is a chance to continue that legacy, leaving the next generation with a better natural world than when we found it.

As trappers, we have supported the conservation and management of the state's furbearers above any other entity or group. We have worked closely with the Pennsylvania Game Commission on not only past furbearer reintroduction efforts, but in gathering data on species vital statistics which are used annually to make management decisions on population health as well as harvest opportunity. We have also continued to source samples for important disease monitoring like the most recent rodenticide research which looked at the prevalence of these chemicals within our fisher, bobcat, and otter populations throughout the state. Please understand, like the hunter who cherishes the game, or the birder who treasures the avian assemblage, trappers care deeply for the furbearing species, and have always worked diligently to conserve them.

Trappers are also a critical part of any reintroduction effort when considering a furbearing species. It was trappers from Wisconsin, Louisiana, New York and many other states and provinces that live-captured river otter, fisher, and beaver to restore and repopulate Pennsylvania. Even today, the Montana Trappers Association is playing a major role in assisting with the American marten reintroduction in that state. We're writing to state that we are in full support of this project moving forward and would be available to provide assistance when needed in the future.

Respectfully.



Keystone Trail Association 46 E. Main Street Mechanicsburg, PA 17055 (717) 766-9690 www.Kta-hike.org

May 31, 2023

Mr. Bryan Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110

Dear Mr. Burhans:

Keystone Trails Association (KTA) is pleased to communicate its support for American marten (Martes americana) reintroduction in Pennsylvania.

With a mission to provide, protect, preserve, and promote recreational hiking trails and hiking opportunities in Pennsylvania, the organization facilitates exploration of the commonwealth's great outdoors. Wildlife viewing is part of what makes those experiences special. Spotting an American marten would surely enrich anyone's adventure and expand their appreciation of the natural world. Attendees at our recent Spring Hiking Weekend in Wellsboro were mesmerized by the marten program presented by PGC biologist, Tom Keller. Their response is likely indicative of the excitement bound to be exhibited by lucky hikers who might get to see martens in the wild.

Based on the Game Commission's research and diligence, it seems there are minimal risks, but many benefits to bringing this species back to the state. It will add to the diversity of wildlife found in Pennsylvania without comprising existing wildlife populations.

KTA envisions a variety of ways to partner with the Commission in their reintroduction efforts. Perhaps our members could help with releases, in concert with outings or trail projects. The organization could enlist hikers to help monitor marten populations by reporting sightings. Marten news could be shared via our communication channels.

In any case, it's obvious that we are excited about this endeavor, and hope reintroduction becomes a reality. We consider it a form of hiking enrichment and wish you much success.

Sincerely,

Brook Lenker Executive Director



1201 Pawlings Road Audubon, PA 19403

December 15th, 2023

Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Dear Pennsylvania Game Commission,

I am writing to express Audubon Mid-Atlantic's support for the American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania. This project is paramount to the restoration of the forest ecosystems our forefathers inherited and key to our conservation legacy in the Commonwealth.

Not only is the re-introduction of the iconic species a step towards restoring the forest ecosystems we strive to maintain here in Pennsylvania, but the forest structure and age class diversity on the landscape American Marten utilize will benefit many of our forest birds. Our work, especially with restoring structurally complex mature forest habitat for wood thrush, coincides very well with the habitat needs of Marten and we look forward to the co-benefits of focusing attention to managing our forests for the multitude of species that rely on this forest type that once supported so many species in Pennsylvania's rich forest history.

We heartily support the American Marten project and cherish our close partnership with the Pennsylvania Game Commission. We look forward to supporting this project and working together towards a Pennsylvania that not only support forest birds but American Marten.

 N. Scott Parkhill Forest Program Manager Audubon Mid-Atlantic

Protect the birds and we protect the earth.



Pennsylvania Federation of Sportsmen & Conservationists

2426 North Second St. • Harrisburg, PA 17110 Phone: 717-232-3480 info@pfsc.org • www.pfsc.org

On the Front Lines – So You Can Be in the Woods, On the Water or At the Range!

11/27/2023

Re: Marten Reintroduction Project

Commissioners, Executive Director Burhans and Staff:

The Pennsylvania Federation of Sportsmen & Conservationists currently represents over 70,000 sportsmen/women and conservationists. The Federation's membership comprises individuals, affiliated clubs, and statewide organizations with like-minded goals and interests in conservation efforts and protecting our outdoor heritage.

The Pennsylvania Game Commission is entrusted with the management of the state's nearly 500 species of wildlife. This includes the species that we hunt and trap. The Pennsylvania Federation of Sportsmen and Conservationists supports the science-based and led resource-first model and process of the Game Commission.

Based on a recent poll of our members, a majority of our members support the Marten Reintroduction Project.

Supporters were excited to see the reintroduction of a species that we extirpated from our environment, and many are looking forward to additional hunting and trapping opportunities as we manage the resources in the future.

The concerns of those who opposed the project were centered solely on the worry of another predator being introduced and the effects it will have on our pheasant, grouse and turkey populations.

Individual Member Responses: 60% supported the proposal

Club/State Org Responses (eligible votes based on the size of the club): 90% supported the proposal

PFSC has been Pennsylvania's advocate for hunters, trappers and conservationists since 1932. Protecting our Outdoor Heritage and sound, scientific Wildlife Management are top priorities. The PFSC supports and appreciates the Pennsylvania Game Commission's commitment to being inclusive and to delivering additional opportunities for Pennsylvania's hunters and trappers, and we entrust the Commission's professional staff to manage Pennsylvania's wildlife (game and non-game) for the benefit of all our natural resources. We believe that moving forward with the agency's proposed Marten Reintroduction Project furthers the mission of the Commission.

Thank you for allowing us the time to share the views of our membership.

Sincerely,

Dennis Fillmore PFSC President

PFSC's mission: To protect and conserve Pennsylvania's natural resources, outdoor heritage, and Second Amendment Rights.



One Wild Place Pittsburgh, PA 15206 412-665-3640 pittsburghzoo.org

Public Comments Processing Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Re: American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan (2024-2033)

This letter is in response to the request for public comments on the proposed American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan (2024-2033) developed by the Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC), published on September 20, 2023.

The Pittsburgh Zoo and Aquarium (PZ&A) is committed to conserving wildlife in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. In light of this strong commitment, we express our support for PGC's American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan. The proposed plan will reintroduce and maintain sustainable wild populations of the American Marten, a native species once found widely in the Commonwealth. Reviewing the plan, we are assured of the careful approach that the PGC is taking in addressing important questions and concerns of stakeholders and communities. The plan considers potential impacts on individual captured or released animals, on populations of other wildlife species, and addresses educational strategies to support outreach and engagement around the reintroduction efforts. Given the detailed roadmap outlined in the plan, we fully support the proposed American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan by PGC.

The Pittsburgh Zoo and Aquarium's mission is to connect people to wildlife, inspiring our communities to conserve nature for future generations. Our goals of wildlife connections and conserving nature for future generations align well with a reintroduced and thriving American Marten population in the Commonwealth. The PZ&A also looks forward to potential collaborations with the PGC, should the American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan be approved. Besides the main campus in Pittsburgh, PZ&A maintains a 1000-acre facility, the International Conservation Center, in Somerset County, dedicated to wildlife population research and reintroduction. Using our institutional capacity, we will be open to collaborative opportunities with PGC around the American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan.

If you have any questions about our comment, please do not hesitate to reach out.



Shafkat Khan, PhD Director of Conservation Pittsburgh Zoo and Aquarium skhan@pittsburghzoo.org,





412-204-3441

SSUERNING SSUERNING

Susquehannock Trail Club

On Foot in Potter County...God's Country

PO Box 643 • Coudersport, PA 16915 • www.stc-hike.org • info@stc-hike.org The purposes of the STC are to build and maintain traits, aid in the conservation of wellands and widfile, and promote good followship through the modium of hising and nature study.

November 3, 2023

Bryan Burhans Executive Director Pennsylvania Game Commission Bureau of Wildlife Management 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110

Dear Director Burhans:

The Susquehannock Trail Club was fascinated this year to learn of the potential for the reintroduction of the marten to Pennsylvania's forests.

One of our goals is to leave Penns Woods even better than we found it, so that our children and grandchildren and future generations can enjoy the forests as we have. We believe that returning martens to their historic habitat in this state is a step in "Making Pennsylvania Great(er) Again" by restoring to us a species that has disappeared due to habitat loss, deforestation, and over-harvesting of the small fur-bearer. Loss of any species is sad. Restoration is cause to celebrate!

A specific advantage of martens to the hiking community is that martens are predators for small rodents, such as mice. Mice are a source of ticks, and they are one species we would like to eliminate! Martens will also help disperse seeds that will facilitate forest regeneration.

Our membership of approximately 250 hikers and backpackers enthusiastically supports the plan for re-introduction of the marten. We hope you will approve the plan. Seeing a marten in the wild in our state would be a dream come true for a Pennsylvania hiker.

Sincerely,

Lois Y

Wanda Shirk, President John Zimmer, Vice-President Lori Szymanik, Recording Secretary Lois Morey, Corresponding Secretary Bill Boyd, Treasurer

WS:lbm



2101 North Front Street Building #1, Suite 200 Harrisburg, PA 17110 Tel (717) 232-6001 Fax (717) 230-1909

nature.org/pennsylvania

November 9, 2023

Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

Dear Pennsylvania Game Commission,

I am writing to support the American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania. The restoration of an extirpated species helps restore biodiversity and fulfill ecological niches. Of particular interest to the Nature Conservancy is the forest condition the American marten prefers. The structural complexity that defines marten habitat is an important component of resilient and diverse forests. In our work with landowners and forest managers across the state, we have noted strong interest in advancing the complex, late-successional forested habitats that American martens prefer. We foresee American martens as becoming a "poster child" for the resilient, connected, and complex forested habitats that will benefit numerous species.

I also want to note that The Nature Conservancy holds a conservation easement on 5,400 acres of privately-owned forest land that adjoins the proposed SGL 014 release site, and TNC would be happy to arrange a meeting with the land manager of that conserved property to discuss potential use of the property by martens.

We view the PGC as a leader in wildlife and habitat conservation, and value the long-standing relationship between PGC and TNC. We look forward to expanding our partnership to include conserving the Pennsylvania forests that will hopefully soon host American martens.

Sincerely,

Kerm Zjoder

Kevin Yoder Director of Land Management The Nature Conservancy in Pennsylvania and Delaware



Dear Pennsylvania Game Commission Board of Commissioners & Executive Staff,

The Pennsylvania Chapter of Backcountry Hunters and Anglers wishes to voice our support for the reintroduction of the American marten to Pennsylvania.

Backcountry Hunters and Anglers is committed to protecting our public lands, waters and the wildlife contained therein. Knowing that the marten was once a common native species within the Commonwealth, we recognize that it still has importance within the ecological community from which it is missing. In addition to its significant historical legacy in Pennsylvania's forests, it can also provide benefits through seed dispersal and control of the rodent population.

Pennsylvania has built a strong legacy in returning extirpated species to the wild, and reintroducing those that were on the brink. We recognize the reintroduction of the marten as an opportunity to build on those conservation victories and return another piece of wildness to the Keystone State's landscape. And by doing so, we will leave an improved natural world for the next generation.

Respectfully,

Adam Eckley, PA State Chairman

()) S

WWW.BACKCOUNTRYHUNTERS.ORG/PENNSYLVANIA_BHA PENNSYLVANIA@BACKCOUNTRYHUNTERS.ORG Pennsylvania Game Commission Bureau of Wildlife Management 2001 Elmerton Ave Harrisburg, PA 17110

Attn: Support for American Marten (Martes americana) Reintroduction in Pennsylvania

I am writing on behalf of the Pennsylvania Division of the Society of American Foresters (SAF), who have voted to endorse this letter of support for the proposed reintroduction plan for the American marten (*Martes americana*) in Pennsylvania. Although some individual division members may oppose this plan, overall, the PA Division of SAF agrees that the reintroduction of a native species once common to Pennsylvania is a restorative action in a healthy, functional forest ecosystem that supports multiple services and values – the core of modern forest management.

SAF's code of ethics emphasizes that in their various roles as practitioners, teachers, researchers, advisers, and administrators, foresters seek to sustain and protect a variety of forest uses and attributes, such as aesthetic values, air and water quality, biodiversity, recreation, timber production, and wildlife habitat. This work is guided by respect and love for the long-term well-being of the land and is based on both scientific principles and societal values. The structure of the marten reintroduction plan considers and provides for all: science-based practice, past experience, public input and social attitudes, and attention toward the multiple uses of complex, functional, and biodiverse forests.

The impetus behind the marten reintroduction plan cites restoration of ecological systems and biodiversity at its core; these values align closely with SAF values and positions for building healthy, functioning, and actively managed ecosystems. Specifically, the SAF position statement on "Biodiversity in Forest Ecosystems" originally adopted in 1991 and most recently renewed in 2023 promotes the incorporation of biodiversity considerations into forest management plans and policies.

Science-based and experience-based information – including diet analyses, prey abundance estimates, habitat modeling, and habitat needs assessment – suggest that marten reintroduction enhances rather than threatens that broader goal of ecosystem biodiversity in Pennsylvania, seeming likely to have minimal negative impacts on existing ecosystems and other species. Reintroduction may even assist in enhancing forest ecosystem processes through rodent population stabilization and seed dispersal.

Some SAF members may voice concerns over efforts that constrain active management of forests; however, in this case, the plan as proposed alleviates such concerns. The reintroduction plan specifies that currently the marten is classified as a furbearer in Pennsylvania. Similar to the beaver, otter, and fisher reintroductions, as a furbearer, the marten is afforded no additional protection besides seasons and bag limits. Additional protection against the possibility of potential litigation concerns will be addressed through the marten's proposed classification as an "experimental" species rather than a "threatened," "endangered," or "SGCN" species, intentionally chosen so as not to restrict timber management or energy extraction within the state, and prevent the marten being used within a lawsuit against state and federal agencies trying to manage lands for wildlife habitat.

Foresters' work in Pennsylvania has accommodated and has been enhanced by previous reintroductions of extirpated species, including elk, eagles, otters, and many other species. The potential reintroduction of the marten fits rightly alongside these other restorative success stories in the state. In addition, Pennsylvania's effort will join over 40 other documented reintroductions of the American marten in other areas of North America.

SAF's PA Division encourages the PA Game Commission to proceed with the American marten reintroduction plan, and we look forward to continuing our professional role in shaping and managing the forests that species will use to serve the large diversity of uses and functions we know our forests provide.

Sincerely,

AP Q

Sarah J. Wurzbacher, Pennsylvania Division Chair-Elect, writing on behalf of the Society of American Foresters Pennsylvania Division membership Western Pennsylvania Conservancy



November 15, 2023

Public Comments Processing Pennsylvania Game Commission 2001 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797

RE: American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan (2024-2033)

To Whom It May Concern:

This letter is in response to the request for public comment on the proposed American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan (2024-2033) developed by the Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC), published on September 20th, 2023.

The Western Pennsylvania Conservancy (WPC) protects and restores exceptional places to provide our region with clean waters and healthy forests, wildlife and natural areas for the benefit of present and future generations. A private, nonprofit, conservation organization founded in 1932, WPC has helped to establish 11 state parks, conserved more than a quarter million acres of natural lands, and protected and restored more than 3,000 miles of rivers and streams. The Conservancy also houses the commonwealth's Pennsylvania Natural Heritage Program, which is a partnership focused on the collection of scientific data concerning natural resources, including species, ecological communities, and habitats. The work of the Western Pennsylvania Conservancy is accomplished through the support of approximately 10,000 members.

The Western Pennsylvania Conservancy has reviewed the proposed American Marten reintroduction plan and feel it is well-composed, thorough, cautious, and adaptive; fairly weighing the most pressing concerns associated with such a reintroduction. Our greatest concerns relate to the potential impacts on Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN), including Northern Goshawk, Ruffed Grouse, Allegheny Woodrat, Northern Flying Squirrel, Appalachian Cottontail, and Rock Vole. Based on the plan's thorough review of American Marten diet analyses, we recognize the risks to these species are minimal. That said, we do recommend monitoring of SGCN species before, during, and after the reintroduction to allow for modifications to the reintroduction efforts should impacts to SGCN observed. With the cautionary approach outlined in the plan, WPC fully supports implementation of the American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan (2024-2033) and applaud the PGC for their efforts to reintroduce the American Marten back to Pennsylvania.

If you have any questions about our comment or our conservation work related to this species, I can be reached at (717)346-0076 or ceichelberger@paconserve.org.

Sincerely,

C.H. Guyt

Charlie Eichelberger Vertebrate Zoology Manager Western Pennsylvania Conservancy

Appendix 9. Organizations reached through statewide information and education campaign.

- Somerset Sportsmen's League
- Sporting Dog Owners
- Minktoberfest
- Tuscarora Camp Owners Association
- Youngwood Sportsmen's Association

- Pittsburgh Sports Show
- Jaffa Sports Show
- Northeast Furbearer Resources Technical Committee
- Wildwood Wetlands Festival



Appendix 10. Proposed annual budget for American marten translocation to Pennsylvania

ltem	Amount	Cost/Unit	One Time Cost	Annual Cost
Source Trapping Coordinator (\$25/hour X 2 locations)				
Trapper coordination and preparation	65			\$3,250
Marten transfers	165			\$8,250
Set up holding facility and tear down	40			\$2,000
Husbandry: feeding, care, maintenance	360			\$18,000
Documentation and final report	40			\$2,000
Transportation of marten to Pennsylvania	40			\$2,000
Marten Holding Expenses (X 2 locations)				
Equipment (boxes, runs, stands; \$300/unit)	25	\$300	\$15,000	
Supplies (food, litter, bedding)				\$400
Facility rental - 3 months @ \$450/month				\$2,700
Liability Ins. For housing facility (1 yr. min.)				\$2,000
Veterinarian at source: time, travel, supplies				\$2,000
Holding facilities in PA staff time (\$35/hr)	80			\$5,600
Holding facilities in PA supplies/equipment				\$6,000
Trapping Expenses				
Tomahawk Cage Traps (model 108.1)	200	\$100	\$20,000	
Holding Box (materials)	250	\$50	\$12,500	
Trapper payments (\$250/marten)	300			\$15,000
Transportation (\$0.58/mi x 2 locations)				
Equipment transport to source	4800			\$5,568
Marten transport from trapper to source holding	E000			¢E 900
(\$0.58/mi.)	5000			<i>\$3,</i> 800
Marten transport from source to Pennsylvania	0.000			¢11.12C
holding	9,600			\$11,136
Marten transport from PA holding to release location	4500			\$5,220
Permitting and processing expenses				\$500
Veterinarian at source: time, travel, supplies				\$2,000
Lodging & Per diem (\$150)	16 days			\$4,800
Salary (\$33/hr)	16 days			\$8,448
Research & Monitoring Equipment				
GPS Collars	100	\$1,200	\$120,000	
Pit Tag Readers	50	\$200	\$10,000	
Pit Tags	300	\$13	\$3,900	
GPS collar subscription				\$250
Misc. field gear (backcountry gear)			\$3,000	
Monitoring Expenses				
Graduate student (\$150k/student)	2			\$75,000
PGC Wildlife Biologist 2				\$63,179
Veterinarian (\$55/hr.)	300			\$16,500
Bio-aide				\$35,000
Genetic analysis (\$50/marten)	600	\$50		\$6,000
			One Time Total	Annual Total
Translocation and Initial Monitoring Total			\$184,400	\$308,601

Appendix 11. Project Timeline	2024	3y End o 2025	f Fiscal \ 2026	Year (ex 2027	p. FY202 2028	:4 = Julγ 2029	1, 2024 2030	- June 3 2031	0, 2025) 2032	2033
Goal 1: Translocation										
Objective 1.1 Establish source locations & logistics										
Strategy 1.1.1 Send official requests source locations	•									
Strategy 1.1.2 Develop resource requirements	•	•								
Strategy 1.1.3 Establish official translocation agreements	•	•								
Objective 1.2 Complete final translocation planning										
Strategy 1.2.1 Identify trapping resources and personnel	•	•								
Strategy 1.2.2 Develop plans for trapping locations	•	•								
Strategy 1.2.3 Develop detailed transportation plan	•	•								
Objective 1.3 Conduct translocation										
Strategy 1.3.1 Coordinate trapping efforts		•	•	•	•	•				
Strategy 1.3.2 Coordinate transportation		•	•	•	•	•				
Strategy 1.3.3 Coordinate holding and care		•	•	•	•	•				
Strategy 1.3.4 Coordinate health screening and testing		•	•	•	•	•				
Strategy 1.3.5 Complete data collection and marking		•	•	•	•	•				
Strategy 1.3.6 Coordinate release		•	•	•	•	•				
Goal 2 – Research & Monitoring										
Objective 2.1 Conduct research and monitoring										
Strategy 2.1.1 Measure survival of founders		•	•	•	•	•	•			
Strategy 2.1.2 Measure survival of future generations			•	•	•	•	•	•		
Strategy 2.1.3 Identify cause of mortality		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
Objective 2.2 Conduct research on movement										
Strategy 2.2.1 Monitor general movement		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
Strategy 2.2.2 Monitor home range establishment		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
Strategy 2.2.3 Monitor transitory behavior		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		

2	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2032	2033
Strategy 2.2.4 Monitor dispersal of young		•	•	•	•					
Objective 2.3 Conduct research on habitat selection										
Strategy 2.3.1 Analyze habitat within home ranges		•	•	•						
Strategy 2.3.2 Analyze habitat in relation to sex		•	•	•						
Strategy 2.3.3 Revise habitat suitability model					•					
Objective 2.4 Conduct research on reproduction										
Strategy 2.4.1 Document natural reproduction		•	•	•						
Strategy 2.4.2 Record sex ratio, litter size, and kit health		•	•	•						
Objective 2.5 Conduct research on diet										
Strategy 2.5.1 Conduct diet research on founders		•	•	•						
Strategy 2.5.2 Conduct diet research on 2nd generations			•	•	•					
Objective 2.6 Estimate population and occupancy										
Strategy 2.6.1 Conduct passive genetic sampling		•	•	•					•	•
Strategy 2.6.2 Conduct camera surveys		•	•	•					•	•
Strategy 2.6.3 Conduct SGW & furtaker surveys	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Strategy 2.6.4 Conduct snow track transect surveys			•							•
Objective 2.7 Monitor other species populations										
Strategy 2.7.1 Monitor other species as warranted	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Goal 3 – Information & Education										
Objective 3.1: Increase knowledge and awareness										
Strategy 3.1.1- Develop print and electronic materials										
Action 3.1.1.1 - Develop summary of Feasibility Assessment	•									
Action 3.1.1.2 – Develop Wildlife Note	•									
Action 3.1.1.3 – Develop Facebook Live or webinar	•									
Action 3.1.1.4 – Develop a story map	•									
Action 3.1.1.5 – Produce a feature length documentary	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2032	2033
Action 3.1.1.6 – Develop articles for popular print	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.1.7 – Develop talking points for PGC staff	•									
Action 3.1.1.8 – Utilize PGC email 'blasts'	•									
Action 3.1.1.9 – Produce a podcast with PGC COTO	•					•				•
Action 3.1.1.10 – Develop a Q&A	•									
Action 3.1.1.11 – Develop a 3-fold brochure	•									
Action 3.1.1.11 – Develop a summary of Plan	•									
Strategy 3.1.2 – Develop social media materials										
Action 3.1.2.1 – Develop Facebook posts	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.2.2 – Develop Instagram posts	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.2.3 – Develop Twitter posts	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.2.4 – Continually address misinformation on SM	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Strategy 3.1.3 – Develop and update agency website	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.3.1 – Develop additional links	•									
Action 3.1.3.2 – Update American marten webpage	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.3.3 – Utilize webpage as landing for information	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Strategy 3.1.4 – Provide speaking engagements statewide										
Action 3.1.4.1 – Provide an open house in all regions**	•									
Action 3.1.4.2 – Provide annual updates to partners	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.4.3 – Provide targeted meetings/presentations	•									
Strategy 3.1.5 – Develop email resource account for marten	•									
Action 3.1.5.1 – Develop monthly internal emails for staff	•									
Strategy 3.1.6 – Conduct external podcasts	•									
Strategy 3.1.7 – Provide information to cooperators	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Action 3.1.7.1 – Develop furbearer management cooperators	•									
Action 3.1.7.2 – Publish an annual cooperator newsletter	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Strategy 5.1.3 Monitor population indices SGW survey
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Strategy 5.1.2 Conduct annual population occupancy surveys
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Strategy 5.1.1 Conduct annual population abundance surveys
										Objective 5.1 Monitor abundance and occupancy
										Goal 5 – Population Management
•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Strategy 4.1.6 Provide project updates to all partners
									•	Strategy 4.1.5 Develop a Marten Reintroduction Team
									•	Strategy 4.1.4 Establish partnerships with stakeholders
								•	•	Strategy 4.1.3 Establish partnerships research partners
								•	•	Strategy 4.1.2 Establish partnerships with source locations
									•	Strategy 4.1.1 Establish public land partnerships
										Objective 4.1 Establish partnerships
										Goal 4 – Cooperative Partnerships
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.4.2 – Provide responses to public calls
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.4.1 – Provide responses to public comments
										Strategy 3.2.4 – Provide information to the public
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.3.1 – Provide updates to states/feds/provinces
										Strategy 3.2.3 - Establish collaborations with Gov/Tribes
									•	Action 3.2.2.2 – Provide I&E materials to NGOs
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.2.1 – Provide updates to NGOs
										Strategy 3.2.2 – Establish collaborations with NGOs
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.1.3 – Provide regular updates to BMSC & BI&E
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.1.2 – Provide updates to regions
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Action 3.2.1.1 – Provide updates to BOC
										Strategy 3.2.1 – Establish internal collaboration
										Objective 3.2: Increase support for reintroduction
2033	2032	2031	2030	2029	2028	2027	2026	2025	2024	

	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2032	2033
Objective 5.2 Utilize harvest as a tool for management***										
Strategy 5.2.1 Develop a season and regulations for harvest***										•
Strategy 5.2.2 Begin conservative harvest***										•
Strategy 5.2.3 Require harvest reporting and collect carcass***										٠
Objective 5.3 Manage human – wildlife conflict										
Strategy 5.3.1 – Develop a marten conflict SOP		•								
* Survey dependent on pre-release occupancy of species.										

** Open houses were completed in 2023 and will only be

completed in the future if needed.

*** Harvest will only occur should the population reach a population that can sustain harvest. Harvest will be evaluated (not

instituted) in 2033.

Appendix 12. Summary of public comment.

About

Following the public staff presentation of the draft *American Marten Reintroduction and Management Plan for Pennsylvania* at the July 2023 quarterly Board of Game Commissioners meeting, the Board voted to release the Plan for public review and comment at the September 2023 quarterly meeting in Erie, Pennsylvania. Beginning September 16th following the vote, the draft Plan became available for comment and review and remained open for 60 days through the end of the day on November 15th, 2023. After the conclusion of the meeting in September, a press release was sent out detailing a brief summary of the plan as well as how the public could access the plan for review. There was also instructions provided at where comments could be submitted through the dedicated <u>PAmarten@pa.gov</u> resource account. The plan, along with instructions and deadlines were posted to the PGC American marten webpage. All participants received an automated reply email to let them know their comment was received, appreciated, and would be reviewed and suggestions incorporated if necessary.

In addition to the press release, several social media posts were developed and posted throughout the comment period including the beginning, mid-way, and near the end in order to solicit comment from the general public. Staff also conducted five interviews for a variety of media outlets and conducted 8 presentations within this period to solicit comment from the public. A one-page plan summary was also developed and posted on the PGC American marten webpage. Finally, a webinar was provided to the public detailing the plan and its primary components, which was then posted to YouTube. In providing this summary, it should be very clearly recognized that this was not a public opinion survey, only an opportunity for the public to weigh in and provide comment and review for the management plan.

By the Numbers

In total, within the 60-day comment period, 998 comments were received from the public, with several stakeholders that also provided organized comments including the Nanticoke Conservation Club, the Pennsylvania Chapter of The Wildlife Society, The Nature Conservancy, The Pennsylvania Trappers Association, the Susquehannock Trail Club, Central PA Chapter of the Ruffed Grouse Society, The Western Pennsylvania Conservancy, and the Pennswald Jäger Klub. Of the total comments, 790 (80.12%) voiced support for the reintroduction while 196 (19.88%) voiced opposition for the reintroduction. Of the total, 6 comments voiced concerns with portions of the plan but did not provide an opinion on reintroduction, 12 comments were questions regarding either the plan or martens in general, and 3 comments were primarily about other topics other than martens. It should be noted that concerns, questions, or other topics were not mutually exclusive in some cases of voicing an opinion on marten reintroduction.

Of the 790 comments voicing support, 498 of those (63.04%) made mention of the plan itself. Of the 196 comments voicing opposition, 8 of those (4.08%) made mention of the plan itself. These are an important consideration due to this being a comment period specifically relating to the review of the management plan. When examining those that identified as a hunter, trapper, or



sportsman there were 108 total (10.82%) with 66 in support (61.12%) and 42 in opposition (38.89%).

Classification

Comments were grouped into a variety of categories to identify major themes and ensure that these were addressed within the plan or, if needed, make additions or changes to the plan. A total of 346 (34.67%) comments identified at least one category. Many individuals identified several categories within their comments. Supportive categories were identified 257 times while opposed categories were identified 362 times. For those comments that provided a measure of support, there were a total of 18 categories that included:

- Restoring a Native Species (69)
- Enhancing Overall Ecology (58)
- Legacy of Restoration (35)
- Increasing Biodiversity (33)
- Ecological Restoration (24)
- Trapping Opportunities (11)
- Non-consumptive Recreation Opportunities (9)
- Cultural Considerations (3)
- Suitable Habitat Availability (3)

- Science-based Recommendation (2)
- Wildlife Viewing Opportunity (2)
- Increasing Natural Beauty (2)
- Enhancing Disease/Pathogen Management (1)
- Rodent Control & Management (1)
- Stakeholder Support (1)
- Continuing Trapping Heritage (1)
- Benefit to Other Species (1)
- Increased Connection to Nature (1)



For those comments that provided a measure of opposition, there were a total of 32 categories that included:

- Introduction of a Predator (105)
- Grouse Predation (68)
- Focus Should be Redirected (50)
- Small Game Predation (38)
- Turkey Predation (35)
- Deficient Habitat Availability (13)
- Livestock Predation (11)
- A Barrier to Forest Restoration (6)
- Pheasant Predation (4)
- A Waste of Tax Dollars (3)
- Non-Game Bird Predation (3)
- Litigation Concerns (3)
- Species of Concern Predation (2)
- No One Will See Them (2)
- No Population Control (2)
- A Comparison to the Fisher (1)
- Deer Predation (1)
- Excessive Cost (1)

- Deficiency of Available Prey (1)
- Inaccurate Public Opinion Surveys (1)
- Competition with Predators (1)
- Small Mammal Predation (1)
- Snowshoe Hare Predation (1)
- Tip Ecological Balance (1)
- General Game Bird Predation (1)
- Pet Predation (1)
- Political Motivations (1)
- Rodent Predation (1)
- Invertebrate Predation (1)
- Woodcock Predation (1)
- Deterioration of Hunting Heritage (1)
- Loss of Revenue (1)



Themes

After categorization, several themes emerged from the comments that were received. The following is a breakdown of those themes and how they have been addressed within the plan.

Supportive Themes – Many of the supportive themes were covered within the document *American Marten Reintroduction: A Feasibility Assessment for Pennsylvania.*

Supportive Theme 1: Restoration – Within this theme, we see an overall call for restoring parts and pieces to the natural world that were once a part of it but lost over time. In this case we see strong support for restoring a once common native species, the American marten, back to Pennsylvania's forests. This was noted within the Responsive Management survey completed where 73% of Pennsylvanians supported restoring extirpated species (See *Public Opinion* section). The plan also addressed historic occupancy and abundance within Pennsylvania (see *Historic Background of Martens in Pennsylvania* section). Comments also focused on a legacy of restoration within the state, and the importance of continuing that legacy through marten reintroduction. These focused on the successful reintroduction in *Pennsylvania* (see *Reintroduction* section). Finally, the idea of ecological restoration was often found. These comments highlighted the importance of returning a species that would then allow the return of a better functioning ecological system.

Supportive Theme 2: Ecology & Biodiversity – Within this theme, comments focused primarily on the benefits that the return of the marten would bring both ecologically and through an increase in biodiversity. Comments emphasized some of the ecological services that marten provide such as seed dispersal and rodent population management while others highlighted the potential for disease management. Another portion of comments focused on increasing
biodiversity within Pennsylvania and the benefits to both the overall ecological community, but to humans as well.

Supportive Theme 3: Recreation – Within this theme, comments focused on the potential for both consumptive and non-consumptive recreation. Within the consumptive use side, having the potential for another species to harvest through trapping was common. Trappers also highlighted the importance of maintaining the trapping heritage in Pennsylvania. Within the non-consumptive use side, comments ranged from the enjoyment of seeing marten while hiking, hunting, pursuing wildlife photography, or generally being outdoors. Some comments focused on marten adding to the 'natural beauty' of the forest or increasing their connection to nature.

Opposing Themes

Opposing Theme 1: Predation – Within this theme, comments focused on the potential for impacts to both wildlife and domestic species through predation. This theme dominated the comments that were in opposition with 272 (75.14%). A majority of these revolved around negative feelings towards predators and introducing another predator into Pennsylvania. Concern for ruffed grouse, small game, and wild turkey were the top categories, primarily because of real or perceived declines within these species, or groups, within the state. Other wildlife species or groups of concern included ring-necked pheasant, white-tailed deer, non-game birds, snowshoe hare, rodents, insects, small mammals, woodcock, and game birds.

This is a theme that was identified early on within the process of evaluating reintroduction and became a major focus of the feasibility assessment and reintroduction plan. Under the *Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction* section, within *Impacts to Other Species*, the plan focuses on this concern of impact. The plan first identifies which species may be of most concern due to related resource needs as well as current population declines. This section highlights the results from 13 diet research studies from across the marten range, much of which overlaps with many of the species of concern, to better understand how these species might be impacted. Diet research concludes that marten diet is broad, but species such as grouse and other small game make up a small portion, while species like turkey aren't documented at all. Other groups or species mentioned within comments are also a small portion of the marten diet or aren't found within their diet. Overall, research shows that marten reintroduction would not negatively impact other wildlife species populations within the Commonwealth.

Concern for domestic animals including livestock and pets was found within a smaller subset of the comments but is no less important to address. This was the third most common reason for opposition from public opinion surveys as well (see *Responsive Management* under *Public Opinion* section). Domestic animals were not found within diet research (see *Appendix I* for detailed diet analysis), and personal communication with other state agencies where marten are endemic found no conflict between marten and domestic animals. That does not mean, however, that it shouldn't be considered as a potential issue, and this is an important part of the *Plan Management* section under *Conflict Management*.

Opposing Theme 2: Redirect Focus – Within this theme, comments focused on the idea that this project will divert important funding from other projects, specifically habitat related work

devoted to other game species, in particular the ruffed grouse and wild turkey. This concern is well-founded historically, as past decades of wildlife management have seen various projects competing against each other in times of want. Fortunately, the agency is in a time of plenty, and within *Funding* under the *Resources and Support* section, the plan describes how this project would not pull money away from other projects either ongoing or in the future. A transparent cost is provided under the *Budget* section as well as within *Appendix* 10.

Opposing Theme 3: Barrier to Forest Restoration – Within this theme, comments focused on several ways that marten reintroduction could pose a threat to forest restoration and management within Pennsylvania. One major aspect is a claim that there is currently not suitable habitat in Pennsylvania for martens. Knowing that this was one of the most important considerations to determine feasibility, the plan places heavy weight on determining the status of suitable habitat. Beginning in the *Ecology and Habitat* section, under *Habitat*, the plan describes both historic habitat in Pennsylvania as well as current habitat research throughout the marten range. This subsection describes habitat needs as a variety of successional stages having structural complexity, breaking the traditional thoughts of only 'old-growth coniferous' forests. In order to measure habitat suitability, staff developed a suitability model for Pennsylvania and the northeast (see *Habitat Modeling* under *Habitat in Pennsylvania*) which showed that the state has habitat in quantity, quality, and connectivity. Staff also arranged for marten habitat experts from outside of Pennsylvania to conduct an on-the-ground field assessment over 3 days, and they confirmed the results of the model during that time (see *Field Assessment* under *Habitat in Pennsylvania*).

Another part of this theme was dubbed 'negative-for-marten' trends, which included loss in conifers, loss of forest cover, increased competitors, and unfavorable climate predictions. These are all very important considerations, and why they were all addressed within the plan. Beginning with conifers and forest cover, the plan evaluates both historic and current forest composition as well as predictive models for forest. Conifers play an important role in marten habitat, but historically in Pennsylvania, deciduous forest was more important (see Habitat under *Ecology and Habitat* section) and research has shown that structural complexity is more important than composition (see *Habitat* under *Ecology and Habitat* section). While some conifers are predicted to see a loss in the future (Hemlock), others are predicted to see a gain (Pine spp.; see Predictive Climate and Forest Composition Models under Habitat in Pennsylvania section). Forest cover loss historically was what ultimately saw the extirpation of many species (see Historic Forest Composition under Habitat in Pennsylvania), but forested land acres have returned to 16.7 million and recent trends saw more forest gained than lost (see *Current Forest Composition* under *Habitat in Pennsylvania*). The concern for competitors is very important and within the Interspecific Competition sub-section (under Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction) the plan stresses the importance of prey abundance and diversity, annual snowfall, and habitat heterogeneity as three critical aspects that Pennsylvania has that would allow for partitioning between species and coexistence. Finally, the Climate Impacts sub-section (under Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction) provides an in-depth look at multiple model predictions and highlights The Nature Conservancy model which shows strong resiliency, flow, and recognized biodiversity for the suitable marten habitat within the state.

A third part of this theme focused on the potential for litigation that could halt forest management practices within the Commonwealth, and therefore impact many other species that depend on young forest, including Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN). Multiple examples within other states of this occurring were listed, and that was important to consider within the plan (see *Litigation* under *Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction section*). Litigation only occurred within other states where the marten was listed as either state and/or federally threatened or endangered and within the examples provided all cases failed to halt forest management as intended. The plan states that in Pennsylvania, the American marten is currently classified as a furbearer and like the fisher and river otter reintroductions, the marten would be solely managed through the Director and Board of Commissioners as such. Additional protection against litigation would place additional classification on the marten considered 'experimental' which does not afford it any additional regulatory protection such as threatened, endangered, or even SGCN. No precedence has occurred for past furbearer reintroductions within Pennsylvania and being a furbearer as well as this additional classification will not impact timber management or energy extraction within Pennsylvania.

Finally, some comments within this theme focused on asserting that this plan or process was not science-based. With science-based wildlife management as one of the 7 pillars of the North American model of wildlife conservation, and a commitment to science-based management practices from the Pennsylvania Game Commission, this was an extremely important aspect while working through this process and developing this plan. This plan references over 200 peer reviewed publications (see Literature Cited section) throughout the text to ensure the most recent and up to date data and research was utilized. Wildlife biologists and experts from other states were brought into the state to review habitat modeling efforts and provide additional recommendations to the project (see Field Assessment under Habitat in *Pennsylvania*). A working group made up of stakeholders throughout the state was formed to help guide the development of the feasibility assessment (see Acknowledgments section). A steering committee of stakeholders from throughout the state was formed to help guide the development of the reintroduction and management plan (see Acknowledgements section). Four public opinion surveys, three through third party consultants, were completed throughout Pennsylvania (see *Public Opinion* section). Ninety presentations were given across the state with open houses held within all regions (see Communications, Education, and Information section). Seventy-five (feasibility assessment) and 65 (reintroduction and management plan) wildlife professionals representing 27 federal agencies, state agencies, provincial agencies, NGO's, and conservancies were invited to review and suggest changes to these two documents prior to the draft plan being released to the public for review and comment by 998 members of the public (see Acknowledgments section). When this assertion is made, it's not against one person, it's against hundreds of credible wildlife professionals representing dozens of agencies and organizations and thousands of hours of research and field work.

Changes to the Plan

The following changes to the plan were made based on the public comments received:

- 1. Project justification was included within the feasibility assessment but not carried over to the management plan. This resulted in some comments that requested justification for this project. This was transferred from the assessment to the plan as an additional section.
- 2. Domestic animal predation is a major concern from comments received and deserves a sub-section under *Other Concerns* within *Addressing Concerns for Reintroduction*.
- 3. Additional examples concerning litigation were discovered that further support this concern not being credible and were added to that section.
- 4. With a fourth public opinion survey nearing completion, preliminary results from this hunter specific survey was added as a sub-section under *Public Opinion*.
- 5. An updated map and numbers was added to the *Statewide Information and Education Campaign* sub-section under *Communications, Education, and Information* section.
- 6. Several additional Letters of Support were added to appendices 6, 7, and 8.
- 7. Several organizations were added to appendix 9 concerning those reached through information and education efforts.
- 8. Several typographical or grammatical errors were located and pointed out within the comments and were addressed.

Wildlife managers are beholden to the wildlife resource and managing it for the people to whom it belongs, in this case all Pennsylvanians. It is this partnership with residents of the Commonwealth that we strive to maintain and strengthen. This comment period represents a critical step in managing our wildlife by working directly with the public and ensuring their voice is heard and recommendations are taken into consideration. These changes were a direct result of those voices, and we are deeply indebted to each and every comment that was submitted.